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WELCOME 
To a Regular Meeting of the 

Coeur d'Alene City Council 
Held in the Library Community Room at 6:00 P.M. 

AGENDA 
 

VISION STATEMENT 
 

Our vision of Coeur d’Alene is of a beautiful, safe city that promotes a high quality of life and 
sound economy through excellence in government. 

 
The purpose of the Agenda is to assist the Council and interested citizens in the conduct of the 
public meeting.  Careful review of the Agenda is encouraged.  Testimony from the public will be 
solicited for any item or issue listed under the category of Public Hearings.  Any individual who 
wishes to address the Council on any other subject should plan to speak when Item F - Public 
Comments is identified by the Mayor.  The Mayor and Council will not normally allow 
audience participation at any other time. 

June 7, 2022 
 

 
A.    CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL                                              
 
B. INVOCATION:  William Muck; Crossroads Community Church. 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
D. AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA:  Any items added less than forty-eight (48) hours 

prior to the meeting are added by Council motion at this time.  Action Item. 
 
E. PRESENTATIONS: 
 

1. Proclamation:  Kiwanis Club 100th Anniversary 
 

Accepted by:  Angela D. Erickson, Kiwanis Club  
 

2. Annual Audit Report for Year Ending September 30, 2021 
 

Presented by:  Toni Hackwith, Anderson Brothers, CPA’s 
 
 

F. PUBLIC COMMENTS: (Each speaker will be allowed a maximum of 3 minutes to 
address the City Council on matters that relate to City government business.  Please be 
advised that the City Council can only take official action this evening for those items listed 
on the agenda.) 
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***ITEMS BELOW ARE CONSIDERED TO BE ACTION ITEMS 
 

G.  ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
1. City Council 
2. Mayor – Appointments of Mike Wood to the Pedestrian and Bicycle Advisory 

Committee and Jef Lemmon to the Design Review Commission.  
 

H.  CONSENT CALENDAR:  Being considered routine by the City Council, these items will 
be enacted by one motion unless requested by a Councilmember that one or more items be 
removed for later discussion. 
1. Approval of Council Minutes for the May 17, 2022, Council Meeting. 
2. Approval of General Services/Public Works Committee Minutes for the May 23, 2022, 

Meeting. 
3. Setting of the General Service/Public Works Committee Meeting for June 13, 2022. 
4. Approval of Bills as Submitted. 
5. Setting of a Public Hearing for June 21, 2022:  

a. Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Upcoming Annual Action Plan for 
2022. 

6. Approval of Nine (9) Firework Stand Permits for the 2022 Season.   
7. Approval of the Outdoor Seating Permit for 2605 N. 4th Street, St. 105, Stylus Wine and 

Vinyl Bar; Owner Robert and Krista French. 
8. Approval of a Cemetery Lot Repurchase:  Robin Mikkelson, Section RIV, Block H, lot 

539, Forest Cemetery Annex (Riverview).  
As recommended by the City Clerk 

9. Approval of Resolution No. 22-024 -    
a. Change Order No. 1 in the Amount of $248,325.87, and Amendment to the Contract 

with La Riviere, Inc., for the Water Transmission Main Project Along the Centennial 
Trail. 

b. Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Jeff Crowe dba Bunkhouse 
Media Regarding the Scope of Services and Compensation. 

c. Lease Agreement with Paul Mason for a Mobile Food Concession at Atlas Mill Park. 
d. Acceptance of a Donation in the Amount of $1,000.00, from Private Citizen Robert 

Blansfield, to Assist with the Recently Approved Drone Purchase. 
As recommended by the General Services/Public Works Committee 

 
I.  OTHER BUSINESS:  
 

1. Resolution No. 22-025 - Approval of a Public Comment Policy and Policy Requiring a 
Second to Every Motion for Further Discussion and a Vote.   

 
Staff Report by: Renata McLeod, Municipal Services Director  
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2. Resolution No. 22-026 - Approval of Lease Agreements with King Morton, LLC, and KJ 
Watersports LLC, for the Construction and Operation of Commercial Docks Located 
Near the Harbor Center.   

 
Staff Report by: Bill Greenwood, Parks and Recreation Director 

 
3. Council Discussion Regarding Invocations. 

 
Staff Report by: Randy Adams, City Attorney 

 
 

J.  ADJOURNMENT 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Coeur d’Alene 
Coeur d’Alene, ID  83814 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the 
financial statements of ignite cda. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been 
furnished to us and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the ignite cda, is based solely on 
the report of the other auditors.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho, as of September 30, 2021, and the respective 
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
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Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary 
information, as noted in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and other auditors have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 
 
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
by us and other auditors. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and the 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 29, 2022, on 
our consideration of the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of 
Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of 
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Coeur d’Alene, 
Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
Anderson Bros. CPAs  
Post Falls, Idaho 
March 29, 2022 
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As management of the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho (the “City”), we have provided readers of the City’s financial 
statements with this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2021.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

 The assets and deferred outflows of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows at the close of the 
most recent fiscal year by $361,620,692 (net position). Of this amount, $62,770,488 (unrestricted net 
position) may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

 The City’s total net position increased $13,540,652. This increase is made up of a 3.44% increase in the 
business activities and a 4.55% increase in the governmental activities.

 At the end of the fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$20,670,914 an increase of $2,067,557. This increase is attributed to an increase in the general fund of 
$1,456,181 due to an increase in revenue from the State of Idaho for sales and gas tax receipts. 

 At the end of the fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $12,407,062, or 26.8% of 
the amended 2021 budget of general fund expenditures. The percentage for the year before was 19.5%, 
an increase of 7.3%.

 The City’s total debt decreased by $2,616,743 during fiscal year 2020-2021. The City’s compensated 
absences increased $151,638.  The other changes to long-term debt were payments of $799,329 on 
general obligation bond debt and $1,863,929 on revenue bonds and $105,123 on capital leases.  

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. 
The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains 
other supplemental information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-Wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to private sector businesses.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference 
between the two reported as total net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as 
a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the most 
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the 
change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported 
in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (i.e. uncollected taxes 
and earned, but unused, vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported 
by taxes and intergovernmental revenue (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to 
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The 
governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, public works, culture and 
recreation and interest on long-term debt. The business-type activities of the City include water, wastewater, 
sanitation, drainage, street lighting and public parking.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary government), 
but a legally separate urban renewal district, ignite cda, for which the City is financially accountable. ignite cda 
has been reported as a discreetly presented component unit and does prepare separate financial statements.

Fund Financial Statement – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local 
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary 
funds and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide 
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 
Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it 
is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better 
understand the long-term impact by the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental 
fund Balance Sheet and governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental 
activities.

The City maintains 20 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental 
Fund Balance sheet and in the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balances for the General Fund and the Capital Projects Fund which are considered to be major funds. Data 
from the other 20 governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data 
for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements or schedules 
elsewhere in this report.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison statement has 
been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 

Proprietary Funds – The City maintains one type of proprietary fund which is an enterprise fund. Enterprise 
funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide 
financial statements. The City uses enterprise funds to account for water, wastewater, drainage, solid waste, 
public parking and street lighting operations. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in 
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for each of the enterprise 
funds which are considered to be major funds of the City.

Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the 
City. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of 
those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is 
much like that used for proprietary funds.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes to basic financial statements provide additional information 
that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial 
statements.

Other Information – Combining and individual fund statements and schedules for nonmajor funds are 
presented immediately following the notes to basic financial statements.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Net positions – The City has 80.81% of its total net positions invested in capital assets (land, buildings, 
infrastructure, machinery and equipment, and vehicles) less any related debt to acquire those assets that is still 
outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are 
not available for future spending. Although, the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related 
debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, 
since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional 1.83% of the City’s net positions represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on 
how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, 17.36%, may be used to meet the 
City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Table 1, below is a comparative summary of the City of Coeur d’Alene’s Net Position statement for the years 
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:

Table 1
Statements of Net Position

September 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ASSETS
  Current and other assets 23,942,611$    23,107,565$   47,901,890$   42,767,565$    71,844,501$   65,875,130$   
  Net pension asset-FRF and Base Plan 23,190,624 12,481,826 73,481 - 23,264,105 12,481,826
  Capital assets 127,216,671 131,603,054 208,989,542 208,292,711 336,206,213 339,895,765
      Total assets 174,349,906 167,192,445 256,964,913 251,060,276 431,314,819 418,252,721
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  Deferred pension outflows-base plan 7,790,073 4,131,319 1,063,552 518,292 8,853,625 4,649,611
  Deferred pension outflows-FRF plan 84,032 599,851 - - 84,032 599,851
      Total deferred outflows of resources 7,874,105 4,731,170 1,063,552 518,292 8,937,657 5,249,462
LIABILITIES
  Other liabilities 2,971,664 4,167,141 2,078,252 964,052 5,049,916 5,131,193
  Net pension liability-base plan - 15,835,399 - 2,043,893 - 17,879,292
  Other long-term liabilities 8,070,035 8,826,953 40,976,937 42,836,762 49,046,972 51,663,715
      Total liabilities 11,041,699 28,829,493 43,055,189 45,844,707 54,096,888 74,674,200
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  Deferred pension inflows-base plan 17,178,889 707,525 2,495,130 40,418 19,674,019 747,943
  Deferred pension inflows-FRF plan 4,860,877 - - - 4,860,877 -
      Total deferred inflows of resources 22,039,766 707,525 2,495,130 40,418 24,534,896 747,943
NET POSITION
  Net investment in capital assets 123,272,680 126,787,335 168,942,136 166,383,269 292,214,816 293,170,604
  Restricted 6,635,388 5,439,632 - - 6,635,388 5,439,632
  Unrestricted 19,234,478 10,159,630 43,536,010 39,310,174 62,770,488 49,469,804
      Total net position 149,142,546$  142,386,597$ 212,478,146$ 205,693,443$  361,620,692$  348,080,040$ 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net 
positions, both for the City as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities. 

Table 2, below is a comparative summary of the City of Coeur d’Alene’s Changes in Net Position for the years 
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:

Table 2
Changes in Net Position

September 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
REVENUES
Program revenues:
  Charges for services 5,035,840$      4,210,900$     28,168,394$   25,073,934$    33,204,234$   29,284,834$   
  Operating grants and contributions 1,050,691 8,705,270 - - 1,050,691 8,705,270
  Capital grants and contributions 256,846 436,466 6,246,718 5,157,947 6,503,564 5,594,413
General revenues:
  Property taxes 18,835,947 23,999,708 - - 18,835,947 23,999,708
  Sales tax 5,760,465 4,339,452 - - 5,760,465 4,339,452
  Franchise fees 3,496,936 3,383,414 - - 3,496,936 3,383,414
  Motor fuel taxes 3,166,179 2,410,601 - - 3,166,179 2,410,601
  Alcoholic beverage taxes 1,466,428 1,283,567 - - 1,466,428 1,283,567
  Grants and contributions not 
    restricted to specific purposes 7,466,917 3,296,519 - - 7,466,917 3,296,519
  Interest and investment earnings 46,115 354,965 319,586 684,305 365,701 1,039,270
  Miscellaneous 339,379 924,722 - - 339,379 924,722
  Donated assets 15,578 - - - 15,578 -
      Total revenues 46,937,321 53,345,584 34,734,698 30,916,186 81,672,019 84,261,770
EXPENSES
  General government 8,083,711 8,646,136 - - 8,083,711 8,646,136
  Public safety 25,203,502 25,159,161 - - 25,203,502 25,159,161
  Public works 8,345,604 9,373,704 - - 8,345,604 9,373,704
  Culture and recreation 5,290,700 5,510,810 - - 5,290,700 5,510,810
  Administrative expense 7,351 50,150 - - 7,351 50,150
  Interest on long-term debt 239,677 224,243 - - 239,677 224,243
  Water services - - 6,927,695 6,445,007 6,927,695 6,445,007
  Wastewater - - 11,990,245 9,478,804 11,990,245 9,478,804
  Sanitation - - 3,805,628 3,610,245 3,805,628 3,610,245
  Other enterprise - - 2,653,798 2,525,991 2,653,798 2,525,991
  Loss (gain) on asset disposal 92,279 657,577 (39,904) 338,337 52,375 995,914
  Net pension expense (revenue) (4,714,401) 3,435,782 (16,815) 748,363 (4,731,216) 4,184,145
      Total expenses 42,548,423 53,057,563 25,320,647 23,146,747 67,869,070 76,204,310
   Increase (decrease) in net position before transfers4,388,898 288,021 9,414,051 7,769,439 13,802,949 8,057,460
  Transfers 2,629,348 2,782,502 (2,629,348) (2,782,502) - -
  Special items (262,297) (8,552,927) - - (262,297) (8,552,927)
  Change in net position 6,755,949$      (5,482,404)$    6,784,703$     4,986,937$     13,540,652$   (495,467)$      

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

Major changes in governmental activities were as follows:

Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $6,755,949 which impacted the City’s 
Governmental net position by approximately 4.74%. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Property taxes collected were $5,191,119 lower in fiscal year 2020-21 compared to fiscal year 2019-20 due to 
the City Council opting in to the Governor’s property tax relief CARES Act funding. The City Council did take 
$454,272 in new growth property taxes but took 0% of the allowed 3% increase to property tax revenue in 
fiscal year 2020-21. This was a requirement from the State in order to participate in the Governor’s property 
tax relief funding. The change in total governmental fund revenue from fiscal year 2020-21 compared to fiscal 
year 2019-20 was a decrease of $6,457,369. This decrease was due to the receipt of $1,766,300 in COVID-
19 CARES grant funding from the State of Idaho and $6,730,459 from the Governor’s property tax relief 
CARES Act funding that was received in fiscal year 2019-20 that was used to offset a reduction in property tax 
revenues in fiscal year 2020-21. 

Public safety expenses increased $471,197 from fiscal year 2019-20 to 2020-21. This increase was due to an 
increase in wages and benefits plus one additional police sergeant and an additional EMS officer in the Fire 
Department. 

Governmental Activities:

The following graphs depict various governmental activities and show the expenses and revenues for 2021 and 
2020.

Expenses and Program Revenues – Government Activities FY 2020-21
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Governmental Activities:

Revenues by Source – Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities:

Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $6,784,703, which impacted the City’s business-
type net position by 3.3%.  There was an increase in revenue from charges for services in the amount of 
$3,094,460.  This increase was mainly due to an increase in the number of accounts billed due to growth in the 
city, increases in water, wastewater, and street lighting rates and a higher usage of water for irrigation due to a 
very hot and dry summer season. Water fund revenue increased by $1,241,476, Wastewater fund revenue 
increased by $1,473,156, and Sanitation Fund revenue increased by $214,110.   
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Business-Type Activities:

Expenses and Program Revenue – Business Type Activities

Revenues by Source – Business Type Activities
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related 
legal requirements.

Governmental Funds – The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

At the end of the fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$20,670,914 an increase of $2,067,557. Of the $20,670,914 fund balance $4,941,143 is unassigned fund 
balance, which is available for spending at the City’s discretion. The remainder of fund balance is restricted, 
committed or assigned to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already been 
committed to pay public safety capital needs, future park, fire, police and street projects, and perpetual care of 
cemeteries. 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current year, the fund balance of the 
General Fund was $19,224,555. As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare total 
fund balance to total budgeted expenditures. Fund balance represents 41.59% of 2021 budgeted expenditures 
and the unassigned fund balance of $12,407,062 represents 26.84% of 2021 budgeted expenditures. Although 
the General Fund balance appears to be adequate, it must be stressed that the balance is needed to support 
operations until funds are received in January 2022 from the first current-year property tax settlement. Also, 
important to note is that the capital projects fund borrowed $7,700,000 from the wastewater capitalization fund 
in fiscal year 2017-18 to purchase the Atlas Waterfront Site property. Interest on this due to / due from is 
accruing at an annual rate of 1.5% with the understanding that future tax increment funds from ignite’s atlas 
district will begin to pay this down beginning in 2022. 

General Fund cash balance increased by $7,612,164. This increase can be attributed to the City receiving 
$4,329,665 from the American Rescue Plan Act in May of 2021 and an increase in State sales and gas tax 
revenues of $2,295,312 for fiscal year 2020-21. The City also had numerous unfilled positions in fiscal year 
2020-21 that caused personnel expenses to be less than anticipated.

The unassigned fund balance of the City’s General Fund increased $3,223,394.  

The capital projects fund had a fund balance deficit of $7,465,919 at September 30, 2021. This deficit will 
disappear as funds are received from ignite cda as development of the Atlas Riverfront Site generates tax 
increment funding.

Proprietary Funds – The City’s Proprietary Funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net position of the enterprise funds at the end of the year amounted to $43,536,010. The total 
increase in net position for the funds was $6,784,703. The majority of this increase is attributed to the water 
and wastewater funds operating revenues and capitalization fees being $3.9 million dollars higher than the 
previous year’s while operating expenses remained comparable to the previous year. A very long hot summer 
contributed to an increase in water consumption, These circumstances along with continued growth in the City 
and a scheduled increase in rates drove the revenue increase for these two departments in fiscal year 2020-
21.
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The City’s General Fund budget was amended during the fiscal year. The amendment increased the General 
Fund budget before transfers out by $2,433,881. An amendment in the amount of $952,406 was approved to 
provide funds to ignite that the City received from the Governor’s property tax relief CARES Act funding to 
replace funds that ignite would have gotten through property taxes if the City had not opted in to the Governor’s 
program. Other amendments included $280,000 to cover the expense of constant manning in the fire 
department and $146,500 from impact fees to fund remodeling at the police dept and partial funding of a 
boathouse for the fire department. Amendments were also approved for the street overlay budget in the Street 
Department in the amount of $174,312 to account for overlay projects that were not completed in fiscal year 
2019-20 and were carried over and completed in fiscal year 2020-21 and $239,692 for police and fire 
department expenditures that were paid for with federal and state grants received.  
 
The budget amendment included the use of $7,273,340 of General Fund, Fund Balance. The majority of these 
funds were receipted in fiscal year 2019-20 from the Governor’s Public Safety Initiative property tax relief that 
the City then used in fiscal year 2020-21 to cover the decrease of property taxes received as a condition of 
opting in to the Governor’s funding. The unassigned portion of the General Fund, Fund Balance increased by 
$3,223,394 from fiscal year 2019-20 to 2020-21. 

Overall expenditures before transfers were $2,764,196 under the final amended budget and $330,315 under 
the original budget. Overall revenues before transfers were $7,198,054 over the final amended budget of 
$34,716,707 and $2,168,095 over the original budget of $39,746,666.

CAPITAL ASSETS

The City’s investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) for its governmental and business-
type activities as of September 30, 2021, amounts to $336,206,213. This investment in capital assets includes 
land, buildings, infrastructure, construction in progress, machinery and equipment and vehicles. This balance 
represents a net decrease of $3,689,552 from the prior year. Additional details of capital asset activity for the 
year can be found in Note 5 of the notes to the basic financial statements. 

The decrease in the net capital assets can be attributed to depreciation in the general fixed assets for the year 
being higher than the amount of funds invested in new assets.

LONG-TERM DEBT  

The City’s long-term bonded debt increased by $17,836,742 in 2021; leaving a balance of $43,380,329 at year-
end. The City converted a loan payable with the Department of Environmental Quality for expansion, 
improvements and modifications to the wastewater treatment plant into bonds during the fiscal year that 
increased long-term bonded debt by $20,500,000. This loan was converted to revenue bonds in October of 
2020 to be repaid in biannual installments over 20 years. The City also paid down long-term debt of $2,768,381 
during fiscal year 2020-21. Additional details of long-term debt activity for the year can be found in Notes 6 and 
7 in the notes to basic financial statements.  State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a 
government entity may issue to 2% of assessed market value. The current debt limitation for the City is 
$134,226,051 which is significantly higher than the City’s net outstanding general obligation debt of $3,370,230.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The City Council chose to take a 0% increase in the amount of property taxes levied of the allowed 3% for the 
2020-21 budget. In the last 10 years the Council has only taken a portion of the allowed increase 3 times as 
follows – fiscal year 2019-20 – 3%, fiscal year 2016-17 – 2.5%, and fiscal year 2012-13 – 2%. 
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Building growth is still strong in both the residential and commercial real estate sectors. Building permit revenue 
for fiscal year 2020-21 was $1,781,999 compared to $1,325,789 the previous year. The building department 
issued 1,610 permits in fiscal year 2020-21 with a total valuation of $231 million and 1,307 in fiscal year 2019-
20 with a valuation of $131 million. Idaho experienced a 17.3% growth in population over the past decade, 
making it the 2nd fastest growing state in the nation. Kootenai County’s population grew 23.7% over that time, 
making it the 3rd fastest growing county in Idaho. Median housing prices in Kootenai County now exceed 
$500,000 and have more than doubled in the last four years. On a per capita level Idaho tends to slightly lag 
the nation in terms of income growth. Personal income growth has been at 5.6% and is projected at 5% for the 
next few years. In Coeur d’Alene the unemployment rate in December of 2021 was 3.0% with the unemployment 
count around 2,507. The Idaho unemployment rate for the same month was 3.1% and the national rate was 
3.9%.

There will be scheduled fee increases in 2022 in the water fund, wastewater fund and the street lighting fund. 
Any increases in other areas of the City greater than 5% will be carefully studied and brought forward to the 
Mayor and Council at a public hearing. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those with an interest 
in the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for 
additional information should be addressed to:

City of Coeur d’Alene
Comptroller

710 Mullan Avenue
Coeur d’Alene, Idaho 83814.
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Component
Primary Government Unit

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total ignite cda

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 27,487,708$      34,531,182$    62,018,890$    6,240,081$   
Investments 1,156,061          -                  1,156,061        -                
Receivables:

Taxes delinquent 311,380             -                  311,380           316,444        
Accounts receivable 847,052             4,160,146        5,007,198        -                
Special assessments 182,326             5,316               187,642           -                

Prepaid expenses -                     -                  -                  -                
Internal balances (9,201,970)         9,201,970        -                  -                
Due from other governments 3,160,054          3,276               3,163,330        -                
Deposits -                     -                  -                  109,100        
Restricted cash - bond reserve -                     -                  -                  
Net pension asset-FRF plan 22,652,408        -                  22,652,408      -                
Net pension asset-Base plan 538,216             73,481             611,697           -                
Capital assets:

Land 19,242,312        4,125,450        23,367,762      1,602,858     
Construction in Progress 267,662             4,963,083        5,230,745        12,402,135   
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 107,706,697      199,901,009    307,607,706    199,262        

          Total assets 174,349,906 256,964,913 431,314,819 20,869,880
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension outflows-base plan 7,790,073          1,063,552        8,853,625        -                
Deferred pension outflows-FRF plan 84,032               -                  84,032             -                
          Total deferred outflows of resources 7,874,105          1,063,552        8,937,657        -                
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 2,556,470          1,390,396        3,946,866        323,796        
Accrued payroll and related costs -                     -                  -                  4,014            
Other accrued liabilities -                     100,000           100,000           -                
Due to other governments -                     -                  -                  2,322            
Deposits 403,847             -                  403,847           331,500        
Accrued interest payable 11,347               587,856           599,203           -                
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year 1,107,853          3,027,668        4,135,521        2,992,194     
Due in more than one year 6,962,182          37,949,269      44,911,451      57,000          

  Other liabilities due in more than one year:
  Net pension liability-base plan -                      -                      -                
          Total liabilities 11,041,699        43,055,189      54,096,888      3,710,826     
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension inflows-base plan 17,178,889        2,495,130        19,674,019      -                
Deferred pension inflows-FRF plan 4,860,877          -                  4,860,877        -                
          Total deferred inflows of resources 22,039,766        2,495,130        24,534,896      -                
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 123,272,680      168,942,136    292,214,816    14,204,255   
Restricted 6,635,388          -                  6,635,388        2,954,799     
Unrestricted 19,234,478 43,536,010 62,770,488 -                
          Total net position 149,142,546$    212,478,146$  361,620,692$  17,159,054$ 

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.
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Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Functions/Programs
Primary government:

Governmental activities:
    General government 8,083,711$     5,035,840$   513,652$          -$                 
    Public safety 25,203,502 -                507,283            69,096              
    Public works 8,345,604 -                -                   187,750            
    Culture and recreation 5,290,700 -                29,756              -                   
    Administrative expense 7,351              -                -                   -                   

 Interest on long-term debt 239,677          -                -                   -                   
Net pension expense (revenue) (4,714,401)      -                -                   -                   

Total governmental activities 42,456,144 5,035,840 1,050,691 256,846

Business-type activities:
Water 6,927,695 7,740,217 -                   2,879,893
Wastewater 11,990,245 13,186,174 -                   3,366,825
Sanitation 3,805,628 4,529,535 -                   -                   
Other Enterprise 2,653,798 2,712,468 -                   -                   
Net pension expense (revenue) (16,815) -                -                   -                   

Total business-type activities 25,360,551 28,168,394 -                   6,246,718
Total primary government 67,816,695$    33,204,234$ 1,050,691$       6,503,564$       

Component unit:
Lake City Development Corporation 2,662,973$     7,567$          -$                 -$                 

Total component unit 2,662,973$     7,567$          -$                 -$                 

General revenues:
  Property taxes, levied for general purposes
  Sales tax
  Franchise fees
  Motor fuel taxes
  Alcoholic beverage taxes
  Grants and contributions not restricted to specific purposes:
  Interest and investment earnings
  Miscellaneous
  Donated assets
  Special assessments
  (Loss) gain on disposal of assets
  Transfers
Special Items:
  Gain (loss) on land swap with ignite
  Gain on sale of assets
    Total general revenues, transfer and special items
      Change in net position
Net position - beginning
Net position - ending

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.
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Net (Expense) Revenue
and Changes in Net Position

Component
Primary Government Unit

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total ignite cda

(2,534,219)$      -$                 (2,534,219)$     -$                 
(24,627,123)      -                   (24,627,123) -                   
(8,157,854)        -                   (8,157,854) -                   
(5,260,944)        -                   (5,260,944) -                   

(7,351)               -                   (7,351) -                   
(239,677)           -                   (239,677) (136,089)          

4,714,401          -                   4,714,401 -                   
(36,112,767) -                   (36,112,767) (136,089)          

-                    3,692,415        3,692,415 -                   
-                    4,562,754 4,562,754 -                   
-                    723,907           723,907 -                   
-                    58,670             58,670 -                   
-                    16,815             16,815 -                   
-                    9,054,561 9,054,561 -                   

(36,112,767.00)  9,054,561.00   (27,058,206) (136,089)          

(2,670,540)       
(2,806,629)       

18,835,947        -                   18,835,947      7,032,996        
5,760,465          -                   5,760,465        -                   
3,496,936          -                   3,496,936        -                   
3,166,179          -                   3,166,179        -                   
1,466,428          -                   1,466,428        -                   
7,466,917          -                   7,466,917        -                   

46,115               319,586           365,701           5,751               
339,379             -                   339,379           28,892             
15,578               -                   15,578             -                   

-                    -                   -                   -                   
(92,279)             39,904             (52,375)            -                   

2,629,348          (2,629,348)       -                   -                   

(262,297)           -                   (262,297)          268,885           
-                   -                   2,162,369        

42,868,716        (2,269,858)       40,598,858      9,498,893        
6,755,949          6,784,703        13,540,652      6,692,264        

142,386,597      205,693,443    348,080,040    10,466,790      
149,142,546$    212,478,146$  361,620,692$  17,159,054$    
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Capital Other Total
Projects Governmental Governmental

General Fund Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 19,144,929$ 544,108$   7,798,671$   27,487,708$ 
Investments -                -             1,156,061     1,156,061     
Receivables: -                -                

Taxes delinquent 245,191        -             66,189          311,380        
Accounts receivable 827,382        -             19,670          847,052        
Special assessments -                -             182,326        182,326        

Due from other governments 2,979,441     175,000     5,613            3,160,054     
Due from other funds 182,326        -             -                182,326        
     Total assets 23,379,269$ 719,108$   9,228,530$   33,326,907$ 

LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable 2,355,430$   133,303$   67,737$        2,556,470$   
  Due to other funds 1,150,246     8,051,724  182,326        9,384,296     
  Deposits 403,847        -             -                403,847        
     Total liabilities 3,909,523     8,185,027  250,063        12,344,613   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  Unavailable revenue- property taxes 245,191        -             66,189          311,380        
  Unavailable revenue- special assessments -                -             -                -                
     Total deferred inflows of resources 245,191        -             66,189          311,380        

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) -                
Restricted 979,842        -             5,655,546     6,635,388     
Committed 5,245,608     -             3,256,405     8,502,013     
Assigned 592,043        -             327               592,370        
Unassigned 12,407,062   (7,465,919) -                4,941,143     

     Total fund balances 19,224,555   (7,465,919) 8,912,278     20,670,914   
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
  resources and fund balances (deficits) 23,379,269$ 719,108$   9,228,530$   33,326,907$ 

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho
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Total fund balances at September 30, 2021 - Governmental Funds 20,670,914$    

Cost of capital assets at September 30, 2021 231,731,688$  
Less:  Accumulated depreciation as of September 30, 2021
  Buildings (11,789,745)    
  Equipment (19,975,484)    
  Infrastructure (67,037,090)    
  Other improvements (5,712,698)      127,216,671    

Net pension asset-FRF 22,652,408      

Net pension asset-base plan 538,216           

Deferred pension outflows-base plan 7,790,073        
Deferred pension outflows-FRF plan 84,032             

Elimination of deferred revenue 311,380           

Accrued interest (11,347)           

Deferred pension inflows-base plan (17,178,889)    
Deferredpension inflows-FRF plan (4,860,877)      

Long-term liabilities at September 30, 2021
Leases (562,414)         
General obligation debt (3,339,298)      
Bond premium net of amortization (30,932)           
Compensated absences (4,137,391)      (8,070,035)      

          Net position at September 30, 2021 149,142,546$  

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho
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September 30, 2021

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION



Capital Other Total
General Projects Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Funds Funds
REVENUES
Taxes 16,352,305$    -$                  2,523,314$      18,875,619$    
Licenses and permits 6,005,093        -                   -                   6,005,093        
Intergovernmental 18,730,361      175,000           262,165           19,167,526      
Charges for services 269,473           -                   1,806,945        2,076,418        
Fines and forfeits 451,214           -                   51                    451,265           
Assessments collected -                   -                   51                    51                    
Investment (loss) earnings 31,085             1,737               13,293             46,115             
Contributions -                   -                   -                   -                   
Miscellaneous 75,230             -                   264,149           339,379           
     Total revenues 41,914,761      176,737           4,869,968        46,961,466      
EXPENDITURES
Current:
  General government 8,141,606        -                   320,229           8,461,835        
  Public safety 26,677,204      -                   -                   26,677,204      
  Public works 5,080,960        -                   -                   5,080,960        
  Culture and recreation 2,855,331        -                   1,650,429        4,505,760        
  Administrative expense -                   7,351               -                   7,351               
Capital outlay 589,909           323,124           828,424           1,741,457        
Debt service: -                   
  Principal payments 69,710             -                   791,598           861,308           
  Interest and fiscal agent fees 46,423             118,991           84,683             250,097           
     Total expenditures 43,461,143      449,466           3,675,363        47,585,972      
(Deficiency) excess of revenues
  (under) over expenditures (1,546,382)       (272,729)          1,194,605        (624,506)          
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds on sale of capital assets 62,715             -                   -                   62,715             
Operating transfers in 3,088,848        5,351               243,248           3,337,447        
Operating transfers out (149,000)          -                   (559,099)          (708,099)          
     Total other financing sources (uses) 3,002,563        5,351               (315,851)          2,692,063        
       Net change in fund balances 1,456,181        (267,378)          878,754           2,067,557        
Fund balances (deficits) - beginning of year 17,768,374      (7,198,541)       8,033,524        18,603,357      
Fund balances (deficits) - end of year 19,224,555$    (7,465,919)$     8,912,278$      20,670,914$    

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021



Total net changes in fund balances for year ended September 30, 2021 2,067,557$    

Add:  Capital outlay which is considered expenditures 1,741,457      
Less:  Depreciation expense for the year ended September 30, 2021 (5,912,112)     
Add:  Donated assets 15,578           
Less:  Proceeds from asset disposal 30,990           
Less:  Loss on asset disposal (262,297)        

Add:  Current year PERSI contributions 3,640,490      
Less:  PERSI pension plan expense (revenue) 4,714,401      

Elimination of interfund revenues and expenditures:
Add:  Interfund transfers out 708,099         
Less:  Interfund transfers in (708,099)        

Less: Change in compensated absence accrual for the year ended September 30, 2021 (112,120)        

Add:  Debt principal payments considered as an expenditure 861,308         
Less: Proceeds from capital lease -                     
Add: Change in accrued interest 2,689             
Add: Bond Premium Amortization 7,731             

Less: Difference between revenue earned on property taxes on modified accrual basis
        versus revenue on property taxes on accrual basis (39,672)          

Less: Difference between revenue earned on special assessments on modified 
         accrual basis versus revenue on special assessments on accrual basis (51)                 

         Change in net position for year ended September 30, 2021 6,755,949$    

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho
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For the Year Ended September 30, 2021
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,



Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Water Wastewater Sanitation Other Total
Fund Fund Fund Enterprise Current Year

ASSETS
Current assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents 8,151,308$    22,428,164$    1,759,141$  2,192,569$    34,531,182$    
  Receivables:
    Accounts, net of allowance  
      for uncollectible accounts 1,560,265      1,737,088        375,954       486,839         4,160,146        
  Special assessments receivable 5,316             -                  -              -                5,316               
  Due from other governments 604                2,425               -              247                3,276               
  Due from other funds -                9,201,970        -              -                9,201,970        
  Prepaid expenses -                -                  -              -                -                  
  Net pension asset 24,070           37,968             -              11,443           73,481             
     Total current assets 9,741,563      33,407,615      2,135,095    2,691,098      47,975,371      
  Capital assets:
    Land 382,758         1,528,020        -              2,214,672      4,125,450        
    Construction in Progress 3,972,461      990,622           -              -                4,963,083        
     Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 67,442,932    115,048,351    -              17,409,726    199,901,009    
      Total capital assets, net 71,798,151    117,566,993    -              19,624,398    208,989,542    
         Total non-current assets 71,798,151    117,566,993    -              19,624,398    208,989,542    
             Total assets 81,539,714    150,974,608    2,135,095    22,315,496    256,964,913    
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension outflows 430,653         595,073           -              37,826           1,063,552        
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
  Accounts payable 679,109         319,104           314,186       77,997           1,390,396        
  Claims liability -                100,000           -              -                100,000           
  Accrued interest 4,613             583,243           -              -                587,856           
  Current portion of compensated absences 20,535           11,326             -              -                31,861             
  Current portion of leases payable 11,309           25,999             -              -                37,308             
  Current portion of bonds/loan payable -                2,958,499        -              -                2,958,499        
     Total current liabilities 715,566         3,998,171        314,186       77,997           5,105,920        
Non-current liabilities:
   Compensated absences 213,837         256,485           -              34,409           504,731           
   Leases Payable 118,752         274,187           -              -                392,939           
    Bonds/loan payable, net of unamortized discounts -                37,051,599      -              -                37,051,599      
     Total non-current liabilities 332,589         37,582,271      -              34,409           37,949,269      
       Total liabilities 1,048,155      41,580,442      314,186       112,406         43,055,189      
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension inflows 1,001,384      1,382,744        -              111,002         2,495,130        
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 71,786,842    77,530,896      -              19,624,398    168,942,136    
Unrestricted 8,133,986      31,075,599      1,820,909    2,505,516      43,536,010      
    Total net position 79,920,828$  108,606,495$  1,820,909$  22,129,914$  212,478,146$  

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
September 30, 2021



 
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds  

Water Wastewater Sanitation Other  
Fund Fund Fund Enterprise Total

OPERATING REVENUES    
Services 7,740,217$     13,186,174$     4,529,535$   2,712,468$     28,168,394$     

OPERATING EXPENSES
Administration 2,499,794       943,945            -               257,664          3,701,403         
Maintenance -                 -                    -               282,657          282,657            
Pumping 1,199,024       -                    -               -                 1,199,024         
Treatment 33,951            3,489,228         -               -                 3,523,179         
Collection -                 800,976            -               -                 800,976            
Transportation and distribution 187,250          -                    -               -                 187,250            
Supplies 95,316            -                    -               35,566            130,882            
Contracted services -                 -                    3,803,098     795,280          4,598,378         
Depreciation 2,902,469       4,299,642         -               1,281,982       8,484,093         
Bad debt 2,740              3,859                2,530            649                 9,778                
Net pension expense (revenue) (15,124)          -                    -               (1,691)            (16,815)             

  Total operating expenses 6,905,420       9,537,650         3,805,628     2,652,107       22,900,805       
Operating (loss) income 834,797          3,648,524         723,907        60,361            5,267,589         

NONOPERATING REVENUES 
(EXPENSES)

Capitalization fees 1,366,001       2,806,401         -               -                 4,172,402         
Amortization -                 128,493            -               -                 128,493            
Investment income 16,920            167,743            3,085            3,345              191,093            
Gain on sale of assets 39,904            -                    -               -                 39,904              
Interest expense (7,151)            (2,452,595)        -               -                 (2,459,746)        
  Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 1,415,674       650,042            3,085            3,345              2,072,146         
  Income before contributions and transfers 2,250,471       4,298,566         726,992        63,706            7,339,735         
Capital contributions 1,513,892       560,424            -               -                 2,074,316         
Operating transfers in -                 -                    -               129,000          129,000            
Operating transfers out (604,518)        (810,135)           (687,664)      (656,031)        (2,758,348)        
     Change in net position 3,159,845       4,048,855         39,328          (463,325)        6,784,703         
Total net position - beginning 76,760,983     104,557,640     1,781,581     22,593,239     205,693,443     
Total net position - ending 79,920,828$   108,606,495$   1,820,909$   22,129,914$   212,478,146$   

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021
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City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION



Water Wastewater Sanitation Other 
Fund Fund Fund Enterprise Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Receipts from customers 7,836,021$   12,983,108$    4,546,820$   2,643,228$   28,009,177$    
   Payments to suppliers (1,373,894)    (2,558,292)      (3,808,211)    (1,640,437)    (9,380,834)      
   Payments to employees (2,233,227)    (2,656,423)      -                286,890        (4,602,760)      
  (Decrease) in due to other funds -                -                  -                -                  
      Net cash provided by operating activities 4,228,900     7,768,393       738,609        1,289,681     14,025,583     
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Operating transfers in -                -                  -                129,000        129,000          
  Operating transfers out (604,518)       (810,135)         (687,664)       (656,031)       (2,758,349)      
      Net cash (used) by noncapital financing activities (604,518)       (810,135)         (687,664)       (527,031)       (2,629,349)      
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Bond payments -                (1,735,437)      -                -                (1,735,437)      
  Capital lease payments (10,735)         (24,678)           -                -                (35,413)           
  New debt issuance -                -                  -                -                -                  
  Interest paid (7,532)           (1,915,467)      -                -                (1,922,999)      
  Capital asset purchases (5,209,152)    (1,655,788)      -                (241,667)       (7,106,607)      
  Capitalization Fees 1,366,001     2,806,401       -                -                4,172,402       
  Contributions -                -                  -                -                -                  
  Proceeds from the sale of assets 39,904          -                  -                -                39,904            
      Net cash (used) by financing activities (3,821,514)    (2,524,969)      -                (241,667)       (6,588,150)      
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Investment income 16,920          167,743          3,085            3,345            191,093          
        Net cash provided by investing activities 16,920          167,743          3,085            3,345            191,093           
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (180,212)       4,601,032       54,030          524,328        4,999,179       
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,331,520     17,827,132     1,705,111     1,668,241     29,532,004     
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 8,151,308$   22,428,164$    1,759,141$   2,192,569$   34,531,182$    

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating (loss) income 834,797        3,648,524       723,907        60,361          5,267,589       
Adjustments to reconcile operating (loss) income

to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
  Depreciation expense 2,902,469     4,299,642       -                1,281,982     8,484,094       
  (Gain) loss on sale of capital assets -                -                  -                -                -                  
  (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 115,744        (74,094)           17,285          (69,308)         (10,374)           
  (Increase) decrease in due from special assessment receivable 3,577            -                  -                -                3,577              
  (Increase) decrease in due from other governments 553               7,017              68                 7,638              
  (Increase) decrease in due from other funds -                (135,990)         -                -                (135,990)         
  (Increase) decrease in net pension asset (24,070)         (37,968)           (11,443)         (73,481)           
  (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses -                -                  -                -                  
  (Increase) decrease in deferred outflows of resources (218,688)       (302,114)         -                (24,458)         -                  
  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 449,707        142,977          (2,583)           (12,648)         577,453          
  Increase (decrease) in due to other funds -                -                  -                -                -                  
  Increase (decrease) in compensated absences 26,090          6,019              -                7,409            39,518            
  Increase (decrease) increase in net pension liability (845,794)       (1,145,710)      -                (52,389)         (2,043,893)      
  Increase (decrease) increase in deferred inflows of resources 984,515        1,360,090       -                110,107        2,454,712       

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,228,900$   7,768,393$     738,609$      1,289,681$   14,025,583$    

Non-cash capital and related financing activities:
   $1,513,892 of water lines were donated to the water fund by developers.
   $560,464 of sewer lines were donated to the wastewater fund by developers.

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds



Business Kootenai City of 
Police Improvement County Coeur d'Alene

Retirement Sales Tax District Solid Waste Employee
Pension Custodial Custodial Custodial Benefits

 Trust Funds Fund Fund Fund Trust

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7,740$          2,010$      258,441$       -$                 2,623,284$      
Investments 608,368        -           -                 -               -                  
Due from other government unit -               -           -                 -               -                  
Due from other funds -               20             -                 -               -                  
Prepaid Expense -               -           -                 -               1,893              
Accounts receivable -               -           58,225           270,832       5,530              
          Total assets 616,108        2,030        316,666         270,832       2,630,707        

LIABILITIES
Claims payable -               -           -                 -               81,099            
Health claims incurred but not paid -               -           -                 -               599,057           
Due to other governments -               2,030        -                 -               -                  
     Total liabilities -               2,030        -                 -               680,156           

NET POSITION
Restricted for:
  Police retirement 616,108        -           -                 -               -                  
  Sales tax -               -           -                 -               -                  
  Homeless -               -           -                 -               -                  
  Business improvement district -               -           316,666         -               -                  
  Kootenai County solid waste -               -           -                 270,832       -                  
  City of Coeur d'Alene Employee Benefits Trust -               -           -                 -               1,950,551        
          Total net position 616,108$      -$             316,666$       270,832$     1,950,551$      

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
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September 30, 2021



City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Business Kootenai City of 
Police Homeless Improvement County Coeur d'Alene

Retirement Sales Tax Trust District Solid Waste Employee
Pension Custodial Custodial Custodial Custodial Benefits

Trust Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Trust
ADDITIONS
Contributions -$              -$              -$              -$                  -$                5,727,478$          
Interest 14,879          -                -                404                   -                  -                       
Net increase (decrease) in the fair
  value of investments (8,904)           -                -                -                    -                  -                       
Sales tax collected for other governments -                25,555          -                -                    -                  -                       
Contributions for homeless -                -                6,251            -                    -                  -                       
Revenues for the business improvement district -                -                -                103,767            -                  -                       
Revenues for Kootenai County solid waste -                -                -                -                    2,925,395       -                       
Interest -                -                -                -                    -                  10,105                 

Total additions 5,975             25,555          6,251            104,171            2,925,395       5,737,583            

DEDUCTIONS
Pension expense 184,132        -                -                -                    -                  -                       
Payments of sales tax collected for 

other governments -                25,555          -                -                    -                  -                       
Beneficiary payments to individuals -                -                6,251            -                    -                  -                       
Payments to other entities -                -                -                41,000              -                  -                       
Payments of solid waste revenue 

for other governments -                -                -                -                    2,919,497       -                       
Insurance claim benefits -                -                -                -                    -                  4,548,504            
Change in health claims incurred but not paid -                -                -                -                    -                  219,392               
Stop loss premiums -                -                -                -                    -                  564,690               
Administrative expenses 2,830             -                -                -                    -                  396,973               

Total deductions 186,962        25,555          6,251            41,000              2,919,497       5,729,559            

Net increase (decrease) in fiduciary net position (180,987)       -                -                63,171              5,898              8,024                   
Net position, beginning of year, restated * 797,095        -                -                253,495            264,934          1,942,527            
Net position, end of year 616,108$      -$              -$              316,666$          270,832$        1,950,551$          

*  The police retirement pension trust fund, beginning net position has been restated, as an actuarial study is only performed every other year
and the prior study was performed in the fiscal year September 30, 2019.

The accompanying "Notes to the Financial Statements"
  are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Coeur d’Alene

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2021

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity 

The City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho (the “City”) was incorporated in 1887. The City is governed by a Mayor and a 
six-member council, elected by the voters of the City. The Mayor and Council serve as the taxing authority, the 
contracting body, and the chief administrators of public services for the City.

The services provided by the Mayor and Council, their appointed boards, officials, department heads, division 
heads and each underlying department, comprise the primary government unit of the City. 

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
is the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles.  The most significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below:

The accompanying financial statements include all aspects controlled by the City Council of the City of Coeur 
d'Alene. Each discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate column in the government-wide 
financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from the government.

Under Idaho Code, in December 1997, the Coeur d'Alene City Council passed an ordinance which created the 
Coeur d'Alene Urban Renewal Agency (the “Agency”), a legally separate entity from the City. The Agency was 
established to promote urban development and improvement in blighted areas within the Agency’s boundaries. 
The Agency is governed by a maximum board of nine directors, two of which may be City Council members, 
who are appointed by the City Council. The City Council has the ability to appoint, hire, reassign, or dismiss 
those persons having responsibility for the day-to-day operations of the Agency. These powers of the City meet 
the criteria set forth in GASB No. 61 for having financial accountability for the Agency. Based on the above, the 
Agency has been discretely presented in the accompanying financial statements of the City as a component 
unit. Separate financial statements of the component unit are issued. The Agency adopted the name Lake City 
Development Corporation (LCDC) in fiscal year 2001 and later changed their name to ignite cda in 2015. ignite 
cda is the only component unit of the City. 
 
Under Idaho Code, the Agency has the authority to issue bonds. Any bonds issued by the Agency are payable 
solely from the proceeds of tax increment financing (or revenue allocation in Idaho), and are not a debt of the 
City. The City Council is not responsible for approving the Agency budget or funding any annual deficits. The 
Agency controls its disbursements independent of the City Council.

The Agency operates on the same fiscal year as the City. Complete financial statements of the Agency can be 
found at http://www.ignitecda.org/resources/financials/ or obtained directly from:

ignite cda
P.O. Box 3450

Coeur d’Alene, ID 83816-1379

http://www.ignitecda.org/resources/financials/
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government–Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of changes in 
net position) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component 
unit. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 

Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported 
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for 
which the primary government is financially accountable. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment 
is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or 
segment. 

Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from 
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial 
statements.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting, as are the propriety fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are 
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable 
and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or 
soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the government considers 
revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures 
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are 
recorded only when payment is due.

Property taxes, franchise fees, quarterly payments from the State of Idaho, and interest associated with the 
current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues 
of the current fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal 
period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued)

The government reports the following major governmental funds:

The general fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the   general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

The capital projects fund accounts for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities other than those 
financed by proprietary funds and trust funds.  

The government reports the following major proprietary funds:

The water utility fund accounts for the provision of water services to individuals and commercial users. All 
activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including (but not limited to) 
administration, operations, maintenance and financing and related debt service.

The wastewater utility fund accounts for the provision of wastewater services to individuals and commercial 
users. All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including (but not limited 
to) administration, operations, maintenance and financing and related debt service.

The sanitation utility fund accounts for the collection of solid wastes from the residents of the City. All activities 
necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including (but not limited to) administration, 
operations and maintenance.

Additionally, the government reports the following fund types:

Fiduciary fund financial statements consist of a statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes 
in fiduciary net position. Assets held by the City for other parties (either as a trustee or as an agent) and that 
cannot be used to finance the City’s own operating programs are reported in the fiduciary funds. The City is 
responsible for ensuring that the activities reported in fiduciary funds are based on their intended purposes.

Fiduciary funds are presented in the fund financial statements but are not reported in the government-wide 
financial statements. The City’s fiduciary fund financial statements are presented on pages 25 and 26:

The pension trust fund is used to account for the payment of benefits to police officers who were hired before 
April 12, 1967 and to their eligible surviving spouses. Funding for these benefits comes from interest earnings 
and invested funds. 

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, generally are 
followed in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those 
standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 

As a general rule the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes and other charges between the 
government’s water, wastewater and sanitation functions and various other functions of the government. 
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various 
functions concerned.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation (Concluded)

Amounts reported as program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or 
privileges provided, 2) operating grant contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, including special 
assessments. Internally, dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues 
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with 
a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the water, wastewater 
and sanitation funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The water and sewer funds also 
recognize as operating revenue the portion of cap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new 
customers to the system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Prepaid Items 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

Budgetary Accounting - Budgetary Basis 

All City departments are required to submit their annual budget requests to the Comptroller.

The Comptroller is the budget officer, and as such, it is the Comptroller's duty to compile and prepare a 
preliminary budget for consideration by the City Council. On or before the first Tuesday in August, the 
Comptroller submits the proposed budget to the City Council for their review and approval.

In July or August, the City Council convenes to consider the proposed budget in detail and make any alterations 
allowable by law and which they deem advisable, and agree upon a tentative amount to be allowed and 
appropriated for the ensuing fiscal year.

After the City Council agrees on tentative appropriations, the Comptroller, not later than the third Wednesday 
in August, publishes the tentative budget, establishing the amount proposed to be appropriated to each 
department, service, or activity for the ensuing fiscal year.

On the first Tuesday in September, the City Council meets to hold a public hearing, at which time any taxpayer 
may appear and be heard upon any part or parts of the tentative budget. Upon the conclusion of the hearing, 
the City Council determines the amount of the budget for each department, service, or activity of the City. The 
combined final budget may not exceed the total of the tentative budget. 

The City Council adopts the final budget by ordinance, and enters the ordinance on the official minutes of the 
Council. The adopted final budget is filed in the office of the City Clerk, and a copy, certified by the City Clerk, 
is filed with the County Auditor by the second Tuesday in September.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Budgetary Accounting - Budgetary Basis (Concluded)

The City is required by state law to adopt annual budgets for all governmental funds. All adopted budgets for 
governmental funds and fiduciary funds, with the exception of the pension trust fund, are prepared in 
accordance with the modified accrual basis of accounting and are adopted on a basis consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The adopted budgets of enterprise funds, internal service funds, and 
the pension trust fund are prepared in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting and are adopted on a 
basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Annual budgets are adopted for all funds.

The annual adopted budget covers a period from October 1 to September 30 annually. The level of budgetary 
control at which expenditures may not exceed appropriations is the total fund level per Idaho statute. The City's 
department heads may make transfers of appropriations within a department. Transfers of appropriations 
between departments require the approval of the City Administrator. Any changes in the total budget of each 
fund must be approved by a majority vote of the City Council.

The City Council may only increase the total adopted budget during the year for unanticipated revenues, such 
as state and federal grants, donations to departments, and other unscheduled revenues. The adopted budget 
may be increased only by the amount of revenues received. Budget revisions must be advertised, discussed in 
a public hearing, and adopted through a resolution by the City Council. The budget for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2021, was amended by the amount of unscheduled revenues. The financial statements reflect 
the amended budget.

All appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year. Appropriation accounts remain open until October 31st for 
the payment of claims incurred against such appropriations prior to the close of the fiscal year. After October 
31st, the appropriations, except for the incomplete improvements, become null and void. Any lawful claim 
presented after that day against any appropriation will be provided for in the ensuing budget. The City of Coeur 
d'Alene does not utilize encumbrance accounting.

Debt service for capital leases is budgeted in each of the respective lessee departments on a fiscal year basis. 
Each capital lease agreement has a non-appropriation clause which generally states that each fiscal year's 
lease payments are subject to City Council approval. The lease payment appropriations are included in the 
operating budget.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Investments 

The City pools all individual fund cash balances in bank accounts, the State Investment Pool, U.S. Government 
issued investments and certificates of deposit, except for the investments of the police retirement fund and the 
cemetery perpetual care fund which are held separately from those of other City funds.

Cash equivalents are defined as investments with maturities of 90 days or less at the time they are purchased 
by the City. If maturity is greater than 90 days, some investments are classified as cash equivalents since they 
are part of the City’s cash management activity, and readily convertible to known amounts of cash. Balances 
in checking accounts, State Pooled Investments, certificates of deposit, and U.S. Government issued 
investments are stated at fair value.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Due To and From Other Funds 

Inter-fund receivables and payables arise from inter-fund transactions and are recorded by all funds affected in 
the period in which transactions are executed.

Inventory 

The City had no significant inventories on September 30, 2021.

Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, 
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns 
in the government-wide financial statements. The City contracted with an independent appraisal firm to perform 
a complete inventory of fixed assets in September 2007. Assets were valued at estimated historical costs, when 
original costs were not available. The City has and will continue to update this inventory. Donated fixed assets 
are capitalized at fair value on the date donated. Assets valued at $5,000 or more which have a useful life of 
more than one year are capitalized.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the 
lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest incurred 
during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized 
value of the assets constructed.

Property, plant, and equipment of the primary government, as well as the component unit, are depreciated using 
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

                Assets                    Years  

Buildings 30-35
Equipment 5-25
Infrastructure 20-30
Other improvements 20-30
Reservoir 20
Wells and booster stations 20-100
Distribution system 50
Collections 40-50
Plant 40
Street lights 20

Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-
term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, 
business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bonds payable are reported net of 
applicable bond premium or discount.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Bond Discounts and Bond Premiums 

In government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, bond 
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the corresponding term of the bonds.

Amortization is computed on the straight-line method as follows:
  Years  

Bond premium and discounts:
2012D Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 15

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as 
bond issuance costs. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received 
on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as 
other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are 
reported as debt service expenditures and expensed in the period incurred.

Compensated Absences 

The Government Accounting Standards Board Codification section C60 specifies that a liability should be 
accrued for leave benefits that meet the following conditions:

1. The employer's obligation relating to employees' rights to receive compensation for future 
absences is attributed to employees' services already rendered.

2. The obligation relates to rights that vest or accumulate.

3. Payment of the compensation is probable.

4. The amount can be reasonably estimated.

For governmental and proprietary funds, the City records a liability for accumulated unused vacation time when 
earned for all employees. Accumulated unused comp time is recorded as a liability up to 240 hours. 
Accumulated unpaid sick leave in excess of 720 hours (1,440 for firefighters) is paid out to employees yearly at 
33.3%. The only other time accumulated unpaid sick leave is paid by the City is upon retirement. Unpaid sick 
leave is recorded as a liability at 70% of all employees who have worked for the City for ten years or more. 

The liability for vacation, comp time, and sick leave is recorded in the statement of net position for all 
governmental activities and business-type activities. The entire amount of compensated absences is reported 
as a fund liability. The City has implemented GASB Statement No. 16, "Accounting for Compensated Absences" 
which requires the accrual to include related payroll tax and retirement costs. At September 30, 2021, the total 
compensated absences payable by the City was $4,673,983.

Compensated absences are reported as follows in the financial statements:

Governmental activities 4,137,391$     
Business-type activities 536,592

4,673,983$     
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents 
a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The City does have items that qualify for reporting in this category.  
Note 13 outlines the outflows of resources associated with the PERSI pension base and FRF plans and the 
police retirement pension plan.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of 
resources (revenue) until that time.  The City has one type of these items, which arise under the government-
wide accrual basis of accounting that qualifies for reporting in this category and one item, which arises only 
under a modified accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported only in 
the governmental funds balance sheet.  The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from one source; 
property taxes.  This amount is deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts 
become available.  The other item (reported in the government-wide statements) is an amount related to the 
pension base and FRF plans.  See note 13 for details on the pension plan.  These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available.  See note 13 for the 
police retirement fund deferred outflows of resources disclosures.

Fund Equity

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified as non-spendable, 
restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned.

When both restricted and unrestricted fund balances are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted 
fund balance first, then unrestricted fund balance. Furthermore, committed fund balances are reduced first, 
followed by assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for 
which amounts in any of those restricted fund balance classifications can be used.

Fund Balance Flow Assumptions

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources 
(the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the amounts to report as 
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements a 
flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the 
City’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of 
unrestricted fund balance. Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same 
purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance 
is applied last.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Net Position Flow Assumptions

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets, net of 
related debt consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances 
of any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported 
as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by 
the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other 
governments.

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond 
or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted – net 
position and unrestricted – net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City’s 
policy to consider restricted – net position to have been depleted before unrestricted – net position is applied.

Contributed Capital 

Contributed capital represents donations by developers, grants restricted for capital construction, and assets 
whose construction was financed by special assessments. Tap-in fees that exceed the cost of physical 
connection to the system are recorded as cash in the water fund and the wastewater fund until the fees are 
spent. Capitalization fees may be used only for expansion of the system, storm sewer separation, improvement 
or expansion of the present plant, or the construction of additional water and wastewater facilities. When the 
cash received for capitalization fees is spent, the assets purchased are recorded as plant and equipment. 

Maximum Property Tax Rates 

State statute sets maximum property tax rates for the City of Coeur d'Alene. The City cannot certify a budget 
request to finance the ad valorem portion of its annual budget that has a dollar amount that exceeds 3% of the 
dollar amount of ad valorem taxes certified for its annual budget during the last year in which a levy was made. 
The levy rate for the City of Coeur d'Alene for the 2020-21 fiscal year were as follows: library fund - .000276, 
general obligation bonds .000130, and general fund -.00270.

Property Tax Calendar 

Property taxes are levied each November based on the assessed value of property as listed on the previous 
September tax rolls. Assessed values are an approximation of market value. The County Assessor establishes 
assessed values. Property tax payments are due in one-half installments in December and June. Property taxes 
become a lien on the property when it is levied.

Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 
position of the Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho Base Plan (Base Plan) and additions to/deductions 
from Base Plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the 
Base Plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized 
when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Pensions (continued)

For purposes of measuring the net pension asset and pension expense/(revenue), information about the 
fiduciary net position of the Firefighters’ Retirement Fund Plan (FRF Plan) and additions to/deductions from 
FRF's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the FRF. For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable 
in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Deficit Fund Balances 

Deficit fund balances as of September 30, 2021 included capital projects funds which had a net deficit fund 
balance of $7,465,919, This deficit is primarily related to the Riverstone Mill Site, which has a deficit fund 
balance of $8,051,724.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 
and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Recently issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued GASB 95 - 
Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance. The City will be implementing one new 
pronouncement for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2022:

GASB 87: The City is also preparing for the implementation of GASB 87, Leases. The objective of this 
Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and 
financial reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ 
financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously 
were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on 
the payment provisions of the contract. The City is preparing to implement this standard as of October 1, 2021 
in order to prepare Fiscal Year 2022 financial statements in compliance with this new standard.

 NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS

General:

State statutes authorize the City’s investments and deposits. The City is authorized to invest in demand deposits, 
savings accounts, U.S. Government obligations and its agencies, obligations of Idaho and its agencies, fully 
collateralized repurchase agreements, prime domestic commercial paper, prime domestic bankers acceptances, 
bonds, debentures or notes of any corporation organized, controlled and operating within the U.S. which have at their 
purchase an “A” rating or higher, government pool and money market funds consisting of any of these securities 
listed. No violations of these categories have occurred during the year.
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Custodial credit risk: 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of a financial institution, the City’s deposits and 
investments may not be returned to it. The City does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. The 
carrying amount of the City’s deposits and investments is $66,674,794 and the bank balance is $68,087,148 
As of September 30, 2021, the City’s deposits and investments were exposed to custodial credit risk as follows:

Deposits and investments without exposure to custodial credit risk :
Deposits:
Amounts insured by FDIC 3,807,535$       

3,807,535
Investments:
Amount registered in the name of the City 1,764,429

Total deposits and investments without exposure to custodial credit risk 5,571,964

Deposits and investments with exposure to custodial credit risk :
Deposits:
Amounts uninsured 1,970,093
Amount collateralized with securities held in trust, but not in the City's name 59,733,702

61,703,795
Investments:
Amount registered in the name of the City 811,389

Total deposits and investments with exposure to custodial credit risk 62,515,184
Total Deposits and Investments 68,087,148$     

Cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2021 consist of the following:
Deposits (checks in excess of deposits) 4,973,165$       
Cash on hand 1,350
Short-term certificates of deposit 1,561,389
Money market 1,014,044
Idaho State Investment Pool 57,360,417

Total 64,910,365
Cash and cash equivalents are presented in the Financial Statements as follows:
Governmental activities 27,487,708
Business-type activities 34,531,182
Police retirement pension trust fund 7,740
Sales tax agency fund 2,010
Business improvement district agency fund 258,441
City of Coeur d'Alene employee benefits trust 2,623,284
Kootenai county solid waste agency fund -

Total 64,910,365

Investments are presented in the Financial Statements as follows:
Governmental activities 1,156,061
Police retirement pension trust fund 608,368

Total 1,764,429
Total Cash and Investments 66,674,794$     
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk that a debtor will not fulfill its obligations. All the above securities registered in the City’s 
name carry a rating of AAA from Moody’s, and Standard and Poor’s. The Idaho State Investment Pool does not 
have an established credit rating but invests in entities with a minimum credit rating of “A” as stipulated by Idaho 
code.

Interest rate risk and concentration of credit risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
Concentration of credit risk as defined by GASB exists when more than 5% of an investment portfolio is 
allocated to one security. As of September 30, 2021, the City had the following investments (and associated 
maturities) in its internal investment portfolio:

Maturity Investment Cost
% of
Total

Fair Value
& Carrying

Amount
Less than

1 year
Less than

2 years 2-5 years
6-10

years
09/06/24 The Coca Cola Co 73,628$    5% 72,567$     -$          -$         72,567 -$      
12/15/21 United Health Group Inc 50,773 3% 50,262 50,262 - -
06/24/26 Bank of Novia Scotia 50,289 5% 50,037 - - 50,037 -
08/31/25 US Treasury Note 99,977 5% 97,957 - - 97,957 -
06/12/25 Toronto Dominion Bank 50,715 3% 50,111 - 50,111 -
09/30/25 FHLMCMTN 99,559 2% 98,373 - 98,373 -
01/15/22 US Treasury Inflation Protected 60,951 3% 60,740 60,740 - - -
02/28/25 US Treasury Note 51,141 5% 50,834 - 50,834 -
02/15/26 US Treasury Note 103,906 1% 103,180 - 103,180 -
12/01/21 Federal Home Loan Bks 100,162 5% 100,300 100,300 - -
12/01/21 Federal Home Loan Bks 49,688 5% 50,150 50,150 - -
12/15/21 United Health Group Inc 50,685 2% 50,262 50,262 - -
01/15/25 Air Products Chemical 31,109 3% 30,545 30,545 -
01/15/22 Branch Banking Trust 50,105 3% 50,245 50,245 - -
02/15/26 US Treasury Note 25,977 3% 25,795 - 25,795 -
01/15/22 Branch Banking Trust 70,147 3% 70,342 70,342 - -
02/15/22 US Treasury Note 96,367 4% 100,727 100,727 - -
05/13/22 Apple Inc 50,592 5% 50,749 50,749 - -
06/10/22 Federal Home Loan Bks 104,495 3% 101,580 101,580 - -
09/09/22 Federal Home Loan Bks 49,792 5% 50,898 50,898 - -
10/15/22 Oracle Corp 49,826 3% 51,133 51,133 -
03/06/23 John Deere Capital Corp 49,244 3% 51,766 - 51,766 -
04/25/23 JP Morgan Chase Co 50,110 2% 50,671 - 50,671 -
05/16/23 Chevron Corporation 51,164 2% 51,576 51,576 -
06/09/23 Federal Home Loan Bks 51,072 3% 51,578 - 51,578 -
11/24/23 Caterpillar Financial SE 101,734 3% 107,245 - 107,245 -
03/08/24 Federal Home Loan Bks 50,792 3% 52,704 - - 52,704 -
10/01/24 Simon Property Group LP 30,559 3% 32,108 32,108 -

1,754,556$  1,764,429$ 736,252$   256,723$  771,454$   -$      

Maturity
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONCLUDED)

Investment

Fair Value 
& Carrying 

Amount
Less than 1 

year
Less than 2 

years 2-5 years
6-10 

years
U.S. Treasuries 439,233$   161,467$   277,766$   -$      
U.S. Agencies 505,582 302,928 51,578 151,077 -
U.S. Corporations 719,468 271,858 205,145 242,465 -
Foreign Corporations 100,147 - 100,147 -

1,764,429$ 736,252$   256,723$  771,454$   -$      

Maturity

The City does not have a policy for interest rate risk or concentration of credit risk but does manage the portfolio to 
preserve the principal value. 

Since all the City’s cash needs cannot be anticipated, the above securities are traded in active and secondary or 
resale markets.

Fair value:

The securities registered in the City’s name were purchased at a cost of $1,754,556. The net gain of $9,873 (the 
difference between cost and fair value) has been recognized in the financial statements as a net gain on investments. 
There was a current year loss of $32,759 on these investments.

The City’s investments in 2a-7-like pools are valued based upon the value of pool shares. The City invests in one 
2a-7-like pool, the Idaho State Investment Pool. The advisory board of the Idaho State Investment Pool is composed 
of members appointed pursuant to the requirements of the Public Funds Investment Act. The State Investment Pool 
is duly chartered and administered by the State Treasurer’s office and consists of US Treasury bills and notes, 
collateralized certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements.

The balances that the City has in the State Investment Pool are carried at its fair market value of $57,360,417. The 
City’s portion of the State Investment Pool had an unrealized gain of $131,626 as of September 30, 2021, which has 
been recognized in the financial statements.

The City considers funds held in the State Investment Pool to be cash equivalents, as the average maturity of the 
underlying securities is less than 90 days, and the City can liquidate the account at any time.

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Governmental activities:
Accounts receivable consist of the following as of September 30, 2021:

Franchise and utility receivables 827,383$     
Miscellaneous receivables 19,669

847,052$     

Business-type activities:
Accounts receivable consist of the following as of September 30, 2021:

Amounts due from customers 4,168,436$     
Less allowance for uncollectible accounts (8,290)

4,160,146$     
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NOTE 4 - SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS RECEIVABLE

Special assessments receivable from benefited property owners of public improvements consist of the 
following as of September 30, 2021 and are recorded in the debt service fund and water fund: 

Governmental activities:
Deferred principal amounts not currently due, but due at a future date 182,326$        

Business-type activities:
Deferred principal amounts not currently due, but due at a future date 5,316$           

Installment payments of principal and interest due from property owners are billed annually.

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets activity for the year ended September 30, 2021 is as follows:

Plant and equipment and accumulated depreciation for governmental activities are as follows:

September 30, Transfers September 30, 
2020 Additions Deletions Adjustments 2021

Governmental activities:
Land 19,131,529$    110,783$      -$            -$          19,242,312$      
Construction in progress 101,403 166,259 - - 267,662

Total capital assets, not 19,232,932 277,042 - - 19,509,974
  being depreciated

Buildings 25,074,745 375,717 - - 25,450,462
Other Improvements 17,952,865 316,733 262,297 - 18,007,301
Equipment 29,705,024 771,965 154,993 15,578 30,337,574
Infrastructure 138,426,380 - - - 138,426,380

211,159,014 1,464,415 417,290 15,578 212,221,717

Less:  accumulated depreciation
Buildings 11,058,253 731,493 - - 11,789,746
Other Improvements 5,184,430 574,837 46,569 - 5,712,698
Equipment 18,689,001 1,425,898 154,993 15,578 19,975,484
Infrastructure 63,857,208 3,179,884 - - 67,037,092

98,788,892 5,912,112 201,562 15,578 104,515,020
Total capital assets being 
  depreciated, net 112,370,122 (4,447,697) 215,728 31,156 107,706,697
Governmental activities
  capital assets net 131,603,054$  (4,170,655)$  215,728$     31,156$     127,216,671$    
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs for the governmental activities as follows:

Governmental activities:
General government 172,657$       
Public Works 3,697,013
Culture and Recreation 1,140,063
Public Safety 902,379

5,912,112$     

September 30, Transfers/ September 30, 
2020 Additions Deletions Adjustments 2021

Business-type activities:
Land 4,125,450$      -$             -$             -$             4,125,450$      
Construction in progress 1,337,600 3,625,482 - - 4,963,082

Total capital assets, not 5,463,050 3,625,482 - - 9,088,532
  being depreciated'

Reservoir 7,020,237 - - - 7,020,237
Wells and booster stations 10,507,198 219,636 - - 10,726,834
Distribution system 97,993,816 2,768,738 - - 100,762,554
Collection 50,605,534 1,147,520 - - 51,753,054
Plant 139,930,200 321,893 - - 140,252,093
Street lights 790,986 - - - 790,986
Equipment 12,768,329 892,827 84,491 (15,578) 13,561,087
Improvements 25,511,088 204,827 - - 25,715,915

345,127,388 5,555,441 84,491 (15,578) 350,582,760

Less:  accumulated depreciation
Reservoir 5,020,202 250,985 - - 5,271,187
Wells and booster stations 5,042,550 190,466 - - 5,233,016
Distribution system 42,201,360 2,116,748 - - 44,318,108
Collection 15,074,497 873,512 - - 15,948,009
Plant 58,361,929 3,311,746 - - 61,673,675
Street lights 714,277 9,674 - - 723,951
Equipment 7,501,850 696,936 84,491 (15,578) 8,098,717
Improvements 8,381,062 1,034,025 - - 9,415,087

142,297,727 8,484,092 84,491 (15,578) 150,681,750
Total capital assets being 
  depreciated, net 202,829,661 (2,928,651) - (31,156) 199,901,010
Business-type activities
  capital assets net 208,292,711$   696,831$      -$             (31,156)$      208,989,542$   



City of Coeur d’Alene

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2021

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
40

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS (CONCLUDED)

Depreciation expense was charged to business-type activities as follows:

Business-type activities:
Water 2,902,469$   
Wastewater 4,299,642
Street Lighting 9,674
Drainage 380,430
Public Parking 891,877

8,484,092$   

NOTE 6 - CHANGES IN LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended September 30, 2021, was as follows:
 

Balance Balance Due Within
10/1/2020 Additions Deletions 9/30/2021 One Year

Governmental activities:

  General obligation bonds payable 4,130,896$    -$              791,598$       3,339,298$    809,951$       
     Deferred amounts:
        For issuance premium 38,663 - 7,731 30,932 -
          Total bonds payable       4,169,559 - 799,329 3,370,230 809,951
  Capital leases 632,123 - 69,709 562,414 72,373
  Compensated absences 4,025,271 112,120 - 4,137,391 225,529
Governmental activities
     Long-term liabilities   8,826,953$    112,120$       869,038$       8,070,035$    1,107,853$     

Business-type activities:
  Revenue bonds payable  $  20,474,575  $  20,500,000  $    1,735,435  $  39,239,140  $     2,958,498 
  Deferred amounts:
    For issuance premium 899,453 - 128,494 770,959 -
        Total bonds payable 21,374,028 20,500,000 1,863,929 40,010,099 2,958,498
  Capital Leases 465,660 - 35,414 430,246 37,308
  State loan payable 20,500,000 - 20,500,000 -
  Compensated absences 497,074 39,518 - 536,592 31,862
Business-type activities:
  Long-term liabilities 42,836,762$  20,539,518$  22,399,343$  40,976,937$  3,027,668$     
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NOTE 6 - CHANGES IN LONG-TERM DEBT (CONCLUDED)

The City's long-term obligations at year-end consist of the following:

Revenue bonds payable from the wastewater fund at September 30, 2021, are composed of the following 
issues:

In December of 2007, the City of Coeur d’Alene issued $15,000,000 of sewer revenue bonds. This obligation 
was issued for the purpose of paying a portion of the cost of construction and installation of additions and 
betterments to the sewer system of the City. The Series 2007 Bonds were sold to the State of Idaho Department 
of Environmental Quality at an aggregate price plus accrued interest. On December 20, 2012, the City of Coeur 
d’Alene entered into an agreement with the Idaho Bond Bank for an Authority loan to be used to refund the 
City’s 2007 revenue bonds.

FY End
Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total

2012D Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 2022 3.00%         765,000      240,700     1,005,700 
2023 5.00%         790,000      217,750     1,007,750 
2024 5.00%         825,000      178,250     1,003,250 
2025 5.00%         870,000      137,000     1,007,000 
2026 5.00%         910,000       93,500     1,003,500 
2027 5.00%         960,000       48,000     1,008,000 

Total 2012D Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds $5,120,000 $915,200 $6,035,200

NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE

On December 15, 2009, the City entered into a loan agreement with the State of Idaho, Department of 
Environmental Quality for an amount not to exceed $13,000,000 at a .5% interest rate to be repaid in biannual 
installments over 20 years. The State of Idaho is authorized by Title 39, Chapter 36, Idaho Code, to make loans 
from the Wastewater Treatment Facility Loan Account to assist municipalities in the construction of wastewater 
treatment facilities. The loan to the City of Coeur d’Alene is for a wastewater treatment plant upgrade. The 
upgrade is being driven by the necessity to meet changing National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
discharge limits. The upgrade will add a new sludge digester, a digester control building, a digester handling 
building, an administration/lab building and a maintenance shop building. On March 13, 2013, this loan was 
closed out and converted to Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2013, with a principal amount owing of $12,257,859. 
The City pledges income derived on the acquired or constructed assets to pay debt service.
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NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

FY End
Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total

2013 Sewer Revenue Bonds 2022 0.50%         609,620       35,221       644,841 
2023 0.50%         612,672       32,169       644,841 
2024 0.50%         615,657       29,184       644,841 
2025 0.50%         618,821       26,020       644,841 
2026 0.50%         621,919       22,922       644,841 
2027 0.50%         625,033       19,808       644,841 
2028 0.50%         628,114       16,727       644,841 
2029 0.50%         631,306       13,535       644,841 
2030 0.50%         634,467       10,374       644,841 
2031 0.50%         637,643         7,198       644,841 
2032 0.50%         640,822         4,019       644,841 
2033 0.50%         321,623            797       322,420 

Total 2013 Sewer Revenue Bonds $7,197,697 $217,974 $7,415,671

On May 30, 2013, the City entered into a loan agreement with the State of Idaho, Department of Environmental 
Quality for an amount not to exceed $8,670,367 at a 2% interest rate to be repaid in biannual installments over 
20 years.  The State of Idaho is authorized by Title 30, Chapter 36, Idaho Code, to make loans from the 
Wastewater Treatment Facility Loan Account to assist municipalities in the construction of wastewater treatment 
facilities.  The loan to the City of Coeur d’Alene is for a new membrane filtration equipment building.  The 
upgrade will add new mixing aeration and membrane tanks, new secondary effluent transfer pumping station, 
modifications to chemical systems center and installation of owner-purchased submerged membrane filtration 
system. On July 30, 2015, this loan was closed out and converted to Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2015, with 
a principal amount owing of $8,670,367. The City pledges income derived on the acquired or constructed assets 
to pay debt service.
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NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

FY End
Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total

2015 Sewer Revenue Bonds 2022 2.00%         401,770      126,452       528,222 
2023 2.00%         409,846      118,376       528,222 
2024 2.00%         417,788      110,434       528,222 
2025 2.00%         426,481      101,741       528,222 
2026 2.00%         435,054       93,168       528,222 
2027 2.00%         443,798       84,424       528,222 
2028 2.00%         452,518       75,704       528,222 
2029 2.00%         461,814       66,408       528,222 
2030 2.00%         471,096       57,125       528,221 
2031 2.00%         480,566       47,656       528,222 
2032 2.00%         490,127       38,094       528,221 
2033 2.00%         500,076       28,145       528,221 
2034 2.00%         510,128       18,094       528,222 
2035 2.00%         520,381         7,840       528,221 

Total 2015 Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds $6,421,443 $973,661 $7,395,104

On September 16, 2015, the City entered into a loan agreement with the State of Idaho, Department of 
Environmental Quality for an amount not to exceed $20,000,000 at a 2% interest rate to be repaid in biannual 
installments over 20 years.  The State of Idaho is authorized by Title 30, Chapter 36, Idaho Code, to make 
loans from the Wastewater Treatment Facility Loan Account to assist municipalities in the construction of 
wastewater treatment facilities.  The loan to the City of Coeur d’Alene is for the construction of additional primary 
treatment (including a new primary clarifier), secondary treatment improvement (including a new secondary 
clarifier), expansion of the tertiary filtration system to treat current and future plant flows, and modifications to 
existing chemical systems. On April 3, 2018 and addendum to the loan was approved to increase the loan 
amount to $20,500,000. On October 9, 2020, this loan was closed out and converted to Sewer Revenue Bond, 
Series 2020, with a principal amount owing of $20,500,000. The City pledges income derived on the acquired 
or constructed assets to pay debt service.
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NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

2020 Sewer Revenue Bonds 2022       1,182,109      834,120     2,016,229 
2023         813,806      525,710     1,339,516 
2024         834,977      504,540     1,339,516 
2025         859,459      480,057     1,339,516 
2026         883,257      456,259     1,339,516 
2027         907,714      431,803     1,339,516 
2028         931,751      407,766     1,339,516 
2029         958,647      380,870     1,339,516 
2030         985,191      354,326     1,339,516 
2031       1,012,470      327,047     1,339,516 
2032       1,039,704      299,812     1,339,516 
2033       1,069,292      270,224     1,339,516 
2034       1,098,900      240,616     1,339,516 
2035       1,129,328      210,189     1,339,516 
2036       1,160,129      179,387     1,339,516 
2037       1,192,721      146,796     1,339,516 
2038       1,225,746      113,771     1,339,516 
2039       1,259,686       79,831     1,339,516 
2040       1,294,466       45,050     1,339,516 
2041         660,649         9,109       669,758 

$20,500,000 $6,297,283 $26,797,283

Total revenue refunding bonds payable $39,239,140 $8,404,118 $47,643,258 

General Obligation Bonds payable for the governmental activities at September 30, 2021, consist of the 
following issue:

FY End
Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total

2015A Public Safety Bonds: 2022 2.05%      628,749       53,164     681,913 
2023 2.05%      641,638       40,272     681,910 
2024 2.05%      654,792       27,122     681,914 
2025 2.05%      668,215       13,698     681,913 

Total 2015A Public Safety Bonds $2,593,394 $134,256 $2,727,650
FY End

Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total
2015B Public Safety Bonds: 2022 2.05%      181,202       15,291     196,493 

2023 2.05%      186,592       11,577     198,169 
2024 2.05%      186,642         7,751     194,393 
2025 2.05%      191,468         3,925     195,393 

Total 2015B Public Safety Bonds $745,904 $38,544 $784,448
   Total General Obligation Bonds $3,339,298 $172,800 $3,512,098
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NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

On August 4, 2015 the City issued $6,000,000 in General Obligation Bonds for construction, acquisition and 
equipping of shared police / fire facilities and a mobile command / crime scene trailer and vehicle; construction 
and equipping of certain covered parking areas for police vehicles; acquisition and installation of a public safety 
camera network; and acquisition of certain fire protection vehicles and equipment; together with all necessary 
appurtenant facilities, improvements and equipment. The principal of the 2015A Bonds shall be payable 
annually on the 1st of August and shall bear interest at the rate of 2.05% payable semiannually on February 1st 
and August 1st in each year until maturity.

The City also issued $1,719,106 in General Obligation Bonds on August 4, 2015 for the purpose of refunding 
the 2006 General Obligation Bonds. The principal of the 2015B Bonds shall be payable annually on August 1st 
and shall bear interest at the rate of 2.05% payable semiannually on February 1st and August 1st in each year 
until maturity.  

General Obligation Bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the government. These 
bonds generally are issued as 10-year serial bonds.
 
Capital Leases – The City of Coeur d’Alene entered into a master-lease purchase agreement with John Deere 
Financial on November 25, 2013 for the purchase of six loaders and a snow blower.  The City chose not to 
make the final balloon payment on this lease and returned the loaders to John Deere in fiscal year 2018-19 
removing the liability to the City. 

An additional lease was entered into with John Deere on December 31, 2014 for the purchase of a grader. The 
total purchase price for the grader was $238,075. Annual payments of $20,591 were due December 31st of 
each year for five years beginning on December 31, 2014. A balloon payment of $156,700 was due on 
December 31, 2019. The City chose not to make the balloon payment and instead renegotiated and extended 
the lease for an additional 5 years on June 30, 2020. Annual payments of $33,881 are due June 30th of each 
year for five years beginning on June 30, 2020. 

The City entered into a lease with Caterpillar Global Services LLC on January 28, 2019 for the purchase of 4 
loaders. Three of the loaders will be used for governmental activities and one will be used for business-type 
activities in the water fund. An additional lease was entered into on March 19, 2019 also with Caterpillar for the 
purchase of 2 loaders that will be used for business-type activities in the wastewater fund.

The total purchase price for the business-type loaders for the water and wastewater funds was $556,815. 
Annual payments of $42,059 for the wastewater loaders are due March 5th of each year for five years beginning 
on March 5, 2019 with a balloon payment of $246,796 due on March 5, 2024. Annual payments for the water 
fund loader of $18,267 are due each year on Dec 15th for five years beginning on January 1, 2019 with a 
balloon payment of $106,838 due on January 31, 2024. The total purchase price for the governmental loaders 
was $607,397. Annual payments of $65,253 are due January 31st of each year for five years beginning on 
January 31, 2019. A balloon payment of $381,650 is due on January 31, 2024. The interest rate 5.35%.
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NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

Capital leases payable from governmental activities at September 30, 2021 consist of the following:

Minimum lease payments under capital leases for governmental activities are as follows:

FY End
Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total

General Fund - John Deere Financial 2022 1.9% 31,974 1,907 33,881
   Lease for 2014 Grader 2023 32,598 1,283 33,881

2024 33,233 648 33,881
97,805 3,838 101,643

FY End
Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total

General Fund - Caterpillar Financial 2022 5.35% 40,399 24,854 65,253
   Lease for 2018 Loaders 2023 42,560 22,693 65,253

2024 381,650 20,417 402,067
464,609 67,964 532,573

562,414$  71,802$   634,216$

Minimum lease payments under capital leases for governmental activities are as follows:

Governmental
Year ending September 30

2022 99,134$     
2023 99,134
2024 435,948

Total minimum lease payments 634,216
Less:  amount representing interest 71,802
Present value of minimum lease payments 562,414$    

Activities
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NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

Capital leases payable from business-type activities at September 30, 2021 consist of the following issues:

FY End
Issue 30-Sep Rate Principal Interest Total

Wastewater Fund - John Deere Financial 2022 5.35% 13,081 8,293 21,374
   Lease for a 2018 Wheel Loader 2023 13,781 7,593 21,374

2024 128,144 6,856 135,000
155,006 22,742 177,748

Wastewater Fund - John Deere Financial 2022 5.35% 12,918 7,767 20,685
   Lease for a 2018 Wheel Loaders 2023 13,609 7,076 20,685

2024 118,652 6,348 125,000
145,179 21,191 166,370

Water Fund - John Deere Financial 2022 5.35% 11,309 6,958 18,267
   Lease for a 2018 Wheel Loader 2023 11,914 6,353 18,267

2024 106,838 5,715 112,553
130,061 19,026 149,087
430,246$  62,959$   493,205$

Minimum lease payments under capital leases for business-type activities are as follows:

Business-type
Year ending September 30

2022 60,326$     
2023 60,326
2024 372,553

Total minimum lease payments 493,205
Less:  amount representing interest 62,959
Present value of minimum lease payments 430,246$    

Activities
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NOTE 7 - BONDS AND LEASES PAYABLE (CONCLUDED)

The following is a schedule of maturities of bonds, lease and loan obligations for all governmental activities:

General
Obligation Capital Compensated Total

Year Bonds Leases Absences (Memo Only)
Unknown -$           -$           4,137,391$   4,137,391$  

2022 809,951 72,373 - 882,324
2023 828,230 75,158 - 903,388
2024 841,434 414,883 - 1,256,317
2025 859,683 - - 859,683

3,339,298 562,414 4,137,391 8,039,103
Plus issuance
  premium- net 30,932 - - 30,932

3,370,230$ 562,414$    4,137,391$   8,070,035$  

The following is a schedule of maturities of bonds, lease and loan obligations for all business-type activities:

Wastewater Wastewater Wastewater Wastewater
2015 2012D 2013 2020

Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Capital Compensated Total
Year Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Leases Absences (Memo Only)

Unknown -$           -$           -$            -$            -$          536,592$   536,592$        
2022 401,770 765,000 609,620 1,182,109 37,308 - 2,995,807
2023 409,846 790,000 612,672 813,806 39,304 - 2,665,628
2024 417,788 825,000 615,657 834,977 353,634 - 3,047,056
2025 426,481 870,000 618,821 859,459 - - 2,774,761
2026 435,054 910,000 621,919 883,257 - - 2,850,230

Thereafter 4,330,504 960,000 4,119,008 15,926,392 - - 25,335,904
6,421,443 5,120,000 7,197,697 20,500,000 430,246 536,592 40,205,978

Plus issuance
  premium- net 770,959 - - - - 770,959

7,192,402$ 5,120,000$  7,197,697$   20,500,000$ 430,246$   536,592$   40,976,937$   

There are a number of covenants, limitations and other requirements contained in the various bond 
indentures. The City is in substantial compliance with these requirements at September 30, 2021.

NOTE 8 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

Due to/from other funds as of September, 30 2021:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General fund Non-major governmental funds 182,326$    
Wastewater fund General fund 1,150,246
Wastewater fund Capital projects fund 8,051,724

9,384,296$ 
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NOTE 8 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS (CONCLUDED)

The interfund receivable between the general fund and debt service funds – LID 151 originated when the City 
financed the special assessments for improvements on Front Street through the general fund as opposed to 
selling bonds. The LID 151 receivable will be paid back by the end of fiscal year 2025. The benefitted property 
owners are billed annually each year in April. Both LIDs are billed with an interest rate of 4%. 

The interfund receivable between wastewater and the general fund and between wastewater and the capital 
projects fund – Atlas Waterfront Site commenced when the City began the process of buying 47 acres of 
property along and near the Spokane River. The parcel is parallel to Seltice Way and has ingress at Seltice 
Way and Atlas Road. The general fund is accruing interest on this receivable on a quarterly basis at 1.5%. The 
projected payback period is approximately nine years with payments projected to come from ignite, the City’s 
urban renewal district, as tax increment on the property becomes available. The City donated approximately 
45.48 acres of this property to ignite cda, the City’s urban renewal agency during fiscal year 2019-20 with the 
desire that the Agency facilitate the development of the property. Ignite cda intends to reimburse the City for 
the City’s acquisition costs for the property to the extent that ignite’s board determines its revenues from 
development of the property exceed ignite’s costs of development. 

Interfund transfers as of September 30, 2021:

Fund Transfers In Transfers Out
General fund 3,088,848$    149,000$        
Capital projects fund 5,351 -
Non major governmental funds 243,248 559,099
Water fund - 604,518
Wastewater fund - 810,135
Sanitation fund - 687,664
Non major enterprise funds 129,000 656,031

3,466,447$    3,466,447$     

The principal purposes for the transfer of funds from the enterprise funds to the general fund are to cover the 
administration costs of operating the City’s utility division. 
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NOTE 9 - INSURANCE

In September of 2014 the City Council voted to discontinue the City’s self-insurance program and to purchase 
insurance from the Idaho Counties Reciprocal Management Program (ICRMP). ICRMP is an insurance pool 
which serves all public entities in Idaho through provision of property, general liability (employee torts), auto 
liability and physical damages, and public officials’ insurance (errors and omissions). ICRMP provides loss 
prevention training to enable its subscribers to minimize their exposure to loss through funds to pay premiums 
and settlements.

The City also participates in the Idaho State Insurance Fund. This statewide program provides coverage for 
workers’ compensation claims. The City is charged premiums by a rating method the program uses. This rating 
method is based on a per employee job risk basis. After the end of every year, the City is audited, and based 
on their claims throughout the year, can be eligible for a refund. If the usage was excessive throughout the 
year, the Insurance Fund increases the employee ratings where the use was excessive, causing the rates to 
increase for the following year. 

The premiums for this program are budgeted directly through each department.

Health Insurance

The City of Coeur d’Alene created the City of Coeur d’Alene Employee Benefits Trust, “The Plan”, effective 
January 1, 2020 in order to provide healthcare coverage for its employees and dependents through a self-
funded healthcare benefit plan. The Plan provides optional health care benefits to employees of the City who 
are full time regular employees who work at least 30 hours per week, their dependents, or COBRA eligible 
participants. Ignite, the City’s urban renewal district employees are also eligible to participate in the Plan. 
Coverage commences on the first day of the month following a sixty-day waiting period. 

There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year.

NOTE 10 - CONTINGENCIES

Intergovernmental Grants – The City has received several federal and state grants for specific purposes that 
are subject to review and audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements 
to grantor agencies for expenditures disallowed under the terms of the grant. Based upon prior experience, City 
management believes such disallowances, if any, will be immaterial.

Litigation – The City is a defendant in various legal proceedings arising in connection with its operations. Several 
legal matters exist at September 30, 2021, which are in various stages of discovery and proceedings. Certain 
of these matters involve claimed amounts, which are material to the City's basic financial statements. Claims 
subject to Idaho law are limited to a statutory maximum of $500,000. Claims subject to federal law are not 
limited. The City intends to vigorously defend itself in these pending actions. In accordance with the applicable 
accounting guidelines, management has recognized an estimated loss only for those matters which it has 
deemed an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable.
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NOTE 11 - SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

The government issued revenue bonds to finance its wastewater department. Investors in the revenue bonds 
rely solely on the revenue generated by the individual activities for repayment.

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Wastewater

Funds
Assets:
    Current assets 33,407,615$       
    Capital assets 117,566,993
        Total assets 150,974,608

Deferred outflows of resources: 595,073

Liabilities:
    Current liabilities 3,998,171
    Noncurrent liabilities 37,582,271
        Total liabilities 41,580,442
Deferred inflows of resources: 1,382,744

Net position:
    Net investment in capital assets 77,530,896
    Unrestricted 31,075,599
        Total net position 108,606,495$     

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF 
REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Wastewater
Funds

Charges for services 13,186,174$       
Depreciation expense (4,299,642)
Other operating expenses (5,238,008)
Net pension expense (revenue) -
    Operating income 3,648,524
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
    Capitalization fees 2,806,401
    Investment earnings 167,743
    Interest expense (2,452,595)
    Amortization 128,493
    Gain on sale of assets -
Capital contributions 560,424
Operating transfer out (810,135)
        Change in net position 4,048,855
Beginning net position 104,557,640
Ending net position 108,606,495$     
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NOTE 11 - SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS (CONCLUDED)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Wastewater

Funds
Net cash provided (used) by:
Operating activities 7,768,393$        
Noncapital financing activities (810,135)
Capital and related financing activities (2,524,969)
Investing activities 167,743
    Net increase (decrease) 4,601,032
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 17,827,132
Ending cash and cash equivalents 22,428,164$       

NOTE 12 - FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS

The City has adopted GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions. This Statement establishes criteria for classifying governmental fund balances into specifically 
defined classifications. Classifications are hierarchical and are based primarily on the extent to which the City 
is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the funds may be spent. Application 
of the Statement requires the City to classify and report amounts in the appropriate fund balance classifications. 
The City’s accounting and finance policies are used to interpret the nature and/or requirements of the funds 
and their corresponding assignment of non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned. 

The City reports the following classifications:

Restricted Fund Balance — Restricted fund balances are restricted when constraints placed on the use of 
resources are either: (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Restrictions are 
placed on fund balances when legally enforceable legislation establishes a specific purpose for the funds. Legal 
enforceability means that the City can be compelled by an external party (e.g., citizens, public interest groups, 
the judiciary) to use resources created by enabling legislation only for the purposes specified by the legislation.

Committed Fund Balance — Committed fund balances are amounts that can only be used for specific purposes 
as a result of constraints imposed by the City Council. Amounts in the committed fund balance classification 
may be used for other purposes with appropriate due process by the City Council. Committed fund balances 
differ from restricted balances because the constraints on their use do not come from outside parties, 
constitutional provisions, or enabling legislation. 

Assigned Fund Balance – Assigned fund balances are amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to be 
used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. Assigned fund balances do not have to be 
made by the City Council, they are more easily imposed and removed and they may be assigned for specific 
purposes even after the City’s year end.
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NOTE 12 - FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS (CONCLUDED)

General Fund
Restricted

KCJA drug task force 116,796$      
Coeur d'Alene Lake Drive - funds from Idaho Department of Transportation 840,000
Bellerive subdivision agreement 23,046

979,842$      
Committed

American Rescue Plan Act 4,329,665$   
Police training carryover per contract 15,080
Highway User Fees 588,258
Sick leave option 2 312,605

5,245,608$   
Assigned

Recreation department reserve 14,644
Carryover for overlay / chipseal program 577,399

592,043$      
Other Governmental Funds

Restricted
Special revenue funds - Impact fees 5,424,466$   
Special revenue funds - Jewett House 124,448
Debt Service funds - General Obligation Bonds 106,632

5,655,546$   
Committed

Special revenue funds - Library 281,729$      
Special revenue funds - Cemetery 199,468
Special revenue funds - Parks capital improvements 515,760
Special revenue funds - Cemetery perpetual care 1,236,419
Special revenue funds - Reforestation 200,716
Special revenue funds - Public art 822,313

3,256,405$   
Assigned

Special revenue funds - Annexation fees 327$            
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS

PERSI BASE PLAN

Plan Description

The City of Coeur d’Alene contributes to the Base Plan which is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan administered by Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI or System) that covers 
substantially all employees of the State of Idaho, its agencies and various participating political subdivisions. 
The cost to administer the plan is financed through the contributions and investment earnings of the plan.  
PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required 
supplementary information for PERSI. That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at 
www.persi.idaho.gov.  

Responsibility for administration of the Base Plan is assigned to the Board comprised of five members appointed 
by the Governor and confirmed by the Idaho Senate. State law requires that two members of the Board be 
active Base Plan members with at least ten years of service and three members who are Idaho citizens not 
members of the Base Plan except by reason of having served on the Board.

Pension Benefits

The Base Plan provides retirement, disability, death and survivor benefits of eligible members or beneficiaries.  
Benefits are based on members' years of service, age, and highest average salary. Members become fully 
vested in their retirement benefits with five years of credited service (5 months for elected or appointed officials). 
Members are eligible for retirement benefits upon attainment of the ages specified for their employment 
classification. The annual service retirement allowance for each month of credited service is 2.0% (2.3% for 
police/firefighters) of the average monthly salary for the highest consecutive 42 months. 

The benefit payments for the Base Plan are calculated using a benefit formula adopted by the Idaho Legislature. 
The Base Plan is required to provide a 1% minimum cost of living increase per year provided the Consumer 
Price Index increases 1% or more. The PERSI Board has the authority to provide higher cost of living increases 
to a maximum of the Consumer Price Index movement or 6%, whichever is less; however, any amount above 
the 1% minimum is subject to review by the Idaho Legislature.

Member and Employer Contributions

Member and employer contributions paid to the Base Plan are set by statute and are established as a percent 
of covered compensation. Contribution rates are determined by the PERSI Board within limitations, as defined 
by state law. The Board may make periodic changes to employer and employee contribution rates (expressed 
as percentages of annual covered payroll) that are adequate to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits 
when due.

The contribution rates for employees are set by statute at 60% of the employer rate for general employees and 
72% for police and firefighters. As of June 30, 2021, it was 7.16% for general employees and 9.13% for police 
and firefighters. The employer contribution as a percent of covered payroll is set by the Retirement Board and 
was 11.94% for general employees and 12.28% for police and firefighters, as of June 30, 2021. The City’s 
contributions were $3,113,231 for the year ended September 30, 2021.  

http://www.persi.idaho.gov/
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI BASE PLAN

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows 
of Resources Related to Pensions

At September 30, 2021, the City reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The 
net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net 
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportion of the net pension 
liability was based on the City’s share of contributions in the Base Plan pension plan relative to the total 
contributions of all participating PERSI Base Plan employers. At June 30, 2021, the City’s proportion was 
.7745166 percent.

For the year ended September 30, 2021, the City recognized pension (revenue) expense of $(290,743).  At 
September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience 901,250$        355,559$     
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 7,021,495 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments - 19,212,939
Changes in the City's proportion and differences between the City's 
  contributions and the City's proportionate contributions 165,033 105,521
City's contributions subsequent to the measurement date 765,847 -
Total 8,853,625$     19,674,019$

$765,847 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City’s contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year 
ending September 30, 2021.

The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through 
the System (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 2019 the beginning of the measurement 
period ended June 30, 2020 is 4.8 years and 4.6 years for the measurement period June 30, 2021.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expense (revenue) as follows:

Year ended June 30:
2022 (2,739,471)
2023 (2,468,823)
2024 (2,157,470)
2025 (4,279,988)
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI BASE PLAN (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions
Valuations are based on actuarial assumptions, the benefit formulas, and employee groups. Level percentages 
of payroll normal costs are determined using the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. Under the Entry Age Normal 
Cost Method, the actuarial present value of the projected benefits of each individual included in the actuarial 
valuation is allocated as a level percentage of each year's earnings of the individual between entry age and 
assumed exit age. The Base Plan amortizes any unfunded actuarial accrued liability based on a level 
percentage of payroll. The maximum amortization period for the Base Plan permitted under Section 59-1322, 
Idaho Code, is 25 years.

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.30%
Salary increases** 3.05%
Investment rate of return* 6.35%
Cost-of-living (COLA) adjustments 1.00%

*net of pension plan investment expense
**there is an individual additional component of assumed salary grown (on top of the 3.05%)
that varies for each individual member based on the years of service.

Mortality rates were based on the RP - 2000 combined table for healthy males or females as appropriate with 
the following offsets:

• Set back 3 years for teachers
• No offset for male fire and police
• Forward one year for female fire and police
• Set back one year for all general employees and all beneficiaries

An experience study was performed for the period July 1, 2015, through June 30, 2020 which reviewed all 
economic and demographic assumptions including mortality. The Total Pension Liability as of June 30, 2021, 
is based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2021.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using the building block 
approach and a forward-looking model in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset 
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Even though history provides a valuable perspective for setting the investment return assumption, the System 
relies primarily on an approach which builds upon the latest capital market assumptions. Specifically, the 
System uses consultants, investment managers and trustees to develop capital market assumptions in 
analyzing the System's asset allocation. The assumptions and the System's formal policy for asset allocation 
are shown below. The formal asset allocation policy is somewhat more conservative than the current allocation 
of System's assets.

The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to 
expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The capital market 
assumptions are as of 2021. 
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI BASE PLAN (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions (continued)

Capital Market Assumptions from Callen 2021
Long-Term
Expected Long-Term
Nominal Expected
Rate of Real Rate of

Target Return Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic) (Arithmetic)
Core Fixed Income                                      30.00% 1.80% -0.20%
Broad US Equities                                              55.00% 8.00% 6.00%
Developed Foreign Equities                              15.00% 8.25% 6.25%

Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.00% 2.00%
Assumed Inflation - Standard Deviation 1.50% 1.50%

Portfolio Arithmetic Mean Return 6.18% 4.18%
Portfolio Standard Deviation 12.29% 12.29%

Portfolio Long-Term (Geometric) Expected Rate of Return 5.55% 3.46%
Assumed Investment Expenses 0.40% 0.40%
Portfolio Long-Term (Geometric) Expected Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses5.15% 3.06%

Investment Policy Assumptions from PERSI November 2019
Portfolio Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses 4.14%
Portfolio Standard Deviation 14.16%

Economic/Demographic Assumptions from Milliman 2021
Valuation Assumptions Chosen by PERSI Board
Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses 4.05%
Assumed Inflation* 2.30%
Long-Term Expected Geometric Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses 6.35%

*2.30% was approved by the Board dated August 2021
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI BASE PLAN (continued)

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.35%. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
contribution rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plans' net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the 
total pension liability. The long-term expected rate of return was determined net of pension plan investment 
expense but without reduction for pension plan administrative expense.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount 
rate of 6.35 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.35 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(7.35 percent) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

5.35% 6.35% 7.35%
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)

Total Plan 21,263,899$   (611,698)$      (18,543,562)$  

Pension plan fiduciary net position

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued PERSI 
financial report.

PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required 
supplementary information for PERSI. That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at 
www.persi.idaho.gov.

Payables to the pension plan

At September 30, 2021, the City reported payables to the defined benefit pension plan of $102,871 for which 
legally required employer contributions and $66,476 for legally required employee contributions which had been 
withheld from employee wages but not yet remitted to PERSI.

http://www.persi.idaho.gov./
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI FRF PENSION PLAN 

Plan Description

The City of Coeur d’Alene contributes to the FRF which is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan administered by Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI or System) that covers a closed group 
of firefighters who were hired before October 1, 1980, and who received benefits in addition to those provided 
under the PERSI Base Plan. The cost to administer the plan is financed through the contributions and investment 
earnings of the FRF.  Additional FRF funding is obtained from receipts from a state fire insurance premium tax. 
PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required 
supplementary information for PERSI. That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at www.persi.idaho.gov.

Responsibility for administration of the FRF is assigned to the Board comprised of five members appointed by 
the Governor and confirmed by the Idaho Senate. State law requires that two members of the Board be active 
System members with at least ten years of service and three members who are Idaho citizens not members of 
the System except by reason of having served on the Board.

Pension Benefits

The FRF provides retirement, disability, death and survivor benefits of eligible members or beneficiaries. 
Benefits are based on members’ years of service as well as the final average salary.  A firefighter must have 5 
years of service to be eligible for a lifetime retirement allowance at age 60.  Members are eligible for retirement 
benefits upon attainment of the ages specified for their employment classification. The annual service retirement 
allowance is based on Idaho Code Title 72 Chapter 14. 

The benefit payments for the FRF are calculated using a benefit formula adopted by the Idaho Legislature. The 
FRF cost of living increase is based on the increase in the statewide average firefighter’s wage.

Member and Employer Contributions

Member and employer contributions paid to the FRF are set by statute and are established as a percent of 
covered compensation. Contribution rates are determined by the PERSI Board within limitations, as defined by 
state law. The Board may make periodic changes to employer and employee contribution rates (expressed as 
percentages of annual covered payroll) that are adequate to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when 
due.

As of June 30, 2021, the total FRF employer contribution rate was 12.28%.  The FRF member rate for the year 
for class B is 11.45% which is 3.00% above the class 2 rate of 8.81%. The City’s contributions were $354,246 
for the year ended September 30, 2021.  

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions

At September 30, 2021, the City reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension asset. The net 
pension asset was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net 
pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportion of the net pension 
asset was based on the City share of contributions in the FRF pension plan relative to the total contributions of 
all participating FRF employers. At June 30, 2021, the City’s proportion was 8.3827379 percent.

http://www.persi.idaho.gov./
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI FRF PENSION PLAN (continued) 

For the year ended September 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense (revenue) of ($4,461,367).  At 
September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience -$               -$            
Changes in assumptions or other inputs - -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments - 4,860,877
Changes in the City's proportion and differences between the City's - -
  contributions and the City's proportionate contributions - -
City's contributions subsequent to the measurement date 84,032 -
Total 84,032$         4,860,877$  

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions (continued)

$84,032 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City’s contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension asset in the year 
ending September 30, 2021.

The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through 
the System (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 2019 the beginning of the measurement 
period ended June 30, 2020 is 1 year and 1 year for the measurement period June 30, 2021.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expense (revenue) as follows:

Year ended June 30:
2022 (1,239,534)
2023 (1,157,730)
2024 (1,081,775)
2025 (1,381,838)

Actuarial Assumptions

Valuations are based on actuarial assumptions, the benefit formulas, and employee groups. Level percentages 
of payroll normal costs are determined using the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. Under the Entry Age Normal 
Cost Method, the actuarial present value of the projected benefits of each individual included in the actuarial 
valuation is allocated as a level percentage of each year’s earnings of the individual between entry age and 
assumed exit age. Unfunded actuarial accrued liability for FRF is the difference between the actuarial present 
value of the FRF benefits not provided by the Base Plan and the FRF assets. Currently FRF assets exceed this 
actuarial present value; therefore, there is not an unfunded liability to amortize at this time. The maximum 
amortization period for the FRF permitted under Section 59-1394, Idaho Code, is 50 years.
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI FRF PENSION PLAN (continued)

The total pension asset in the July 1, 2021, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.30%
Salary increases including inflation** 3.05%*
Investment rate of return-net of investment fees 6.35%
Cost-of-living (COLA) adjustments **

*3.05 or 1.00 depending on whether the member was hired on or before July 1, 2012
**there is an individual additional component of assumed salary grown (on top of the 3.05%)
that varies for each individual member based on the years of service.

Actuarial Assumptions (continued)

Mortality rates were based on the RP - 2000 combined table for healthy males or females as appropriate with 
the following offsets:

 No offset for male fire and police
 Forward one year for female fire and police
 Set back one year for all general employees and all beneficiaries

An experience study was performed for the period July 1, 2015, through June 30, 2020 which reviewed all 
economic and demographic assumptions other than mortality. Mortality and all economic assumptions were 
studied in 2017 for the period from July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2017. The Total Pension Asset as of June 
30, 2021, is based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2021.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using the building block 
approach and a forward-looking model in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset 
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Even though history provides a valuable perspective for setting the investment return assumption, the System 
relies primarily on an approach which builds upon the latest capital market assumptions. Specifically, the 
System uses consultants, investment managers and trustees to develop capital market assumptions in 
analyzing the System’s asset allocation. The assumptions and the System’s formal policy for asset allocation 
are shown below. The formal asset allocation policy is somewhat more conservative than the current allocation 
of System’s assets.

The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to 
expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation.  The capital market 
assumptions are as of 2021.
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI FRF PENSION PLAN (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions (continued)

Capital Market Assumptions from Callen 2021
Long-Term
Expected Long-Term
Nominal Expected
Rate of Real Rate of

Target Return Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic) (Arithmetic)
Core Fixed Income                                      30.00% 1.80% -0.20%
Broad US Equities                                              55.00% 8.00% 6.00%
Developed Foreign Equities                              15.00% 8.25% 6.25%

Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.00% 2.00%
Assumed Inflation - Standard Deviation 1.50% 1.50%

Portfolio Arithmetic Mean Return 6.18% 4.18%
Portfolio Standard Deviation 12.29% 12.29%

Portfolio Long-Term (Geometric) Expected Rate of Return 5.55% 3.46%
Assumed Investment Expenses 0.40% 0.40%
Portfolio Long-Term (Geometric) Expected Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses5.15% 3.06%

Investment Policy Assumptions from PERSI November 2019
Portfolio Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses 4.14%
Portfolio Standard Deviation 14.16%

Economic/Demographic Assumptions from Milliman 2021
Valuation Assumptions Chosen by PERSI Board
Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses 4.05%
Assumed Inflation* 2.30%
Long-Term Expected Geometric Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses 6.35%

*2.30% was approved by the Board dated August 2021
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

PERSI FRF PENSION PLAN (continued)

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.35%. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
contribution rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plans’ net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the 
total pension liability. The long-term expected rate of return was determined net of pension plan investment 
expense but without reduction for pension plan administrative expense.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the Employer's proportionate share of the net pension asset calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.35 percent, as well as what the Employer's proportionate share of the net pension asset 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.35 percent) or 1-
percentage-point higher (7.35 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
5.35% 6.35% 7.35%

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
Total Plan (20,803,777)$  (22,652,408)$  (24,252,223)$  

Pension plan fiduciary net position

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued PERSI 
financial report.

PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required 
supplementary information for PERSI. That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at 
www.persi.idaho.gov.

At September 30, 2021, the City reported payables to the defined benefit pension plan of $34,244 for which 
legally required employer contributions and $13,943 for legally required employee contributions which had been 
withheld from employee wages but not yet remitted to PERSI.

http://www.persi.idaho.gov./


City of Coeur d’Alene

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2021

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
64

NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

POLICE RETIREMENT FUND

Single-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Plan Description: The City of Coeur d'Alene maintains a single-employer defined benefit pension plan, the police 
retirement fund. Title 50, Chapter 15, of the Idaho Code allowed the City of Coeur d'Alene to create a 
policemen's retirement fund. Title 2, Chapter 2.80, of the City of Coeur d'Alene Code, created the police 
retirement fund. A Board of police retirement Commissioners consisting of the Council and three members of 
the Police Department is the administrator of the fund and has the authority to establish and amend benefits 
and contributions. The police retirement fund is responsible for the payment of benefits to police officers who 
were hired before April 12, 1967 and their eligible surviving spouses. Funding for these benefits come from two 
sources:

(1) Investment earnings on the fund

(2) Property taxes

The City's police retirement fund is a closed group. No new members are permitted and no active members 
remained in the fund as of May 31, 1991. All members have retired and all benefit obligations except for future 
cost-of-living increases have been determined. There are three members and four spouses currently receiving 
benefits. There are no terminated members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits. Separate financial 
statements are not issued for the police retirement fund. 

Police officers may retire after 25 years of service or at attainment of age 60. The amount of annual pension is 
50% of the average annual salary in the five highest salary years out of the ten years of service preceding 
retirement.

There is no age and service requirement for disability retirement. Disabled members are paid an annual pension 
equal to 50% of the annual salary attached to the rank held by the disabled member, payable if the disablement 
was wholly attributable to service. If the disablement was only partially attributable to service, the benefit is 
proportionately reduced.

If a retired member has been married for at least five years prior to death, a pension of 75% of the retirement 
benefit to which the member was entitled at the time of their death is payable to their widow(er) until their death 
or remarriage. This benefit is increased to the full retirement benefit if there are minor children.

The police retirement fund is accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurements focus and uses the 
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time 
liabilities are incurred.

The fair value of investments is determined by the trust department of the bank that administers the fund’s 
investment portfolio. Publicly traded assets are valued in accordance with market quotations. Assets which are 
not publicly traded may reflect values from other external sources or special valuations prepared by the trust 
department.
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

POLICE RETIREMENT FUND (continued)

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue) and deferred outflows of resources Related to Pensions

At September 30, 2021, the City reported a net pension liability of $1,481,135 for the police retirement trust 
fund.  The City recognized $186,961 of pension expense related to the police retirement pension plan. 

At September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and
  actual experience 258,575$        66,415$         
Changes in assumptions 485,652 50,776
Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on pension plan investments 22,221 10,332

766,448$        127,523$        

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Amounts reported as pension-related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be 
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:
2022 109,670
2023 109,670
2024 98,106
2025 98,106
2026 98,106
2027 36,594
2028 5,507
2029 2,339

The investment return was .45% for 2021 as is projected to not be materially different for 2022.

Funding Policy: The funding policy and cost-of-living adjustments are provided to members and beneficiaries 
at the discretion of the Board of police retirement fund Commissioners. The costs of administering the plan are 
financed by investment earnings. The City decided to not fund the plan for fiscal year 2016-17 and has 
continued to not fund it through 2020-21. Funding is set to begin again in fiscal year 2021-22 when the City will 
receive additional funding as one of the urban renewal districts closes. The City's latest actuarial valuation was 
dated September 30, 2021. The City's contributions to the fund are set to amortize the fund's benefit liabilities 
over the period ending September 30, 2027. This represents a 30-year amortization of the fund's unfunded 
actuarial liability. The actuary recommends a minimum yearly contribution of $152,000 to adequately satisfy 
future expected cash flow requirements. The fund's asset balance is not expected to decrease for at least the 
next ten years. These calculations are based on the actuarial assumptions, including annual post-retirement 
benefits increases of 0% and investment returns of 2.25%. Any adverse future experience of the fund will require 
an increase in the minimum recommended contribution of $152,000.
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

POLICE RETIREMENT FUND (continued)

There are no long-term contracts for contributions to the plan or any legally required reserves. Investments at 
year end included cash equivalents of $7,740 and U.S. Government issues of $608,368. The actuarial value of 
assets is fair market value.

Discount Rate

The following presents the City’s net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.25, as well as what 
the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point 
lower (1.25%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.25%) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(1.25%) (2.25%) (3.25%)

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) 1,735,078$  1,481,135$    1,278,579$  

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

The components of the change in the net pension liability are summarized as follows:

Total Plan
Pension Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)
Balances at 9/30/20 2,220,099$ 797,095$    1,423,004$ 
Changes for the year:

Interest cost 42,561 - 42,561
Experience (gain) loss 76,745 - 76,745
Changes of assumptions (58,030) - (58,030)
Employer contributions - - -
Net investment income - 5,975 (5,975)
Benefit payments (184,132) (184,132) -
Administrative Expenses - (2,829) 2,829

Net changes (122,856) (180,986) 58,130
Balances at 9/30/21 2,097,243$ 616,109$    1,481,134$ 

Actuarial Assumptions

Actuaries must make assumptions as to what the expected experience of the Plan will be for future years. 
Plan experiences include investment return (interest rate), cost of living adjustments, mortality rates, turnover 
rates, disability rates, and retirement rates. Actuarial assumptions must be determined as reasonable both 
on an individual and aggregate basis and must represent a best estimate of costs to the Plan.

The actuarial assumptions were changed as of September 30, 2021 to better reflect past and projected future 
experience of the plan.  As required under accounting standards, the mortality table was updated along with 
implementing and improvement rate.  This resulted in a significant actuarial loss.
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NOTE 13 - PENSION PLANS (CONCLUDED)

POLICE RETIREMENT FUND (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions

The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the funding results are as follows:

 Long-Term Rate of Return:  2 .05%
 20-Year AAA Municipal Bond Rate:  2.0%
 Return on Assets:  2 .25%
 Discount Rate - Pre- and post-retirement interest rates were assumed at 2.25% per year.
 Cost of Living Adjustments - Benefits has been assumed to increase at 0% per year.
 Expenses - No assumption of asset expenses were made.
 Mortality Rates - RP2014 Mortality with 2020 Improvement Rates.
 Turnover Rates - T2 Turnover Table.
 Disability Rates - None assumed.
 Early Retirement Rates - None assumed.
 Actuarial Value of Assets - Same as market value of assets.

Schedule of Amortizations

Experience Recognized Amortized Amortization Deferred Deferred 
Year (Gain)/Loss Period Amount Balance Outflows Inflows

Experience (Gain)/Loss 2021 76,745 8 9,593 67,152 67,152 -
2020 28,507 9 3,167 22,172 22,172 -
2019 111,764 9 12,418 74,509 74,509 -
2018 (63,527) 10 (6,353) (38,116) - (38,116)
2017 (56,597) 10 (5,660) (28,299) - (28,299)
2016 208,433 11 18,948 94,742 94,742 -

Assumption (Gain)/Loss 2021 (58,030) 8 (7,254) (50,776) - (50,776)
2020 225,197 9 25,022 175,153 175,153
2019 104,074 9 11,564 69,383 69,383 -
2018 - 10 - - - -
2017 39,502 10 3,950 19,751 19,751 -
2016 487,003 11 44,273 221,365 221,365 -

Asset (Gain)/Loss 2021 12,718 5 2,544 10,174 10,174 -
2020 (4,528) 5 (906) (2,717) - (2,717)
2019 (19,038) 5 (3,808) (7,615) - (7,615)
2018 60,233 5 12,047 12,047 12,047 -
2017 60,691 5 12,138 - - -



City of Coeur d’Alene

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2021

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
68

NOTE 14 - SPECIAL ITEMS

During fiscal year ending September 30, 2021, the City had the following transactions with ignite cda, which 
qualify as and are presented as special items in the accompanying statement of activities.

Transfer of land from the City to ignite: 

During fiscal year 2020-21 the City transferred a piece of land to ignite along Seltice Way in the Atlas Waterfront 
area. This property was transferred with the desire that ignite facilitate the development of this piece along with 
the development of the Atlas Mill property. The City’s acquisition cost of this property was $262,297

NOTE 15 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On December 1, 2021 the City issued Series 2021A Bonds, in the amount of $22,075,000, in order to refund 
the outstanding principal amounts of the City’s Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2015 and the City’s Sewer 
Revenue Bond, Series 2020, and to pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds. On the same day 
the City issued Series 2021B Bonds, in the amount of $5,085,000, to taxably advance refund the outstanding 
principal amount of the City’s Sewer Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2012 and to pay the costs of issuance 
of the Series 2021B Bonds. The refunded bonds were all issued to finance certain capital improvements to the 
City’s wastewater system. The Series 2021 Bonds are revenue obligations of the System. Neither the full faith 
and credit nor the taxing power of the City is pledged to the payment of the Series 2021 Bonds. The City pursued 
the Refunding Plan solely for debt service savings. A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2021A Bonds will 
be irrevocably deposited with Zions Bancorporation, National Association, as escrow agent and shall be used 
to prepay and refund the outstanding principal amount of the Series 2015 Bond and the Series 2020 Bond, plus 
accrued interest to the date of redemption. A portion of the Series 2021B Bonds will be irrevocably deposited 
with the Escrow Agent and shall be used to defease and advance refund the Series 2012 Bond. Interest on the 
Series 2021 Bonds is due on March 1st of each year and principal and interest is due on September 1st of each 
year. The 2021A Series will mature on September 1, 2034.  
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NOTE 16 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES

As disclosed in Note 1, ignite cda meets the criteria for discrete presentation in the City's financial statements 
as a component unit. The following paragraphs describe significant transactions between the two entities and 
provide relevant disclosures related to the Agency.

Agency Cash and Cash Equivalents

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of a financial institution, the Agency’s deposits and 
investments may not be returned to it. The Agency does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk, but 
has charged management with ensuring the Agency’s exposure to custodial credit risk is minimal. The carrying 
amount of the Agency’s deposits is $6,240,081 and the bank balance is $5,549,776. As of September 30, 2021, 
the Agency’s bank balance was not exposed to custodial credit risk. Details are as follows:

Amounts insured by the FDIC and or collateralized with securities:   $5,549,776

State statutes authorize the Agency’s investments and deposits. The Agency is authorized to invest in demand 
deposits, savings accounts, U.S. Government obligations and its agencies, obligations of Idaho and its 
agencies, fully collateralized repurchase agreements, prime domestic commercial paper, prime domestic 
bankers acceptances, bonds, debentures or notes of any corporation organized, controlled and operating within 
the U.S. which have at their purchase an “A” rating or higher, government pool and money market funds 
consisting of any of these securities listed. No violations of these categories have occurred during the year. 

Capital Assets

Activity for ignite cda’s capital assets for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deletions Balance

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 1,303,264$  794,765$     495,171$   1,602,858$  
Construction in Progess 11,041,885 3,432,555 2,072,305 12,402,135

Total Capital assets not being depreciated 12,345,149 4,227,320 2,567,476 14,004,993$

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and sites 209,750 - - 209,750

Total capital assets being depreciated 209,750 - - 209,750

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and sites 10,488 - - 10,488

Total accumulated depreciation 10,488 - - 10,488
Total capital assets being depreciated, net 199,262 - - 199,262
Governmental activities capital assets, net 12,544,411$ 4,227,320$  2,567,476$ 14,204,255$
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NOTE 17 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Bond Payable – Washington Trust (2016 Series):

On August 25, 2011, the Agency received a Revenue Allocation Bond. The Agency was approved to borrow 
up to $16,700,000. This financing was used on various Lake District Redevelopment Projects over the years. 
Maturity was set for August 1, 2021 and the interest rate was set at 3.26% per annum for the first five years. 
The Agency refunded the note in November of 2016, resulting in a principal of $8,763,375 with a 1.25% interest 
rate and a term ending in 2021. The Agency made its final scheduled payment of principal and interest in the 
amount of $1,819,851 during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, satisfying the obligation in full.

Bond Payable – Washington Trust (2017 Series):

On May 23, 2017, the Agency entered into a second Revenue Allocation Bond agreement with Washington 
Trust Bank (2017 Series). The Agency may borrow up to $10,000,000. This financing was intended for projects 
within the Agency’s Lake District including but not limited to certain costs of (i) the downtown structured parking 
facility, (ii) the Memorial Park element of the Four Corners Master Plan, and (iii) other eligible capital expenditure 
projects within the Lake District. The loan matures in August of 2022. The interest rate is set at 2.2% per annum.

Payments on the Note are due in semi-annual installments based on the aggregate principal amount drawn, 
plus accrued interest, pursuant to an amortization schedule. The Bond is secured by the District’s pledge of the 
tax increment revenue allocation proceeds of the Lake District, subject to prior liens as described in the Note 
Purchase and Security Agreement. As of September 30, 2021, the outstanding principal balance was 
$2,992,194.

As of September 30, 2021, the annual requirements to retire the outstanding balance are as follows:

Fiscal year ending
September 30, Rate Principal Interest Total

2022 1.25% 2,992,195 50,194 3,042,389
2,992,195 50,194 3,042,389

Bond Payable – Washington Trust (2019 Series)

On January 11, 2019, the Agency entered into a third Revenue Allocation Bond agreement with Washington 
Trust Bank (2019 Series). The Agency may borrow up to $7,000,000. This financing is intended to fund eligible 
strategic capital expenditure projects within the Agency’s River District. Maturity was set for August 1, 2028 and 
the interest rate was set at the fixed rate of 3.3% per annum.

Payments on the Note are due in semi-annual installments based on the aggregate principal amount drawn, 
plus accrued interest, pursuant to an amortization schedule. The first amortized payment is payable on the first 
February or August 1 following draws totaling $1,000,000. As of September 30, 2021, the District has drawn a 
total of $57,000 on the Note. Accordingly, a schedule of future payments for the Note has not been presented, 
as the amounts and timing of the District’s remaining draws are still unknown. The Bond is secured by the 
District’s pledge of the tax increment revenue allocation proceeds, subject to prior liens as described in the Note 
Purchase and Security Agreement. 
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NOTE 17 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (CONCLUDED)

The following is a summary of debt activity for the year ended September 30, 2021:

Beginning Principal Principal Ending Due in
Balance Additions Payments Balance One Year

Bond Payable- Washington Trust 2019 Series 57,000$       -$            -$          57,000$       -$             
Bond Payable- Washington Trust 2017 Series 5,984,389 - 2,992,195 2,992,194 2,992,194
Bond Payable- Washington Trust 2016 Series 1,819,851 - 1,819,851 - -

7,861,240$  -$            4,812,046$ 3,049,194$  2,992,194$   
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Budget Amounts
Actual Variance With

Original Final Amounts Final Budget
REVENUES
Taxes 16,159,748$  16,159,748$  16,352,305$  192,557$          
Licenses and permits 5,601,000      5,640,000      6,005,093      365,093            
Intergovernmental 16,919,169    11,864,210    18,730,361    6,866,151         
Charges for services 330,549         317,549         269,473         (48,076)             
Fines and forfeits 340,200         340,200         451,214         111,014            
Investment (loss) earnings 100,000         100,000         31,085           (68,915)             
Miscellaneous 296,000         295,000         75,230           (219,770)           
     Total revenues 39,746,666    34,716,707    41,914,761    7,198,054         

EXPENDITURES
Current:
    General government 7,204,869      8,600,457      8,141,606      458,851            
    Public safety 27,317,231    27,984,212    26,677,204    1,307,008         
    Public works 5,804,682      5,879,859      5,080,960      798,899            
    Culture and recreation 3,193,938      3,193,938      2,855,331      338,607            
Capital outlay 270,738         467,738         589,909         (122,171)           
Debt service:
  Principal payments -                 69,710           69,710           -                    
  Interest and fiscal agent fees -                 29,425           46,423           (16,998)             
     Total expenditures 43,791,458    46,225,339    43,461,143    2,764,196         
       (Deficiency) excess of revenues 
          (under) over expenditures (4,044,792)     (11,508,632)   (1,546,382)     9,962,250         

-                 -                 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 15,000           59,000           62,715           3,715                
Debt Issuance -                 -                 -                 -                    
Operating transfers in 2,938,686      3,085,186      3,088,848      3,662                
Operating transfers out (149,000)        (149,000)        (149,000)        -                    
     Total other financing sources (uses) 2,804,686      2,995,186      3,002,563      7,377                
       Net change in fund balances (1,240,106)     (8,513,446)     1,456,181      9,969,627         

Fund balances - beginning of year 1,240,106      8,513,446      17,768,374    9,254,928         
Fund balances - end of year -$               -$               19,224,555$  19,224,555$     
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NOTE 1:  STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Data
Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. An annual budget is 
adopted for the general fund. Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other 
commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable 
appropriation, is not employed as an extension of formal budgetary integration in the general fund.

This is in conformance with Idaho State Statutes, which require that appropriations lapse at the end of a fiscal 
year and are not available to be carried forward to be used in addition to the succeeding year's appropriation. 
The budget was amended in the current fiscal year.

The following procedures are followed in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:

a) The City publishes a proposed budget for public review.

b) Public hearings are set to obtain taxpayer comments.

c) Prior to October 1, the budget is adopted by resolution of the City Council and published.

Lapsing of Appropriations – At the close of each year, all unspent appropriations revert to the respective funds 
from which they were appropriated and become subject to future appropriation.

The City properly prepared and published its budget for the year, as required by US generally accepted 
accounting principles and Idaho Code 33-2713A. The budget is adopted on a modified accrual basis, consistent 
with the fund financial statements and was amended during the year ended September 30, 2021.



City of Coeur d'Alene

9/30/21 9/30/20 9/30/19 9/30/18 9/30/17 9/30/16 9/30/15
City of Coeur d Alene's net pension liability 
percentage 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
City of Coeur d'Alene's net pension liability 1,481,135$    1,423,004$    1,142,378$    913,577$      903,304$      852,633$       273,211$      
City of Coeur d'Alene's total pension liability 2,097,243$    2,220,099$    2,088,884$    1,981,905$   2,150,043$   2,265,698$    1,671,680$   
City of Coeur d'Alene's fiduciary net position 616,108$       797,095$       946,506$       1,068,328$   1,246,739$   1,413,065$    1,398,468$   

City of Coeur d'Alene's covered-employee payroll -$               -$               -$               -$              -$              -$               -$              
City of Coeur d'Alene's net pension liability as a 
percentage of it's covered-employee payroll  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A 
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 29.38% 35.90% 45.31% 53.90% 57.99% 62.37% 83.66%

Data reported is measured as of September 30, 2021 (measurement date)

SCHEDULE OF CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE'S CONTRIBUTIONS
Police Retirement Pension Plan

Last 10 - Fiscal Years *

9/30/21 9/30/20 9/30/19 9/30/18 9/30/17 9/30/16 9/30/15
City contributions -$               -$               74$                539$             2,133$          154,962$       155,893$      
City's actuarially determined contributions 152,000$       152,000$       152,000$       152,000$      152,000$      151,999$       152,000$      
Difference between the actuarially determined 
contribution and the actual contribution (152,000)$      (152,000)$      (151,926)$      (151,461)$     (149,867)$     2,963$           3,893$          
City's covered-employee payroll -$               -$               -$               -$              -$              -$               -$              
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee 
payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Data reported is measured as of September 30, 2021 (measurement date)

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, City of 
Coeur d'Alene will present information for those to use for which information is available.

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, City of 
Coeur d'Alene will present information for those to use for which information is available.
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SCHEDULE OF CITY'S SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
Police Retirement Pension Plan

Last 10 - Fiscal Years *



2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Total pension liability
Service cost -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               
Interest cost 42,561            57,152            66,401            66,374            69,072            62,928            59,255            
Changes in benefit terms -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Experience (gain) loss 76,745            28,507            111,764          (63,527)          (56,597)          208,433          -                 
Changes of assumptions (58,030)          225,197          104,074          -                 39,502            487,003          -                 
Benefit payments (184,132)        (179,641)        (175,260)        (170,985)        (167,632)        (164,346)        (161,123)        

Net change in total pension liability (122,856)        131,215          106,979          (168,138)        (115,655)        594,018          (101,868)        
Total pension liability - beginning of year 2,220,099       2,088,884       1,981,905       2,150,043       2,265,698       1,671,680       1,773,548       
Total pension liability - end of year (a) 2,097,243$     2,220,099$     2,088,884$     1,981,905$     2,150,043$     2,265,698$     1,671,680$     

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer -$               -$               74$                 539$               2,133$            154,962$        155,892$        
Net investment income 5,975              33,688            57,352            (3,394)            4,419              29,411            30,210            
Benefit payments (184,132)        (179,641)        (175,260)        (170,985)        (167,632)        (164,346)        (161,123)        
Administrative expense (2,830)            (3,458)            (3,988)            (4,571)            (5,246)            (5,430)            (5,448)            
Other adjustment to agree to 9/30/20 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Net change in fiduciary net position (180,987)        (149,411)        (121,822)        (178,411)        (166,326)        14,597            19,531            
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning of year 797,095          946,506          1,068,328       1,246,739       1,413,065       1,398,468       1,378,937       
Plan fiduciary net position - end of year (b) 616,108$        797,095$        946,506$        1,068,328       1,246,739       1,413,065       1,398,468       

Net pension liability (a) - (b) 1,481,135$     1,423,004$     1,142,378$     913,577$        903,304$        852,633$        273,212$        

City of Coeur d'Alene

Police Retirement Pension Plan
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, City of Coeur 
d'Alene will present information for those to use for which information is available.
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2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return, 
Net of Investment Experience 0.45% 3.53% 5.44% -0.69% -0.06% 1.72% 1.80%

Police Retirement Pension Plan
Schedule of the Investment Returns over Last 10 Years

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  
However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, City of Coeur d'Alene will present 
information for those to use for which information is available.

City of Coeur d'Alene
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9/30/21 9/30/20 9/30/19 9/30/18 9/30/17 9/30/16 9/30/15
City of Coeur d Alene's portion of the 
net pension liability 0.7745166% 0.7699514% 0.7627450% 0.7816001% 0.7684929% 0.7700966% 0.7758284%

City of Coeur d'Alene's proportionate 
share of the net pension liability 
(asset) (611,698)$        17,879,292$    8,706,522$      11,528,738$     12,079,388$     15,611,041$    10,216,398$   
City of Coeur d'Alene's covered-
employee payroll 28,821,099$    27,551,112$    25,516,046$    24,756,509$     23,500,332$     22,186,905$    21,318,402$   

City of Coeur d'Alene's proportional 
share of the net pension liability as a 
percentage of its covered-employee 
payroll -2.12% 64.89% 34.12% 46.57% 51.40% 70.36% 47.92%

Plan fiduciary net position as a 
percentage of the total pension 
liability 100.36% 88.22% 93.79% 91.69% 90.68% 87.26% 91.38%

Data reported is measured as of June 30, 2021 (measurement date)

9/30/21 9/30/20 9/30/19 9/30/18 9/30/17 9/30/16 9/30/15
Statutorily required contribution 3,058,016$      3,020,835$      2,918,570$      3,035,277$       2,591,451$       2,289,207$      2,537,750$     
Contributions in relation to the 
statutorily required contribution 3,492,695$      3,315,704$      2,975,323$      2,885,192$       2,738,658$       2,572,387$      2,603,758$     
Contribution (deficiency) excess 434,679$         294,869$         56,752$           (150,086)$         147,207$          283,180$         66,009$          
City's covered-employee payroll 28,821,099$    27,551,112$    25,516,046$    24,756,509$     23,500,332$     22,186,905$    21,318,402$   

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered-employee payroll 12.12% 12.03% 11.66% 11.65% 11.65% 11.59% 12.21%

Data reported is measured as of June 30, 2021 (measurement date)

City of Coeur d'Alene

SCHEDULE OF CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE'S CONTRIBUTIONS
PERSI - Base Plan

Last 10 - Fiscal Years *
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* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend 
is compiled, City of Coeur d'Alene will present information for those to use for which information is available.

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, City 
of Coeur d'Alene will present information for those to use for which information is available.

SCHEDULE OF CITY'S SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
PERSI - Base Plan

Last 10 - Fiscal Years *



9/30/21 9/30/20 9/30/19 9/30/18 9/30/17 9/30/16 9/30/15
City of Coeur d Alene's portion of the net pension 
asset 8.3827379% 8.3827379% 7.7156242% 7.9375918% 7.5070873% 7.3277629% 7.3707911%

City of Coeur d'Alene's proportionate share of the net 
pension asset 22,652,408$     12,481,826$   11,091,489$   8,982,985$     6,440,753$     3,938,556$     3,981,015$     

City of Coeur d'Alene's covered-employee payroll 7,049,344$       6,636,100$     6,059,963$     5,942,693$     5,480,973$     5,010,150$     4,738,865$     
City of Coeur d'Alene's proportional share of the net 
pension asset as a percentage of its covered-
employee payroll 321.34% 188.09% 183.03% 151.16% 117.51% 78.61% 84.01%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension asset 211.83% 155.55% 152.74% 140.15% 129.65% 118.42% 118.08%

Data reported is measured as of June 30, 2021 (measurement date)

9/30/21 9/30/20 9/30/19 9/30/18 9/30/17 9/30/16 9/30/15
Statutorily required contribution -$                  -$                -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required 
contribution (725,978)$         (725,978)$       (636,371)$      (611,689)$      (559,502)$      (527,496)$      (833,303)$      
Contribution (deficiency) excess (725,978)$         (725,978)$       (636,371)$      (611,689)$      (559,502)$      (527,496)$      (833,303)$      
City's covered-employee payroll 7,049,344$       6,636,100$     6,059,963$     5,942,693$     5,480,973$     5,010,150$     4,738,865$     

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee 
payroll -10.30% -10.94% -10.50% -10.29% -10.21% -10.53% -17.58%

Data reported is measured as of June 30, 2021 (measurement date)
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* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, 
City of Coeur d'Alene will present information for those to use for which information is available.

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, City of Coeur 
d'Alene will present information for those to use for which information is available.

City of Coeur d'Alene

SCHEDULE OF CITY'S SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
PERSI - FRF Plan

Last 10 - Fiscal Years *

SCHEDULE OF CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE'S CONTRIBUTIONS
PERSI - FRF Plan

Last 10 - Fiscal Years *
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



Total
Special Debt Nonmajor

Revenue Service Governmental
Funds Funds Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7,693,681$   104,990$   7,798,671$       
Investments 1,156,061     -             1,156,061         
Receivables:
  Taxes delinquent 33,263          32,926       66,189              
  Accounts 19,670          -             19,670              
Assessments:
  Delinquent -                -             -                    
  Deferred -                182,326     182,326            
Due from other governments 3,971            1,642         5,613                
Due from other funds -                -             -                    
     Total assets 8,906,646$   321,884$   9,228,530$       

LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable 67,737$        -$           67,737$            
  Due to other funds -                182,326     182,326            
     Total liabilities 67,737          182,326     250,063            

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue- property taxes 33,263          32,926       66,189              
Unavailable revenue- special assessments -                -             -                    
     Total deferred inflows of resources 33,263          32,926       66,189              

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)
  Restricted 5,548,914 106,632 5,655,546
  Committed 3,256,405 -             3,256,405
  Assigned 327               -             327                   
  Unassigned -                -                    
     Total fund balances (deficits) 8,805,646     106,632     8,912,278         
     Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
       resources and fund balances (deficits) 8,906,646$   321,884$   9,228,530$       
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City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - BY FUND TYPE
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

September 30, 2021



Total
Special Debt Nonmajor

Revenue Service Governmental
Funds Funds Funds

REVENUES
Taxes 1,638,497$    884,817$       2,523,314$       
Intergovernmental 262,165         -                 262,165
Charges for services 1,806,945      -                 1,806,945
Fines and forfeits 51                  -                 51
Assessments collected -                 51                  51
Investment (loss) earnings (23,855)          -                 (23,855)
Interest 37,148           -                 37,148
Miscellaneous 263,471         -                 263,471
Penalty and interest -                 678                678
     Total revenues 3,984,422      885,546         4,869,968         

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  General government 320,229         -                 320,229            
  Culture and recreation 1,650,429      -                 1,650,429         
  Administrative expenses -                 -                 -                    
Capital outlay 828,424         -                 828,424            
Debt service:
  Principal payments -                 791,598         791,598            
  Interest, fees and other -                 84,683           84,683              
     Total expenditures 2,799,082      876,281         3,675,363         
    Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
     (under) expenditures 1,185,340      9,265             1,194,605         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in 243,248         -                 243,248            
Operating transfers out (559,099)        -                 (559,099)           
     Total other financing sources (uses) (315,851)        -                 (315,851)           
       Net change in fund balances 869,489         9,265             878,754            
Fund balances (deficits) - beginning of year 7,936,157      97,367           8,033,524         
Fund balances (deficits) - end of year 8,805,646$    106,632$       8,912,278$       

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS



Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than major 
capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The following are the 
City's special revenue funds:

Library Fund: To administer expenditures for the purpose of providing a library for the citizens of the City of Coeur 
d'Alene. The primary revenue source for this fund is property taxes. 

Cemetery Fund: To administer expenditures for the purpose of providing cemetery lots, niches, and openings 
and closings. The primary revenue sources for this fund are sales of cemetery lots and niches, and a transfer of 
interest from the cemetery perpetual care trust fund.

Annexation Fees Fund: Annexation fees are charged when a new subdivision is annexed into the City. These 
funds are then transferred to the General Fund and used for one-time capital purchases.

Impact Fees Fund: Developmental impact fees are charged on new construction. The revenue generated from 
these fees will be used for capital improvements for Parks, Police, Fire and Streets. 

Parks Capital Improvements Fund: To administer expenditures for the purpose of developing new parkland for 
the citizens of the City of Coeur d’Alene. The primary revenue source for this fund is grants, impact fees, park 
fees, parking and boat launch user fees. 

Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund: To account for funds set aside to be used to maintain the City’s cemeteries into 
perpetuity. Funding for this fund comes from interest earnings and 30% of the funds generated from cemetery lot 
sales. 

Reforestation Fund: To account for funds collected for the purpose of replacing trees in the right of ways and 
planting trees in the right of ways of new subdivisions or new construction.

Jewett House Fund: To account for donations received for the operation and maintenance of the Jewett House, 
an estate donated to the City to be used for senior citizen activities.

Public Art Fund: To account for funds received from construction projects of the City of Coeur d’Alene and 
contributions from ignitecda (urban renewal district) to be used for the purchase and maintenance of public art.



 Annexation Impact
Library Cemetery Fees Fees

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 314,833$   208,723$     327$            5,424,466$  
Investments -            -               -               -               
Receivables:
  Taxes delinquent 33,263 -               -               -               
  Accounts -            1,409 -               -               
Due from other governments 3,971         -               -               -               
     Total assets 352,067$   210,132$     327$            5,424,466$  

LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable 37,075$     10,664$       -$             -$             
     Total liabilities 37,075       10,664         -               -               

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  Unavailable revenue- property taxes 33,263 -               -               -               
     Total deferred inflows of resources 33,263       -               -               -               

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)
  Restricted -            -               -               5,424,466    
  Committed 281,729     199,468       -               -               
  Assigned -            -               327              -               
     Total fund balances (deficits) 281,729 199,468 327 5,424,466
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
 of resources and fund balances (deficits) 352,067$   210,132$     327$            5,424,466$  
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September 30, 2021
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
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Total
Nonmajor

Parks Cemetery Special
Capital Perpetual Jewett Public Revenue

Improvements Care Reforestation House Art Funds

498,791$         80,358$           205,716$         136,852$         823,615$         7,693,681$      
-                   1,156,061        -                   -                   -                   1,156,061        

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   33,263             
18,261             -                   -                   -                   -                   19,670             

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   3,971               
517,052$         1,236,419$      205,716$         136,852$         823,615$         8,906,646$      

1,292$             -$                 5,000$             12,404$           1,302$             67,737$           
1,292               -                   5,000               12,404             1,302               67,737             

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   33,263             
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   33,263             

-                   -                   -                   124,448           -                   5,548,914        
515,760           1,236,419        200,716           -                   822,313           3,256,405        

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   327                  
515,760 1,236,419 200,716 124,448 822,313 8,805,646

517,052$         1,236,419$      205,716$         136,852$         823,615$         8,906,646$      
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 Annexation Impact
Library Cemetery Fees Fees

REVENUES
Taxes 1,638,497$  -$             -$                -$               
Intergovernmental 16,227         -               -                 -                 
Charges for services 1,564           278,502       88,940           1,216,712      
Fines and forfeits 51                -               -                 -                 
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments -               -               -                 -                 
Interest 471              133              48                  7,580             
Miscellaneous 6,894           10,400         -                 -                 
     Total revenues 1,663,704    289,035       88,988           1,224,292      

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  General government -               262,339       -                 -                 
  Culture and recreation 1,477,827    -               -                 -                 
  Capital outlay 183,008       -                 -                 
     Total expenditures 1,660,835    262,339       -                 -                 
       Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
         (under) expenditures 2,869           26,696         88,988           1,224,292      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in -               159,996       -                 -                 
Operating transfers out -               (63,252)        (184,000)        (151,851)        
     Total other financing sources (uses) -               96,744         (184,000)        (151,851)        
        Net change in fund balances 2,869           123,440       (95,012)          1,072,441      
Fund balances - beginning of year 278,860       76,028         95,339           4,352,025      
Fund balances (deficits) - end of year 281,729$     199,468$     327$              5,424,466$    

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho
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For the Year Ended  September 30, 2021
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES



Total
Nonmajor

Parks Cemetery Special
Capital Perpetual Jewett Public Revenue

Improvements Care Reforestation House Art Funds

-$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 1,638,497$      
245,938           -                   -                   -                   -                   262,165           
164,739           -                   56,488             -                   -                   1,806,945        

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   51                    
-                   (23,855)            -                   -                   -                   (23,855)            

1,183               25,825             393                  25                    1,490               37,148             
-                   -                   -                   122,124           124,053           263,471           

411,860           1,970               56,881             122,149           125,543           3,984,422        

-                   5,039               -                   16,004             36,847             320,229           
106,420           -                   66,182             -                   -                   1,650,429        
562,916           -                   -                   -                   82,500             828,424           
669,336           5,039               66,182             16,004             119,347           2,799,082        

(257,476)          (3,069)              (9,301)              106,145           6,196               1,185,340        

-                   83,252             -                   -                   -                   243,248           
-                   (159,996)          -                   -                   -                   (559,099)          
-                   (76,744)            -                   -                   -                   (315,851)          

(257,476)          (79,813)            (9,301)              106,145           6,196               869,489           
773,236           1,316,232        210,017           18,303             816,117           7,936,157        
515,760$         1,236,419$      200,716$         124,448$         822,313$         8,805,646$      
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Debt service funds are established to account for the invoicing and collecting of special assessment 
payments owed to the City from property owners included in specific local improvement City projects: 

LID #151: Accounts for the accumulation of resources from special assessment levies created for the purpose 
of paving, installing curbs, sidewalks and for beautification of Front Avenue.

General Obligation Bonds: Accounts for the accumulation of resources from property taxes for the purpose 
of paying bonds and interest when due for the 2015 General Obligation Bond Issue.



City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

September 30, 2021

Total
Nonmajor

General Debt
LID Obligation Service

#151 Bonds Funds
ASSETS  
Cash and cash equivalents -$              104,990$      104,990$      
Receivables:
  Taxes Delinquent -                32,926          32,926          
  Assessments
    Delinquent -                -                -                
    Deferred 182,326        -                182,326        
Due from other governments -                1,642            1,642            
     Total assets            182,326$      139,558$      321,884$      

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities:
  Deposits -$              -$              -$              
  Due to other funds 182,326        -                182,326        

     Total liabilities 182,326        -                182,326        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue-property taxes -                32,926          32,926          
Unavailable revenue-special assessments -                -                -                
    Total deferred inflows of resources -                32,926          32,926          

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)
  Restricted -                106,632        106,632        
  Committed -                -                -                
  Assigned -                -                -                
  Unassigned -                -                -                
     Total fund balances (deficits) -                106,632        106,632        
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
     resources and fund balances (deficits) 182,326$      139,558$      321,884$      
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City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Total
Nonmajor

General Debt
LID Obligation Service

#149 Bonds Funds
REVENUES
Taxes -$           884,817$       884,817$     
Assessments collected 51              -                51                
Penalty and interest -             678                678              
     Total revenues 51              885,495         885,546       

EXPENDITURES
Bond principal -             791,598         791,598       
Interest, fees and other -             84,683           84,683         
     Total expenditures -             876,281         876,281       
       Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
         (under) expenditures 51              9,214             9,265           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in -             -                -               
Operating transfers out -             -                -               
     Total other financing sources (uses) -             -                -               
       Net change in fund balances 51              9,214             9,265           
Fund balances (deficits)-beginning of year (51)             97,418           97,367         
Fund balances (deficits) - end of year -$           106,632$       106,632$     
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Capital projects funds are used to account for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities 
other than those financed by proprietary funds and trust funds.

LaCrosse Project: To administer expenditures for the purpose of constructing an extension of LaCrosse Ave 
from Northwest Boulevard to Lakewood Drive and installing a traffic signal at Northwest Boulevard

Government Way – Hanley to Prairie: To administer expenditures for the purpose of reconstructing and 
widening of Government Way from Hanley Ave. to Prairie

Northwest Boulevard Signal Improvements: To administer expenditures for the purpose of improving traffic 
signal lighting on Northwest Boulevard

15th Harrison to Best: To administer expenditures for the purpose of reconstruction and widening of 15th 
Street from Harrison Avenue to Best Avenue.

Kathleen Avenue Widening: To administer expenditures for the purpose of property acquisition and widening 
Kathleen Avenue to 5 lanes from Government Way to Highway 95.

Traffic Calming: To administer expenditures for various equipment and construction to reduce traffic speeds 
throughout the City.

Atlas Waterfront Site: to administer expenditures for the purchase of land and improvements to the Atlas 
Waterfront Site.



Govt
Way

Misc. Hanley
Capital LaCrosse to

Projects Project Prairie
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 15,388$         69,973$         41,435$         
Accounts Receivable -                 -                 -                 
Due from other governments -                 -                 -                 
Due from other funds -                 -                 -                 
     Total assets 15,388$         69,973$         41,435$         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -$               89,456$         -$               
Due to other funds -                 -                 
     Total liabilities -                 89,456           -                 

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)                  
  Unassigned 15,388           (19,483)          41,435           
     Total fund balances (deficits) 15,388           (19,483)          41,435           
     Total liabilities and fund balances (deficits) 15,388$         69,973$         41,435$         

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

87

September 30, 2021
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET



Northwest 15th St Total
Boulevard Harrison Kathleen Atlas Capital

Traffic to Avenue Traffic Waterfront Projects
Signals Best Widening Calming Site Funds

-$             42,627$       340,124$     34,561$       -$             544,108$     
-               -               -               -               -               -               

175,000       -               -               -               -               175,000       
-               -               -               -               -               -               

175,000$     42,627$       340,124$     34,561$       -$                 719,108$     

-$             -$             43,847$       -$             -$             133,303$     
-               -               -               -               8,051,724    8,051,724    
-               -               43,847         -               8,051,724    8,185,027    

175,000       42,627         296,277       34,561         (8,051,724)   (7,465,919)   
175,000       42,627         296,277       34,561         (8,051,724)   (7,465,919)   
175,000$     42,627$       340,124$     34,561$       -$             719,108$     
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Govt Northwest
Way Boulevard

Misc. Hanley Signal 
Capital LaCrosse to Improve-

Projects Project Prairie ments
REVENUES
Contributions -$              -$              -$              -$              
Intergovernmental -                -                    -                175,000        
Investment income -                -                    -                    -                
     Total revenues -                -                -                175,000        

EXPENDITURES
Services and supplies -                -                -                5,351            
Interest and fiscal agent fees -                -                -                -                
Capital outlay -                186,642        -                -                
     Total expenditures -                186,642        -                5,351            
       Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
         (under) expenditures -                (186,642)       -                169,649        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in -                -                -                5,351            
Operating transfers out -                -                -                
     Total other financing sources (uses) -                -                -                5,351            
       Net change in fund balances -                (186,642)       -                175,000        
Fund balance (deficit) - beginning of year 15,388          167,159        41,435          -                
Fund balance (deficit) - end of year 15,388$        (19,483)$       41,435$        175,000$      

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

89

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND



Total
15th St Nonmajor

Harrison Kathleen Atlas Capital
to Avenue Traffic Waterfront Projects

Best Widening Calming Site Funds

-$              -$              -$              -$              -$              
-                -                -                -                175,000        
95                 1,642            -                -                1,737            
95                 1,642            -                -                176,737$      

-                -                2,000            -                7,351            
-                -                -                118,991        118,991        

11,070          117,760        7,652            -                323,124        
11,070          117,760        9,652            118,991        449,466        

(10,975)         (116,118)       (9,652)           (118,991)       (272,729)       

-                -                -                -                5,351            
-                -                -                -                -                
-                -                -                -                5,351            

(10,975)         (116,118)       (9,652)           (118,991)       (267,378)       
53,602          412,395        44,213          (7,932,733)    (7,198,541)    
42,627$        296,277$      34,561$        (8,051,724)$  (7,465,919)$  
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The enterprise funds are used to account for the City's wastewater property management, street lighting, 
public parking operations and stormwater management. These operations are financed and operated in 
a manner similar to a private business enterprise. The intent of the City is that the costs (expenses, 
including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be 
financed or recovered primarily through user charges. The following are descriptions of each nonmajor 
enterprise fund.

Wastewater Property Management Fund: To account for funds being held for building maintenance expenses 
for the Harbor Center building, which is currently being leased by the University of Idaho.

Street Lighting Utility Fund: To account for the provision of street lighting services to the residents of the City. 
All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including (but not limited to) 
administration, operations and maintenance.

Public Parking Lot Fund: To account for the provision of downtown parking to the residents and visitors of the 
City. All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including (but not limited to) 
operations and maintenance. 

Drainage: To account for the provision of drainage management. All activities necessary to provide such services 
are accounted for in this fund including (but not limited to) administration, operations and maintenance. 



Total
Wastewater Public Nonmajor

Property Street Parking Enterprise
Management Lighting Lot Drainage Funds

ASSETS
Current assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents 60,668$          143,589$  579,767$       1,408,545$  2,192,569$    
  Receivables:
    Accounts, net of allowance 
      for uncollectible accounts -                  52,584      342,532 91,723 486,839         
   Due from other governments -                  -           247 247                
   Net pension asset -                  -           11,443 11,443           
     Total current assets 60,668            196,173    922,299         1,511,958    2,691,098      

Non-current assets:
  Capital assets:
    Land -                  -           2,214,672 -              2,214,672      
    Construction in Progress -                  -           -                -              -                
    Other capital assets, net of 
      accumulated depreciation -                  67,035 12,506,800 4,835,891 17,409,726    
     Total non-current assets -                  67,035      14,721,472    4,835,891    19,624,398    
       Total assets 60,668            263,208    15,643,771    6,347,849    22,315,496    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension outflows -                  -           -                37,826         37,826           

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable -                  69,234 5,810             2,953 77,997           
  Due to other Funds -                  -           -                -              -                

     Total current liabilities -                  69,234      5,810             2,953           77,997           

Non-current liabilities:
   Compensated absences -                  -           -                34,409 34,409           
     Total non-current liabilities -                  -           -                34,409         34,409           
       Total liabilities -                  69,234      5,810             37,362         112,406         
   
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension inflows -                  -           -                111,002 111,002         

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets -                  67,035      14,721,472    4,835,891    19,624,398    
Unrestricted 60,668            126,939    916,489         1,401,420    2,505,516      
     Total net position 60,668$          193,974$  15,637,961$  6,237,311$  22,129,914$  
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS

September 30, 2021



Total
Wastewater Public  Nonmajor

Property Street  Parking Enterprise
Management Lighting Lot Drainage Funds

OPERATING REVENUES   
Services -$               633,895$   1,001,238$     1,077,335$   2,712,468$     

OPERATING EXPENSES
Administration -                 -             -                  257,664 257,664          
Maintenance -                 27,103 63,676 191,878 282,657          
Supplies -                 -             -                  35,566 35,566            
Contracted services -                 664,113 120,777 10,390 795,280          
Depreciation -                 9,674 891,878 380,430 1,281,982       
Bad debt expense -                 107 -                  542 649                 
Net pension expense (revenue) -                 -             -                  (1,691)           (1,691)             
     Total operating expenses -                 700,997     1,076,331       874,779        2,652,107       

Operating income (loss) -                 (67,102)      (75,093)           202,556        60,361            

NONOPERATING REVENUES 
Investment income -                 315 541 2,489 3,345
Gain on sale of assets -                 -             -                  -                -                  
     Total nonoperating revenues -                 315            541                 2,489            3,345              
     Income (loss) before 
         contributions and transfers -                 (66,787)      (74,552)           205,045        63,706            
Capital contributions -                 -             -                  -                -                  

Operating transfers in -                 129,000 -                  -                129,000          
Operating transfers out -                 -             (469,336) (186,695) (656,031)         
     Change in net position 62,213       (543,888)         18,350          (463,325)         
Total net position - beginning 60,668           131,761     16,181,849     6,218,961     22,593,239     
Total net position - ending 60,668$         193,974$   15,637,961$   6,237,311$   22,129,914$   

CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND

City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho
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Business-type Activities - Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021
NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS



Waste- Total
water Public Nonmajor

Property Street Parking Enterprise
Mgmt Lighting Lot Drainage Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Receipts from customers -$        634,753$  924,704$  1,083,771$  2,643,228$  
   Payments to suppliers -          (690,271)   (190,571) (759,595)      (1,640,437)   
   Payments to employees -          -           -           286,890 286,890       
     Net cash provided (used) by operating activities -          (55,518)     734,133 611,066 1,289,681    
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Operating transfers in -          129,000    -           -              129,000
  Operating transfers out -          -           (469,336) (186,695) (656,031)
     Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities -          129,000    (469,336) (186,695) (527,031)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND 
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Capital asset purchases -          -               -           (241,667) (241,667)
  Contributions -          -               -              
  Proceeds from the sale of assets -          -           -              
     Net cash provided (used) by financing activities -          -           -           (241,667)      (241,667)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Investment income -          315           541           2,489 3,345
     Net cash provided (used) by investing activities -          315           541           2,489 3,345
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -          73,797      265,338 185,193 524,328
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 60,668    69,792      314,429 1,223,352 1,668,241
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 60,668$  143,589$  579,767$  1,408,545$  2,192,569$  
Reconciliation of operating income (loss)

 to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss) -$        (67,102)$   (75,093)$   202,556$     60,361$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
(Increase) decrease in assets:
   Depreciation -          9,674        891,878    380,430       1,281,982    
   Accounts receivable -          858           (76,534)     6,368           (69,308)        
   Due from other governments -          -               -               68                68                
   Net pension asset -          -               -               (11,443)        (11,443)        
   Deferred outflows of resources -          -               -               (24,458)        (24,458)        
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
   Accounts payable -          1,052        (6,118)       (7,582)         (12,648)        
   Due to other funds -          -           -           -              -                  
  Compensated absences -          -           -           7,409           7,409           
  (Decrease) increase in net pension liability -          -           -           (52,389)        (52,389)        
  (Decrease) increase in deferred inflows of resources -          -           -           110,107       110,107       

Net cash provided by operating activities -$        (55,518)$   734,133$  611,066$     1,289,681$  
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Coeur d’Alene 
Coeur d’Alene, ID 83814 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of The City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho,  as of and for the year ended September 30, 
2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Coeur d’Alene,  
Idaho’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated March 29, 2022.  Our report 
includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of ignite cda, as described in our 
report on the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s financial statements.  This report does not include the results of the 
other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other matters that are 
reported on separately by those auditors. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Coeur d’Alene, 
Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s 
internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho’s financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect 
on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards.
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Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Anderson Bros. CPAs  
Post Falls, Idaho 
March 29, 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SINGLE AUDIT REPORT



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Coeur d’Alene 
Coeur d’Alene, ID 83814 
 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City of 
Coeur d'Alene, idaho’s major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2021. The City of Coeur 
d'Alene, Idaho’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its 
federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho’s major 
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted 
our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations 
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
(Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho’s compliance with those requirements 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Coeur d'Alene’s compliance. 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
In our opinion, the City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended September 30, 2021. 
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance 
 
Management of the City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing 
our audit of compliance, we considered the City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho’s internal control over compliance with 
the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine 
the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of 
Coeur d'Alene, Idaho’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent 
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely 
basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a 
type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely 
basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe 
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified.  
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Anderson Bros., CPAs 
Post Falls, Idaho 
March 29, 2022 



City of Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the year ended September 30, 2021

Federal Pass
CFDA Through Federal

Program Title Number Number Expenditures
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development:

Direct programs:
CDBG Block Grants / Entitlement Grants 14.218 513,652$         

U.S. National Park Service
Passed through the State of Idaho:

Historic Preservation Fund Grants-in-Aid to State Historic Preservation Offices
15.904 826000176 14,329

U.S. Department of Justice
Direct programs:

Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 13,099
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 113,799

Subtotal direct 126,898
Passed through the State of Idaho:

STOP Violence Against Women 16.588 826000176 73,862
Subtotal passed through the State of Idaho 73,862

Total U.S. Department of Justice 200,760

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through the State of Idaho:
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:

Highway Planning and Construction-FAHP 20.205 826000176 175,000
175,000

Passed through the State of Idaho:
Transportation Cluster:

State and Community Highway Safety 20.600 826000176 77,385
National Priority Safety Programs 20.616 826000176 20,639

Total Transportation Cluster 98,024
Total U.S. Department of Transportation 273,024

Department of the Treasury
Passed through the State of Idaho:

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economics Security Act 21.019 826000176 44,460
Direct programs:

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 204,740
Total U.S. Department of the Treasury 249,200

Institute of Museum and Library Services
Passed through the State of Idaho:

Grants to States 45.310 826000176 15,427

U.S. Department of Environmental Quality:
Passed through the State of Idaho:

Nonpoint Source Implementation Grants 66.460 826000176 12,750

Passed through the State of Idaho:
Special Programs for the Aging-Title III Part B 93.044 826000176 12,640

Passed through the State of Idaho:
Disaster Grants - Public Assistance 97.036 826000176 5,299
Homeland Security Grant Program 97.067 826000176 10,457

Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security 15,756
1,307,538$      

U.S. Department of Homeland Security

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services:
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City of Coeur d’Alene

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
September 30, 2021

99

NOTE 1: - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award 
activity of the City of Coeur d’Alene (the Government’s) under programs of the federal government for the year 
ended September 30, 2021.  The information on this Schedule is prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Because the Schedule presents only a 
selected portion of the operations of the Government, it is not intended to and does not present the financial 
position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the Government.

NOTE 2: - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are 
recognized following, the cost principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, wherein certain 
types of expenditures may or may not be allowable or may be limited as to reimbursement.

The Government has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance.

Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available.

NOTE 3: - MATCHING REQUIREMENTS

Certain Federal programs require the Government to contribute non-Federal funds (matching funds) to support 
the Federally-funded programs.  The Government has met its matching requirements.  The Schedule does not 
include the expenditure of non-Federal matching funds.



City of Coeur d’Alene

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
September 30, 2021
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Section I - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

 Material weakness(es) identified?            Yes     X    No

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified
       that are not considered to be 
       material weakness(es)            Yes      X    None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted            Yes     X     No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

 Material weakness(es) identified            Yes     X     No

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified
       that are not considered to be material 
       weakness(es)           Yes     X     None reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are 
       required to be reported in accordance
       with section 2 CFR-200.516(a)             Yes     X     No

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster

14.218 CDBG Block Grants/Entitlement Grants
Dollar threshold used to distinguish.
between type A and type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee      X      Yes          No



City of Coeur d’Alene

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
September 30, 2021
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Section II - Findings – Financial Statement Audit

We noted no findings relating to the Financial Statement Audit which are required to be reported in 
accordance with generally accepted Government Auditing Standards.

Section III - Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Award Programs Audit

We noted no findings relating to the Federal Awards Programs, which are required to be reported in 
accordance with generally accepted Government Auditing Standards.

Section IV – Summary of Prior Year Audit Findings Relating to Federal Awards

No prior year audit findings relating to Federal Awards.
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CITY OF
COEUR D’ALENE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

A financial statement audit is 
required by Idaho State Statutes

Primary

purpose:

Assures that the financial 
statements, in all material respects, 
fairly state the financial position as 
of a certain date.

Statements conform with GAAP 
(generally accepted accounting 
principles) and Governmental 
GAAP
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CITY OF
COEUR D’ALENE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
AUDIT FOR THE
YEAR ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

Independent Auditor’s Report on Financial 
Statements - Unmodified Opinion (clean)
(pages 1-2)

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on 
an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards  
- Unmodified Opinion (pages 94-95)

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for 
Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over 
Compliance in Required by the Uniform Guidance 
- Unmodified Opinion (pages 96-97) 
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GENERAL FUND
Fund Balance Classifications
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WHY IS A 
FUND 

BALANCE 
IMPORTANT?

Revenue stream is not consistent month to month (property 
taxes received in July and January)
Revenue stream is not consistent month to month (property 
taxes received in July and January)

Provide prudent resources to meet unexpected emergencies 
(recessions) and protect against catastrophic events
Provide prudent resources to meet unexpected emergencies 
(recessions) and protect against catastrophic events

Meet uncertainties of State and Federal fundingMeet uncertainties of State and Federal funding

Protect the City from unnecessary borrowingProtect the City from unnecessary borrowing

Helps ensure a credit rating that would qualify the City for 
lower interest costs (in case of needed borrowing)
Helps ensure a credit rating that would qualify the City for 
lower interest costs (in case of needed borrowing)
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The Government Finance Officers Association 
recommends at a minimum, that governments, maintain an 
unassigned fund balance in their general fund of no less 
than two months of regular general fund operating 
revenues or regular general fund operating 
expenditures.  

CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE
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CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE
AUDIT FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

PROPRIETARY FUNDS - FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

• WATER FUND 

• OPERATING REVENUE INCREASED BY $1.2M A 19% INCREASE 
FROM THE PRIOR YEAR.

• OPERATING EXPENSES INCREASED BY $152K A 2% INCREASE 
FROM THE PRIOR YEAR.

• WASTEWATER FUND

• OPERATING REVENUE INCREASED BY $1.47M A 13% INCREASE 
FROM THE PRIOR YEAR

• OPERATING EXPENSES INCREASED BY $141K A 2% INCREASE 
FROM THE PRIOR YEAR.
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QUESTIONS?



ANNOUNCEMENTS 



Memo to Council 
 
 
 
 
DATE:  May 16, 2022 
 
RE:  Appointment to Boards/Commissions/Committees 
 
The following appointments are presented for your consideration for the June 7, 2022, 
Council Meeting: 
 

MIKE WOOD Pedestrian and Bicycle Advisory Committee 
(Appointment) 

 
JEF LEMMON Design Review Commission (Re-Appointment) 

 
 
The data sheets are attached and a hard copy has been placed by your mailboxes. 
  
Sincerely, 
 
 
Sherrie Badertscher 
Executive Assistant 
 
cc:   Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
 Hilary Anderson, Historic Preservation Commission Liaison 
 Monte McCully, Pedestrian and Bicycle Advisory Committee Liaison 
  



CONSENT CALENDAR 



 

 
 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE, IDAHO, 

HELD AT THE LIBRARY COMMUNITY ROOM 
 

May 17, 2022 
 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Coeur d’Alene met in a regular session of said Council at 
the Coeur d’Alene City Library Community Room May 17, 2022 at 6:00 p.m., there being 
present the following members: 
 
James Hammond, Mayor 
  
Woody McEvers  ) Members of Council Present 
Christie Wood   )  
Dan Gookin    )  
Amy Evans        )   
Kiki Miller        )    
Dan English    ) 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Hammond called the meeting to order. 
 
INVOCATION:  Pastor Steven Findley with the Church of Christ at Coeur d’Alene provided 
the invocation. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Councilmember McEvers led the pledge of allegiance. 
 
ELEVATE ACADEMY NORTH OPENING:  Marita Diffenbaugh, Principal and Tony Prka, 
Vice-Principal with Elevate Academy North presented a brief overview of “Elevate Academy 
North” stating that over the past (3) three years they have been working with the community to 
open this school. Explaining that this school is a combination of a middle school, high school, 
and a technical career school. The purpose is to bring students hope, opportunity, and 
community. The students they are seeking to support are the ones that have not found success in 
traditional school. The school is located south of Highway 41 and Prairie Avenue in Post Falls 
and will serve students in the surrounding areas of Hayden, Coeur d’Alene, and Post Falls. There 
are 240 students currently enrolled for its  August of 2022 opening. Mayor Hammond asked if 
the school is chartered through the state, with Ms. Diffenbaugh responding that they are 
chartered through the State Idaho Charter Commission. Councilmember Wood asked what CTE 
programs they offer and if the curriculum aligns with KTEC and the High Schools in the case 
students transfer? Ms. Diffenbaugh explained that the first year will be 6th through 10th grade on 
year (3) they will offer grades 6th through 12th. The curriculum offered is hands on experience in 
production and service industries in hopes students will earn a certification prior to graduating. 
Some examples of the curriculum offered include  culinary arts, automated manufacturing, 
construction, public safety, and business entrepreneurship with hopes to  offer aerospace and 
aviation in the future. 
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PUBLIC COMMENTS:   
 
Shirley Whitehead Freeman, moved from Oregon to Coeur d’ Alene in 2005, stated she bought 
her house at 3rd and Hazel Avenue from Troy Tymesen and also a boathouse located at lot 6 
Coeur d’ Alene Lake from Clark’s Jewelers. Her grandfather clause was taken away for the 
boathouse and the police acted like it was her fault the boat was falling apart she stated the other 
boats on the lake go too fast which damaged her boat and made it unlivable.  Ms. Whitehead 
Freeman explained that a note was left not to enter the unsafe boathouse and stated she was 
arrested when she was on the boat working to repair the damage. Two and a half years ago the 
3rd Street house burnt down and Neil Foster of Prime Builder bid on the project with a 
completion date of December of 2020. Ms. Whitehead Freeman stated the city is understaffed 
because the building permit has not been approved yet for the 3rd Street property.  
 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMENTS:  
 
Mayor Hammond requested the confirmation of the appointment of Shannon Sardell to the 
Historic Preservation Commission and Mary Lee Ryba to the Arts Commission. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Evans, seconded by McEvers to appoint Shannon Sardell to the Historic 
Preservation Commission and Mary Lee Ryba to the Arts Commission. 
Motion carried. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR:  Motion by Miller, second by Evans, to approve the consent 
calendar.  

1. Approval of Council Minutes for the May 3, 2022, Council Meeting. 
2. Approval of Minutes from the May 9, 2022, General Service/Public Works Committee 

Meeting. 
3. Setting of the General Service/Public Works Committee Meeting for May 23, 2022. 
4. Approval of Bills as Submitted. 
5. Approval of Financial Report. 
6. Resolution No. 22-023: A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE, 

KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO APPROVING THE FOLLOWING: A REQUEST TO 
APPROVE THE DESTRUCTION OF RECORDS OF THE POLICE AND 
MUNICIPAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY’S 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE; THE PURCHASE OF A LEMUR S DRONE 
FOR THE POLICE DEPARTMENT; CHANGE ORDER NOS. 1, 3, 4, AND 5 TO THE 
AGREEMENT WITH PETRA, INC., FOR THE NEW SEWER COLLECTION 
BUILDING FOR THE WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT AND GRANT OF 
EASEMENT TO BEAR WATERFRONT, LLC, FOR A ROAD AND PARKING 
EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS, AND PARKING, OVER AND UNDER CITY 
PROPERTY NEAR TILFORD LANE AND N. BEEBE BLVD. 

 
ROLL CALL:  Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye.  
Motion Carried. 
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QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING:  A-3-22 - A +/- 3.2 ACRE PROPOSED 
ANNEXATION FROM COUNTY AG SUBURBAN TO CITY R-12; LOCATION: 3511 & 
3522 N. 15TH; APPLICANT: 15TH STREET INVESTMENTS, LLC. 
 
STAFF REPORT:  Associate Mike Behary explained that the applicant 15TH  Street 
Investments, LLC. is requesting annexation of 3.91 acres zoned from County Agricultural-
Suburban to City R-12 (Residential 12 units/acre). The applicant has requested R-12 zone for the 
site and has applied for a PUD and a 16-lot subdivision, designed for duplex units. The applicant 
is proposing that the 16 proposed buildable lots will have access to a private road within the 
development and the private road will have a single access connection to 15th Street. Mr. Behary 
noted that there are four findings required for the annexation as follows: that the request is or is 
not in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan policies; that public facilities and utilities are 
or are not available and adequate for the proposed use (she noted that stormwater will be 
addressed as the annexation develops and the applicant will be required to submit a landscape 
plan for approval to prevent double access); that the physical characteristics of the site do or do 
not make it an acceptable request at this time; and that the proposal would or would not 
adversely affect the surrounding neighborhood with regard to traffic, neighborhood character 
and/or existing land uses.  He presented the surrounding zoning, land uses, and applicable 
Comprehensive Plan objectives and provided staff input regarding the finding categories 
including traffic.   
   
DISCUSSION:  Councilmember McEvers asked what is an auto court, with Mr. Behary stating 
that it is like an RV Park which is allowed in the R-12 zone but not allowed in the place type 
future land use plan. Councilmember English asked for clarification if the property is a county 
pocket surrounded by the city and if there are still two parcels to the north and south that are still 
county? Mr. Behary responded that is correct. Councilmember Gookin asked if the setbacks  for 
front yard 20’, side yards 10’, and rear 25’ would be enforced? Mr. Behary stated if they did 
straight zoning without a PUD and built a standard subdivision those setbacks would apply; 
however, if it is a PUD, it  could allow for different setbacks. Mr. Behary stated the applicant 
does have an application for a PUD that is scheduled on the Planning Commission agenda for 
June 14, 2022. The request is for duplex housing 16 lots and 32 units and the PUD would modify 
the setbacks. Councilmember Gookin asked if the road was private and if the Fire Department 
approved it? Mr. Behary noted that  tonight’s discussion is in regards to the zoning and 
annexation.  The Fire Department will provide comments at the  PUD hearing in June. 
 
Mayor Hammond opened public comment with the clerk swearing in those who gave testimony. 
 
APPLICANT: Drew Dittman, Lake City Engineering, Coeur d’Alene, stated he is representing 
the owner and that the requested annexation parcel is a county pocket surrounded by the city, 
located off of 15th Street and the request is to annex (2) two of the (6) six parcels. Mr. Dittman 
stated that the proposed zoning is for R-12 and is a good fit based on the adjacent surrounding R-
12 zoning and within the comprehensive plan, it is designated as compact neighborhood and 
mixed-use low which are both compatible with the R-12 zoning designation.  
 
Councilmember Gookin asked what is in the southeast corner of the property currently? Mr. 
Dittman responded there is a home, which they intend to keep. Councilmember Gookin said he 



4 

 
 

 Council Minutes May 17, 2022                 Page               

has concerns about a fire truck access to the property on the private road. Mr. Dittman stated 
tonight’s meeting is to discuss the annexation, with  the City Attorney, Randy Adams, adding 
that the Fire Department will address any concerns at the Planning Commission meeting for the 
PUD and subdivision request in June.  Mr. Dittman stated this project has had a project review 
meeting and the Fire Department has reviewed it with no concerns at this time. Councilmember 
Gookin asked what was the reasoning for the PUD was, with Mr. Dittman stating it will allow 
for different lot sizes and configurations and reduced side yard setbacks to 5 feet. The front and 
rear yard setbacks would not be reduced. Councilmember Gookin asked if density would be 
increased? Mr. Dittman stated it is not permitted to increase density through a PUD request. 
Councilmember Miller stated that within the application narrative one of the items sighted was 
community identity and that this request provides affordable low income or workforce housing, 
and asked for clarification.   Mr. Dittman replied that it was not and explained that it is hard to 
determine what affordable is; however,  through the PUD process it allows for a more affordable 
housing product through private streets and reduced setbacks and that is the intent of this request 
to provide a product that will meet the needs of the community.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: Cody Funk, Coeur d’Alene signed up in favor and did not speak.  
 
MOTION:  Motion by Gookin, seconded by Evans to approve A-3-22 - A +/- 3.2 acre proposed 
annexation from County Ag Suburban to City R-12; Location: 3511 & 3522 N. 15th; Applicant: 
15th Street Investments, LLC., and to develop the necessary Findings and Order.  
 
DISCUSSION: Councilmember Gookin stated he is concerned with the 5-foot setback between 
the houses but it is a good proposal and is in support. Councilmember Miller stated we could do 
more and need to continually try to make an effort to control the occupancy of the product we are 
increasing and that is the only way we are going to address this housing crisis.  
 
ROLL CALL:  Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye. 
Motion Carried. 
 
QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING:  ZC-1-22 - A PROPOSED ZONE CHANGE FROM R-12 
TO R-17; LOCATION: 525 E. MCFARLAND AVENUE; APPLICANT:  BETHEL 
BAPTIST CHURCH, INC. 
 
STAFF REPORT: Senior Planner Sean Holm presented the staff report, including a review of 
surrounding land use and zoning, Comprehensive Plan policies for consideration, physical 
characteristics, and neighborhood character.  He noted that the subject property is located north 
of 4th Street I-90 off-ramp, west of 7th Street, south of Borah Elementary School, commonly 
known as 525 E. McFarland Avenue.  Mr. Holm noted that the following findings will need to be 
determined:  that this proposal (is) (is not) in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan; that 
public facilities and utilities (are) (are not) available and adequate for the proposed use;  that the 
physical characteristics of the site (do) (do not) make it suitable for the request at this time; that 
the proposal (would) (would not) adversely affect the surrounding neighborhood  with regard to 
traffic, neighborhood character, (and) (or) existing land uses.  Staff reviewed these findings and 
find they are adequate to meet this request.  
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DISCUSSION:  Councilmember McEvers asked if city taxes are collected since this is church 
property? Mr. Holm stated it is his understanding that religious institutions do not pay taxes and 
would be a question for the applicant. Councilmember Gookin asked if this is (2) two lots they 
are joining into (1) one lot, with  Mr. Holms stating there are (2) two parcels that share a 
property line down the center. Councilmember Gookin asked why on the map the parcels are 
different colors. Mr. Holm explained the Future Land Use Map shows the current use which the 
parcel to the east in blue is the civic use (church) and the parcel to the west in yellow is a parking 
lot. Councilmember Wood asked what the potential density would be? Mr. Holm stated the 
current zoning is R-12, which requires a minimum lot size of 7,000 feet with 50 foot of frontage 
and  would be able to have  6 duplex lots, yielding 12 units. If the lots are consolidated and 
zoned R-17 they could get up to 23 total multi-family units at 2,500 sq feet per lot. 
Councilmember Wood asked if Borah Elementary was contacted to see if there would be any 
impact on the school? Mr. Holm said they had been informed and no comments were received. 
Councilmember Miller asked how the parking lot would be affected for the church. Mr. Hohm 
explained if the zone change were approved the church would retain 82 stalls which is 67 in 
excess of the 15 stalls that are required for the church use.  
 
APPLICANT: Neil McClellan spoke on behalf of Bethel Baptist Church Inc., stating  the 
current taxes are $5.74 per lot.  In regards to the concern of traffic, it was observed that on the 
southside of the street there are no cars currently. This property is an urban neighborhood and 
fits the walkability requirement, is close to the school, and has parks within a mile. The intent is 
to combine the two properties and sell them as one parcel to build a possible apartment complex.    
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Mayor Hammond opened public comments, with none being heard, 
public comments were closed.  
 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 22-1004 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ACT OF THE CITY OF COEUR 
D’ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, KNOWN AS ORDINANCE NO. 1691, 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, BY CHANGING THE 
FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY FROM R-12 TO R-17, SAID PROPERTY 
BEING DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS, TO WIT: 525 E. MCFARLAND AVENUE; 
REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES AND PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT 
HEREWITH; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDE FOR THE 
PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THIS ORDINANCE AND AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE HEREOF. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by McEvers, seconded by Wood, to dispense with the rule and read Council 
Bill No. 22-1004 once by title only.  
 
ROLL CALL:  Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye. 
Motion carried. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by McEvers, seconded by Evans, to adopt Council Bill No. 22-1004. 
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ROLL CALL:  Evans Aye; Miller No; McEvers Aye; Gookin No; English Aye; Wood Aye.   
Motion carried. 
 
LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARING: V-22-02, VACATION OF A PORTION OF 
MOUNTAIN AVENUE RIGHT-OF-WAY ADJOINING THE NORTHERLY 
BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 13, BLOCK 24 OF THE LAKE SHORE ADDITION PLAT. 
 
STAFF REPORT:  City Engineer Chris Bosley noted that the applicant, Mathew and Nichole 
Piekarski, are requesting the vacation of a portion of right-of-way adjoining the northerly 
boundary line of Lot 13, Block 24 of the Lake Shore Addition plat (1104 E. Mountain Avenue).  
The requested right-of-way was originally dedicated to the City of Coeur d’Alene in 1907.  The 
purpose of this request is to be able to meet set back requirements to accommodate a future 
remodel of the existing garage. The right-of-way can be incorporated into the development of the 
adjoining property.   Therefore, the vacation of the portion of right-of-way adjoining the parcel 
would not impact the City and would be a benefit to the property owner, and add 852 square feet 
to county tax rolls.  Mr. Bosley noted that he sent out 41 certified mailings and received 6 
comments with 5 in favor and 1 neutral.  
 
DISCUSSION: Councilmember McEvers asked if sidewalks are currently on Mountain Avenue, 
with Mr. Bosley stating there are no sidewalks. Councilmember McEvers asked if sidewalks 
would be required if a shop/garage is built? Mr. Bosley stated it is required to add sidewalks if 
you are within 300 feet of another sidewalk when a structure is added.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Mayor Hammond opened public comments, with none being heard, 
public comments were closed.  
 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 22-1005 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, VACATING A PORTION OF 
MOUNTAIN AVENUE RIGHT-OF-WAY LOCATED IN THE LAKE SHORE 
ADDITION AS RECORDED IN BOOK “B” OF PLATS, PAGE 128, INSTRUMENT 
#27341, RECORDS OF KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS 
THAT STRIP OF LAND ADJOINING THE NORTHERLY BOUNDARY OF LOT 13, 
BLOCK 24 OF THE LAKE SHORE ADDITION; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES 
AND PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A 
SUMMARY OF THIS ORDINANCE AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Evans, seconded by McEvers, to dispense with the rule and read Council 
Bill No. 22-1005 once by title only.  
 
ROLL CALL:  Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye.  
Motion carried. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Evans, seconded by McEvers, to adopt Council Bill No. 22-1005. 
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ROLL CALL:  Miller Aye; McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye.  
Motion carried. 
 
LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARING:  V-22-03, VACATION OF A PORTION OF 
VENEER ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY ADJOINING THE SOUTHWESTERLY 
BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 1, BLOCK 4 OF THE ATLAS WATERFRONT FIRST 
ADDITION, AND LOTS 5, 6 & 7, BLOCK 6 OF THE ATLAS WATERFRONT SECOND 
ADDITION. 
 
STAFF REPORT:  City Engineer Chris Bosley noted that the applicant, Ignite CDA, is 
requesting the vacation of a portion of right-of-way adjoining the southwesterly boundary line of 
Lot 1, Block 4 of the Atlas Waterfront First Addition, and Lot 5, 6 & 7, Block 6 of the Atlas 
Waterfront Second Addition.  The requested right-of-way was originally dedicated to the City of 
Coeur d’Alene in 2020.  Due to the planned wall construction that is a part of the Atlas 
Waterfront Second Addition, the wall would be located in the Veneer Road right-of-way.  This 
would have been addressed during the Atlas Waterfront First Addition plat, but the property to 
the northeast was not a part of the original plat.  This proposed right-of-way configuration is 
more practical and symmetrical now that this area, to the northeast, has been added to the Atlas 
Waterfront Second Addition Plat.  An easement will be granted to the City of Coeur d’Alene for 
future construction of the wall and the maintenance of the wall will be the responsibility of the 
Homeowners Association.  The vacation of the requested right-of-way would not have any 
financial impact on the City and would add approximately 946 square feet to the County tax roll.  
Although a minor amount, it would be a benefit to the municipality as tax revenue and to the 
land owner whose lots adjoin this strip of usable property.  Mr. Bosley noted that he sent out 6 
certified mailings with no comments returned.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Mayor Hammond opened public comments, with none being heard, 
public comments were closed.   
 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 22-1006 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, VACATING A PORTION OF 
VENEER ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY LOCATED IN THE ATLAS WATERFRONT FIRST 
ADDITION AS RECORDED IN BOOK L OF PLATS, PAGE 519, RECORDS OF 
KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS THAT STRIP OF 
LAND ADJOINING THE SOUTHWESTERLY BOUNDARY OF LOT 1, BLOCK 4 OF 
THE ATLAS WATERFRONT FIRST ADDITION, AND LOTS 5, 6, AND 7, BLOCK 6 
OF THE ATLAS WATERFRONT SECOND ADDITION; REPEALING ALL 
ORDINANCES AND PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE, AND PROVIDING FOR THE 
PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THIS ORDINANCE AND AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE HEREOF. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Evans, seconded by Wood, to dispense with the rule and read Council 
Bill No. 22-1006 once by title only.  
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ROLL CALL:  McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye.  
Motion carried. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Evans, seconded by Wood, to adopt Council Bill No. 22-1006. 
 
ROLL CALL:  McEvers Aye; Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye.  
Motion carried. 
 
LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARING:  V-22-04, VACATION OF A PORTION OF ATLAS 
ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY ADJOINING THE EASTERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 1 
& 2, BLOCK 1 OF THE ATLAS WATERFRONT FIRST ADDITION. 
 
STAFF REPORT:  City Engineer Chris Bosley noted that the applicant, Atlas Mill 10/12 
Investment LLC, is requesting the vacation of a portion of right-of-way adjoining the easterly 
boundary line of Lot 1 & 2, Block 1 of the Atlas Waterfront First Addition.  The requested right-
of-way was originally dedicated to the City of Coeur d’Alene in 2020.  The purpose of this 
request is to vacate the unused portion of right-of-way along the west side of Atlas Road.  This 
vacation allows the developer to construct concrete stairs and a retaining wall on private 
property, rather than within the City right-of-way.  The right-of-way can be incorporated into the 
development of the adjoining property. Therefore, the vacation of the portion of right-of-way 
adjoining the parcel would not impact the City and would be a benefit to the property owner, and 
add 4,142 square feet to county tax rolls.  Mr. Bosley noted that he sent out 10 certified mailings 
with no comments returned.   
 
DISCUSSION:  Councilmember Miller asked if the streets, curbs, and gutters are already in, 
with Mr. Bosley stating that they are in place. Councilmember McEvers asked if this is currently 
the right-of-way for the trail and if this proposal is a trade for the westside of the trail? Mr. 
Bosley explained that it is and stated it runs down the west property line of the entry to the 
development and the border of the adjacent development to the west. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Mayor Hammond opened public comments, with none being heard, 
public comments were closed.   
 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 22-1007 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, VACATING A PORTION OF 
ATLAS ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY LOCATED IN THE ATLAS WATERFRONT FIRST 
ADDITION AS RECORDED IN BOOK L OF PLATS, PAGE 519, RECORDS OF 
KOOTENAI COUNTY, GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS THAT STRIP OF LAND 
ADJOINING THE EASTERLY BOUNDARY OF LOT 1 AND LOT 2, BLOCK 1 OF 
SAID PLAT; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES AND PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN 
CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A SUMMARY OF THIS ORDINANCE 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF.                 
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MOTION:  Motion by McEvers, seconded by English, to dispense with the rule and read 
Council Bill No. 22-1007 once by title only.  
 
ROLL CALL:  Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye.  
Motion carried. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by McEvers, seconded by English, to adopt Council Bill No. 22-1007. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Gookin Aye; English Aye; Wood Aye; Evans Aye; Miller Aye; McEvers Aye. 
Motion carried. 
 
RECESS:  Motion by Gookin, seconded by McEvers to recess to June 2, 2022, at 9:00 A.M. in 
the Library Community Room, located at 702 E. Front Avenue for a Pre-Budget Workshop.    
Motion carried. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:36 p.m. 
 
 
        _____________________________ 
      James Hammond, Mayor  
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________ 
Kelley Setters 
Deputy, City Clerk  
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May 23, 2022 
GENERAL SERVICES/PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 

MINUTES 
12:00 p.m., Library Community Room 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS  STAFF  
Council Member Woody McEvers, Chairperson Juanita Knight, Senior Legal Assistant 
Council Member Kiki Miller Randy Adams, City Attorney 
Council Member Dan Gookin Renata McLeod, Municipal Service Director  
 Terry Pickel, Water Department Director  
 Bill Greenwood, Parks & Recreation Director  
 Chief Lee White, Police Department  
 Troy Tymesen, City Administrator  
 
Item 1.  Approval of a Public Comments Policy.  
 
Municipal Services Director Renata McLeod is requesting (1) Council approve a policy for governing public 
comment at meetings of Council and other City commissions and committees; (2) establish a policy of 
procedure that every motion made at City meetings requires a second in order to move it forward for further 
discussion and a vote.  Mrs. McLeod said this is a continued discussion from the May 9th GS/PW meeting. In 
Mrs. McLeod’s staff report she explained that in December 2020, staff presented a proposed policy for public 
comment to both Council sub-committees. Feedback at that time requested additional clarity in the policy that 
comments be focused on current meeting agenda items or matters of public interest, confirmation of a 3-
minute maximum, and application to all public meetings where public comments are allowed.  At the second 
sub-committee meeting, requests were made to remove the requirement that public comment must be 
related to the current agenda, and that proposed rules relating to back and forth discussions and complaints 
be further developed.  Concern was expressed about preventing relevant public comment. Council took no 
final action on the proposed policy. Mayor Hammond has requested a policy be brought back for discussion. In 
consultation with the City Attorney’s office, it is recommended that the City should have a formal policy if the 
City wants to impose any restrictions and/or limitations on public comment. Additionally, the Mayor would like 
Council to have a formal rule of procedure that a motion requires a second to move it forward for further 
discussion and a vote. Currently, there is no City rule or State law which requires a second in order to move a 
motion forward for discussion and a vote. The Council has traditionally followed such procedure, but it 
currently is not legally required. The proposed policy was presented at the May 9, 2022 General 
Services/Public Works subcommittee meeting.  Council provided some inputs, which have been reflected as 
potential alternate rules in the proposed policy.   
 
Councilmember Gookin said when this item came up in 2020 he thought it was a bad move and feels the same 
today. He will provide his comments at the full City Council meeting on June 7th.  
 
Councilmember Miller said she agrees that this needs to be discussed at the full City Council meeting. She said 
there should be some guidelines and policies regarding these matters but is not in agreement with some the 
proposed policies. 
 
Councilmember McEvers said after being on the Council for so many years he’s happy with how things are. He 
said he knows things get kind of weird sometimes but that’s when they have the most fun. He said it doesn’t 
seem like anything is real pressing. Sometimes people get a little out of sorts with the Council but he feels the 
Mayor controls the crowd well and it just boils down to giving respect to others.    
 
Forwarded, without recommendation, to the full City Council for consideration.  
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Item 2.  Approval of Change Order No. 1 in the Amount of $248,325.87, and an Amendment to the 
  Construction Contract with La Riviere, Inc., for the Water Transmission Main Project Along 
  the Centennial Trail. 
(Consent Resolution) 
 
Water Department Director Terry Pickel is requesting Council approve a proposed Change Order in the amount 
of $248,325.87, amending the contract with La Riviere, Inc., for installation of a new 18” water transmission 
main along the Centennial Trail. Mr. Pickel explained in his staff report that on November 16, 2021, City 
Council approved a construction contract with LaRiviere, Inc., to move water from the Atlas Well to the 
General Zone at Riverstone Dr. and Seltice Way. The City received a permit for construction from ITD with no 
conditions. Water Department staff later received a notification from Chris Bosley, City Engineer, that he had 
been informed of the potential for considerable widening of I-90 from Atlas Road to Sherman Avenue. This 
included potential encroachment into the existing Centennial Trail that could require relocation of the trail. 
This forced staff to direct the project engineer to investigate moving the water line project south out of the 
expected I-90 future encroachment. Discussion ensued regarding additional costs related to the planned 
realignment. Funding for the proposed project is included in the 2021-22 FY budget at $1,500,000.00, to be 
paid out of Capitalization Fees. Due to the unforeseen I-90 reconstruction coming up in the next few years, 
staff decided to move the planned water line location closer to the south fence along the trail. La Riviere, Inc., 
has submitted a change order request of an additional $248,325.87 in addition to the current contract price of 
$890,713.50, for a total construction cost of $1,139,039.37. Mr. Pickel noted that this is still under the planned 
budget and funding will be carried over into the next fiscal year budget as the project may not be entirely 
completed by September 30th. As previously mentioned, potential construction cost changes associated with 
the realignment were discussed. The contractor originally requested an additional $476,337.75 in a change 
order for the additional work. Through negotiations with the contractor and receipt of further information 
from the ITD Engineering firm, staff was able to reduce the proposed additional cost to the currently requested 
$248,325.87. The project will still include all portions of the original contract, some additional tree removal, a 
new south fence along this section of the trail, and relocation of a 25-foot-deep swale to accommodate the 
main and new trail alignment to meet I-90 widening expectations.  
 
Councilmember Miller asked what area this Change Order is for. Mr. Pickel said it is for the transmission main 
from Atlas Road to Riverstone Drive. Councilmember Miller asked if this Change Order is for an extension on 
the project or in between the project they are already doing. Mr. Pickel said this is Phase 3 of the 3-phase 
project that was planned a couple of years ago. Councilmember Miller commented that this is not something 
that could be extended onto the end of the project and re-bid out for someone else to do. Mr. Pickel said no, 
it’s part of this project.  
 
Councilmember Gookin congratulated Mr. Pickel negotiating and staying within budget.  
 
Councilmember McEvers asked Mr. Pickel why he doesn’t just drop the project area down to Seltice Way. Mr. 
Pickel said they did look at that, however, it was more cost effective and less impact to traffic to go along the 
Centennial Trail.   
 
MOTION: by Gookin, seconded by Miller, to recommend that Council approve Chane Order No. 1 in 
the amount of $248,325.87, and an amendment to the Construction contract with LaRiviere, Inc., for 
the Water Transmission Main project along the Centennial Trail. Motion Carried.  
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Item 3.   Approval of an Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Jeff Crowe dba 
  Bunkhouse Media, Amending the Scope of Services and Compensation. 
(Consent Resolution) 
 
Municipal Director Renata McLeod is requesting Council approve an Amendment to the Professional Services 
Agreement Scope of Services with Jeff Crowe (d/b/a Bunkhouse Media) for the City’s television 
operation/production services and compensation. Mrs. McLeod explained in her staff report that the City’s 
current contract with Mr. Crowe was entered into on June 18, 2019, for an initial term ending September 
2020. The agreement allowed for four additional one-year terms, ending September 2024.  Mr. Crowe has 
been providing CDATV Channel services since 2007.  The City has received many accolades for its professional 
Public Education Government Channel programming and has grown its partnerships with North Idaho College, 
City of Hayden, Panhandle Health District, and the School District under the leadership of Mr. Crowe.  Over the 
years, Mr. Crowe has proven to be a leader in the video industry and has assisted several city partners, such as 
the School District and Kootenai County with establishing their production facilities. Throughout the past 
couple years of ebbing and flowing with COVID, we have found several areas that were not covered in the 
original scope of service.  Therefore, staff is requesting an amendment to the Agreement to include the new 
scope of service, which includes a monthly increase in the compensation by $391.00, which equals $4,692.00 
annually, starting May 1, 2022. This is an increase for this fiscal year of $1,955, which will be covered by 
savings from other line items within the Municipal Services Department budget.  The Annual cost will be 
included in next year’s budget proposal.  All other parts of the agreement remain the same.  
 
Councilmember Gookin asked Mrs. McLeod why the odd number of $391 instead of rounding up to $400. Mrs. 
McLeod said that was just the negotiated amount her and Mr. Crowe came up with. Councilmember Gookin 
said he’d support rounding it up to $400.   
 
MOTION: by Miller, seconded by Gookin, to recommend that Council approve an amendment to the 
Professional Services Agreement with Jeff Crowe dba Bunkhouse Media, amending the Scope of 
Services and Compensation, and increase the monthly compensation to $400.00 instead of $391.00. 
Motion Carried.  
 
 
Item 4.   Approval of a Lease Agreement with Paul Mason for a Mobile Food Concession at Atlas Mill 
  Park. 
(Consent Resolution) 
 
Parks & Recreation Director Bill Greenwood is requesting Council approve the proposal received, through RFP 
selection, from Paul Mason for food concessions at Atlas Park and authorize staff to negotiate with possible 
food vendors for the remaining three locations. Mr. Greenwood said staff advertised for the (4) four locations 
at Atlas Park as they did for the (1) location at Independence Point site. They received six or seven RFPs for 
Independence Point and only one for Atlas Park. Mr. Mason will serve tacos. Mr. Greenwood further explained 
in his staff report that the fee for each agreement will be a minimum of $5,000.00 per year for three years, 
with the option to renew for an additional three years for each vendor. The one proposal (Paul Mason) that 
was received on May 6th is for $6,000.00 per year. Food vendors provide a service to the public that we do not 
provide. It is in a good location in a busy area and visible to daily park visitors and new visitors.  
 
Councilmember Miller asked where the RFPs are being advertised. Mr. Greenwood said normally it’s just the 
CDA Press. However, staff is rethinking about also including Facebook, Twitter, and other social media sources. 
He said he also spoke with a citizen who is in coffee sales who said she is going to spread the word to local 
food truck vendors. Councilmember Miller said she supports advertising on social media sources.  
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Councilmember Gookin asked, if a minimum of $5,000 was advertised, why is Mr. Mason paying $6,000. Mr. 
Greenwood said it’s because Mr. Mason thought he would be bidding against other people so he gave a higher 
bid to hopefully ensure he would be selected. Councilmember Gookin suggest the city cut him some slack and 
only charged $5,000 since he’s a small business who is taking a risk at this new location. Councilmember Miller 
said she thinks that is fair now that the cards are on the table.  
 
Councilmember McEvers asked the City Attorney Randy Adams if he has any comments with regard to 
charging $5,000 instead of $6,000. Mr. Adams said no, it’s a matter of contract and the Council can do what 
they want.  
 
Councilmember McEvers said he thought the (4) spots were to be used more for special events rather than all 
summer long. Mr. Greenwood said he’s thought about holding back on one of the bays for special events, 
however, he didn’t. He said it’s the risk the food vendors take knowing that there will be additional food 
vendors during special events. Mr. Greenwood said that the food vendor at Independence Point actually did 
better business during the special events even though additional food vendors were present.  Councilmember 
McEvers asked about beer and wine sales. Mr. Greenwood said Atlas Park is not set up for alcohol sales, 
however, further discussion may happen in the future. Councilmember McEvers said he also supports the 
$5,000 fee.  
 
MOTION: by Miller, seconded by Gookin, to recommend that Council approve the Lease Agreement 
with Paul Mason for a Mobile Food Concession at Atlas Mill Park, and reduce the proposed vendor fee 
from $6,000.00 to $5,000.00 per year. Motion Carried.  
 
 
Item 5.   Approval of a Lease Agreement with King Morton LLC, and KJ Watersports LLC, for the  
  Construction and Operation of Commercial Docks located near the Harbor Center. 
 
Parks & Recreation Director Bill Greenwood is requesting Council approve the selection of vendors, KJ 
Watersports and Hayden Paddleboard & Jet Ski from the RFP selection committee, to build the docks and 
operate a water-based recreation facility for the public at the City owned property along the Spokane River 
near the Harbor Center. Mr. Greenwood said they sent out RFPs for these docks. Four or five packets were 
picked up and only three were returned. The two being presented scored the highest. Mr. Greenwood, Monte 
McCully, and Scott Cranston scored these three independently of each other. Mr. Greenwood said safety in 
this location has been discussed. He said he reached out to the Kootenai County Sherriff’s Department who 
said there has been no reported accidents or incidents in this area. Mr. Greenwood said both these businesses 
encourage their clients to stay on the lake and not the river. Mr. Greenwood further explained in his staff 
report that the Third Street Boat Launch is one of the busiest boat launches in Idaho. The launch is extremely 
crowded with members of the public and water sport rental companies. The Parks and Recreation Department 
has a plan to reduce overcrowding on the 3rd Street Dock by entering into an agreement with commercial 
businesses to build a pair of commercial docks and operate two separate water-based recreation businesses 
on the Spokane River. Per the agreement, the businesses that were selected will each build a dock with 26 slips 
in the dock system at their cost. The highest scored business, KJ Watersports, will receive first choice on dock 
location and has agreed to a lease amount of $30,000 per year paid to the City for use of this property. The 
second highest scored business, Hayden Paddleboard & Jet Ski, will receive the second dock space and has 
agreed to a lease amount to the city of $20,000 per year. After the initial five-year period, the city would 
receive a minimum payment of $30,000 per year for the dock for the next five-year period. The renewal of this 
lease is optional every five years.  
 
Councilmember Miller said she recalls hearing about an accident on the river with a young girl and her 
grandfather. Mr. Greenwood said he asked about the area where the docks are going to be, not the entire 
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river. Mr. Greenwood added that it is his belief that the boat launch in Post Falls generates more traffic on the 
river than what the boat launches in Coeur d'Alene create. Councilmember Miller said she feels this is yet 
another opportunity for visitors rather than local citizens and doesn’t see how this benefits them as a whole. 
She also doesn’t not feel this would un-congests the boat ramp at 3rd Street. It’s just moving congestion to 
another location and opening up more congestion at the 3rd Street boat launch, which puts even more 
watercraft on the lake. Councilmember Miller said every year she brings up the idea of a non-motorized water 
trail that goes down the 3rd Street ramp and around Tubbs Hill, which has been largely ignored. This is a prefect 
way for citizens to access the lake who cannot afford to rent or own a boat.  Councilmember Miller said she is 
not for this proposal; she’s hopeful staff will consider her water trail proposal; and, if something was 
incorporated into this dock plan that a percentage of the slips were dedicated to local people on a lottery basis 
to be able to moor a boat there, it might change her mind about the proposal.   
 
Councilmember Gookin commented that he didn’t know this was such a political hot potato. He felt like 
Kootenai County Commissioner Fillios comments on the matter were an eye-opener. Councilmember Gookin 
said this item should go to the full City Council for discussion because this is something that will affect the rest 
of the river. Mr. Greenwood said the City’s Parks and Recreation Commission unanimously passed this item. 
He said this is a benefit to the citizens in that not everyone can afford to buy a boat. This gives citizens an 
opportunity to get on the lake without the monthly cost of owning a boat. So, it does provide a service to the 
citizens.   
 
Councilmember Miller asked Mr. Greenwood to gather statistics on the number of local citizens that rent boats 
vs visitors renting the boats and present the findings at the June 7th Council meeting.   
 
Forwarded, without recommendation, to the full City Council for consideration.  
 
 
Item 6.  Approval of Acceptance of a Donation in the Amount of $1,000.00, from Private Citizen 
  Robert Blansfield, to Assist with the Recently Approved Drone Purchase. 
(Consent Resolution) 
 
Police Chief Lee White is requesting approval to accept a $1,000 donation from Robert Blansfield to assist with 
the purchase of the drone that was recently approved by Council.  Chief White explained that on May 17, 2022 
the Council approved the purchase of a drone during their regular Council meeting. On May 18, the Police 
Department received a letter from Rathdrum resident, Robert Blansfield, who wants to donate $1,000 towards 
this purchase. Chief White said the total cost of the drone and related accessories was $14,995. He said the 
Police Department has adequate budget capacity due to vacancy savings to cover the cost of this purchase, 
however, this generous gift from a community member who wishes to show his support for local law 
enforcement is greatly appreciated. 
 
MOTION: by Gookin, seconded by Miller, to recommend that Council approve the Acceptance and 
Donation in the amount of $1,000.00, from private citizen Robert Blansfield, to assist with the recently 
approved drone purchase. Motion Carried. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 12:42 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Juanita Knight  
Senior Legal Assistant  
Recording Secretary 
 



 
Re:         Fireworks Stands 2022 
From:    Kelley Setters, Deputy City Clerk  
 
 

 

 Location  Operated by Distributor   

1 Albertsons  
220 Ironwood Dr 

 Andy Flournoy 
 23310 E Inlet  Dr  #9 
 Liberty Lake WA 99019  

TNT Fireworks  
S 104 Freya White Bldg #120B 
Spokane WA 99202  

X 

2 Fred Meyer  
560 W Kathleen  

Linda Morgan 
104 S Freya White Bldg Suite 120B 
Spokane WA 99202      

TNT Fireworks  
S 104 Freya White Bldg #120B 
Spokane WA 99202 

X 

3  Safeway 
101 W Neider 

Pamela Kyes 
104 S Freya White Bldg Suite 120B 
Spokane WA 99202  

TNT Fireworks 
S 104 Freya White Bldg  #120B 
Spokane WA 99202  

X 

4 Super 1 Foods 
305 W Kathleen  

Eric Campbell 
S 104 Freya White Bldg #120B  
Spokane WA 99202 

 TNT Fireworks 
S 104 Freya White Bldg #120B  
Spokane WA 99202 

X 

5 Walgreens  
225 W Appleway  

Kristin Liberty 
59 E Queen Ste 200 
Spokane WA 97202  

TNT Fireworks 
104 S Freya White Bldg  #120B 
Spokane WA 99202  

X 

6 Ramsey & 
Appleway 

Eric Campbell 
4316 Saw Blade Lane #105 
Coeur d Alene ID 83814  

TNT Fireworks  
104 S Freya White Bldg #120B 
Spokane WA 99202  

X 

7 CDA Town 
Center 101 E. 
Appleway 

Deborah Wright 
59 E Queen Ave Suite 200 
Spokane, WA 99207 

TNT Fireworks 
59 E. Queen Ave 
Spokane, WA 99207 

X 

8 Candle Light 
Christian 
Fellowship 
Church 

Rolling Thunder Fireworks 
5725 N Pioneer Dr 
CDA, ID 83815 

Winco Fireworks 
710 W Amidan Dr Blg 5X 
Ogden UT 84404 

X 

9 Lakeside Harvest 
Foods 

Kaher Momand 
1211 E Sherman Avenue 
Coeur d’ Alene, ID 83814 

TNT Fireworks 
PO Box 1318 
Florence, AL 35631 

X 

 



City of Coeur d'Alene

Coeur d'Alene
Municipal Services
Department

city Hall, 710 E. Mullan Avenue
Coeur d'Alene, ldaho 83814

(2081769-2229 or Fax (208)7 69-2237
ksetters@cdaid.org

I I Seating on Public Right of Way
'Enctoachmant Petmit and addilional insurance required

Phone Number:

OUTDOOR EATING FACILITY ENCROACHMENT APPLICATION

The applicataon

Valid March 17 - Nov 1 Annually
New applicalions or renewals with changes will be submitted to City Council for approval.

must be received in lhe Customer Service Center a minimum of seven (7) days prior to a City Council meeting
(first and third Tuesday oF each month) Paymeots are due with the application.

Please mark the appropriate seating location belo,v:

{- on Private Property

Name of Eating Establishment:

Applicant's Name Ll\
Contact Person:

Cell Phone:

5TA +eEN C\A -....-._-

Mailing

Physical Address:

Address: AL6 q 'rt4
Email

city/state/zip:

City/Statezip:_

Ctt

I5

Completed Application
Change in ownership or type of use?

Do you hold a current State of ldaho
Kootenai County and City of CDA alcohol license?

lf yes, on your State of ldaho alcohol license
do you have a rcstaurant designation?

ls anyone under the age of 21 allowed in the area inside
your establishment where alcohol is served?

I I Renewal
llYes-

Please specify
lox6

[]No

llNo

[]No

tK

Vvhat hours/days is the full menu available? Start l3.YiT eno-fh,t/L

t{
w@:gf

oaysftaloern- !3rra S,cnD,*-/ o
Ploaso su a proposed sit /seating plan, wtrich is subj.c-t to approval and includcs tho tollowing:

Show table sizes and chair placement, distance from building (side street 24, tables maximum).

1y(now Oistance to any tree, grate, bench, light post, bicycle rack, news rack, etc.

lqZWfrat is wiOtn of sidewalk from property tine to culb? - (o1 ',
1y/nease snwt location of refuse receptacle and disposal of cigarefte remains.

[ ] lf within the City sidewalk or City
additional insured ($'1,000,000).

[ ] lf within the City sidewalk or City

pr9p9rty, provide a Certificate of Liability lnsurance naming the City as
N/x

/operty, pomplete a signed encroachment application.
N/h
/ page 1 of3

2020 Form - Revised 1/15/20

\-
Phone Numbec
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CEMETERY LOT
TRANSFER / SALE / REPURCHASE

ROUTING FORM

REQUEST RECEIVED BY:

q
Department ame

REQUESTED BY:

le J2
Emplo ee Date

Pob'". p{,vk"lvn
Name

tgL? E -9"lAc. wa=u llon fr,'t 6t)< t-n 8<R-s-+
Address

Request is for
to

-

M/Repurchase of Lot(s)
E Transfer of Lots(s) from

Section: Q i V etoct: ltr t!icire(s): 

-, 
Lots(s): 5 3? ,

Lot(s) are located in: tr Forest Cemetery F Forest Cemetery Annex. (Riverview)
Copy must be attached: O Deed D Certificate of Sale
Requester is: E owner U executor E othelNote tl "executot" ot'olhef', affidavits ot authorization must be aftached.

Title Transfer Fee: $ Receipt No

Phone

ACCOUNTING DEPARTMENT completes the following

Accountant Signature l*--
D Attach original contract

Date tt -L-e 2-z

CEMETERY SUPERVISOR completes the following

The above-referenced Lot(s) is/are certified to be vacant {,ves n ruo

The owner(s) of record of the Lot(s) in the Cemetery Book of Deeds is listed as hhn {Y\i(klan
The purchase price of the Lot(s) when sold to the owner of record was $ lDf, ... per lot

Supervisor's Signature tiLrv(t Date

LEGAURECORDS completes the following

Quit Claim Deed(s) received: tr Yes tr No
Requester is authorized to execute claim: 0 Yes E No

I certify that all requirements for the transfer/salekepurchase of cemetery lot(s) have been met and recommend that the
transactjon be completed.

City Clerk's Signature Date

Council approved transfer/salekepurchase of above-referenced Lots(s) in regular session on. Date

Change of ownership noted in Book of Deeds: D Yes D No
Cemetery copy filed original and supporting documents retuned to City Clerk: tr Yes O No

Cemetery Supervisor's Signature Date

Revised: October 2021

c63d;-d'Arene
IDAHO

t

qEIIETEBYIUPEBVISQB completes the following



CERTIFICATE OF CONVEYANCE
CEMETERY LOT

In consideration of the palment of the tee established b1 resolution of the C'it1 Council.

the Ciqv ofCoeur d'Alene does hereby convey to

(the "O.,rner") the tbllo$ing lot(s) in thc

Section(s) t3lockl s.1 t+

Niche(s) , Lot(s) s37
according to the plat thereof, now on file and of record in the office ol the Kootenai County

Recorder, state ol ldaho.

This Certificate vests in the Owaer, and his or her heirs or assigns. a right in fee simple to

said lot(s) for the sole purpose ol interment. under the ordinances and regulations adopted by the

City Council as authorized by Idaho Code $ 50-320.

DATED this dax- of 20

B1

May or

AT'I'EST:

Renata Mcleod. City Cterk

2tv
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RESOLUTION NO. 22-024 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, 
IDAHO, APPROVING THE FOLLOWING: CHANGE ORDER NO. 1 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$248,325.87, AND AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT WITH LARIVIERE, INC., FOR A 
NEW 18” WATER TRANSMISSION MAIN ALONG THE CENTENNIAL TRAIL; 
AMENDMENT TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH JEFF CROWE 
D/B/A BUNKHOUSE MEDIA REGARDING THE SCOPE OF SERVICES AND 
COMPENSATION; LEASE AGREEMENT WITH PAUL MASON FOR A MOBILE FOOD 
CONCESSION AT ATLAS MILL PARK; AND ACCEPTANCE OF A DONATION TO THE 
POLICE DEPARTMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,000.00 FROM ROBERT BLANSFIELD 
TO ASSIST WITH THE RECENTLY APPROVED DRONE PURCHASE. 
         

WHEREAS, it has been recommended that the City of Coeur d’Alene enter into the 
agreements and take the other action listed below, pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth 
in the agreements and other documents attached hereto as Exhibits “A” through “D” and by 
reference made a part hereof as summarized as follows: 

 
A) Change Order No. 1 in the amount of $248,325.87, and Amendment to the 

contract with LaRiviere, Inc., for a new 18” water transmission main along the 
Centennial Trail;   

 
B) Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Jeff Crowe d/b/a 

Bunkhouse Media, regarding the Scope of Services and Compensation;  
 
C) Lease Agreement with Paul Mason for a Mobile Food Concession at Atlas Mill 

Park; 
 
D) Acceptance of a donation to the Police Department in the amount of $1,000.00 

from Robert Blansfield to assist with the recently approved drone purchase; and  
 
WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d’Alene and the 

citizens thereof to enter into such agreements and take the other action. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d’Alene that the 

City enter into agreements and take the other action for the subject matter, as set forth in 
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibits “A” through “D” and incorporated herein by 
reference, with the provision that the Mayor, City Administrator, and City Attorney are hereby 
authorized to modify said agreements and the other action, so long as the substantive provisions 
of the agreements and the other action remain intact. 
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BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Clerk be and they are hereby 
authorized to execute such agreements or other documents as may be required on behalf of the 
City. 
 

DATED this 7th day of June, 2022. 
   

 
                                        
                                   James Hammond, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
 
 
 
  
 
 Motion by      , Seconded by      , to adopt the foregoing resolution.   
  

ROLL CALL:  
 
 COUNCIL MEMBER ENGLISH Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER GOOKIN Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER EVANS Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER MCEVERS Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOD Voted        

 
       was absent. Motion      .  

 



PUBLIC WORKS/GENERAL SERVICES 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 

DATE:  May 23, 2022  
 
FROM: Terry Pickel, Water Department Director 
 
SUBJECT: Change order for construction of a new 18” Water Transmission Main along  
  the Centennial Trail. 
                        
 
DECISION POINT: Should City Council approve a proposed change order in the amount of 
$248,325.87, amending the contract with La Riviere, Inc., for installation of a new 18” water 
transmission main along the Centennial Trail? 
  
HISTORY:  On November 16, 2021, City Council approved a construction contract with 
LaRiviere, Inc., as the lowest responsive bidder for construction of a new 18” water transmission 
main to move water from the Atlas Well to the General Zone at Riverstone Dr. and Seltice Way. 
The City received a permit for construction from ITD with no conditions. Water Department staff 
later received a notification from Chris Bosley, City Engineer, that he had been informed of the 
potential for considerable widening of I90 from Atlas Road to Sherman Avenue. This included 
potential encroachment into the existing Centennial Trail that could require relocation of the trail. 
This forced staff to direct the project engineer to investigate moving the water line project south 
out of the expected I90 future encroachment. Discussion ensued regarding additional costs related 
to the planned realignment. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:  Funding for the proposed project is included in the 2021-22 FY 
budget at $1,500,000.00, to be paid out of Capitalization Fees. Due to the unforeseen I90 
reconstruction coming up in the next few years, staff decided to move the planned water line 
location closer to the south fence along the trail. La Riviere, Inc., has submitted a change order 
request of an additional $248,325.87 in addition to the current contract price of $890,713.50, for a 
total construction cost of $1,139,039.37. This is still under the planned budget and funding will be 
carried over into the next fiscal year budget as the project may not be entirely completed by 
September 30th. 
 
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS: The Centennial Trail Transmission Main will move water from 
the Atlas Well south to I90 and then east along the trail to the Riverstone Drive area where it will 
supply adequate water to the General Zone to meet peak demand. As previously mentioned, 
potential construction cost changes associated with the realignment were discussed. The contractor 
originally requested an additional $476,337.75 in a change order for the additional work. Through 
negotiations with the contractor and receipt of further information from the ITD Engineering firm, 
staff was able to reduce the proposed additional cost to the currently requested $248,325.87. The 
project will still include all portions of the original contract, some additional tree removal, a new 
south fence along this section of the trail, and relocation of a 25-foot-deep swale to accommodate 
the main and new trail alignment to meet I90 widening expectations. Additional easements from 
the adjacent property owners will ensure adequate protection of the new main.  



 
DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION:  City Council should approve a change order in 
the amount of $248,325.87, which will be in addition to the original bid price of $890,713.50, for 
a total contract price of $1,139,039.37, and an amendment to the current contract with La Riviere, 
Inc., for installation of a new 18” water transmission main along the Centennial Trail.  



CHANGE ORDER NO. 1
PROJECT: CDA Transmission Line - Centennial Trail
DATE pF ISSUANCE : 05/18/2022

STATE: Idaho
EFFECTIVE DATE : 05/18/2022

OWNER: City of CdA, Water Dept., 710 E. Mullan Avenue, Coeur d'Alene, ID 83814
CONTRACTOR : LaRiviere, Inc., 17564 N Dylan Ct, Rathdrum, ID 83835
ENGINEER: Welch, Comer & Associates, Inc. 330 E. Lakeside Ave., Ste. 101, Coeur d'Alene, Idaho 83814

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents:
(supplemental plans and specifications attached)

Item Description Change in Price
Item #1 - Alignment Changes $248, 325. 87

Change in Time
10

JUSTIFICATION:
SEE ATTACHED CHANGE SUPPORT SHEET

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:
Original Contract Price:

Base Bid $ 765, 215. 00
Add Alternates (1-2) $ 125, 498. 50

Total Original Contract Price $ 890,713.50

Previous Change Orders
Change Order No.
Change Order No.
Change Order No.

Net Changes from Previous Change Orders

Contract Price prior to this Change Order

Net Increase/Decrease of Alternates

Net Increase/Decrease of Change Order Items
Net Total Change Order Amount

$
$
$
$

$ 890,713.50

$
$

$
248, 325. 87
248,325.87

CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES da s or dates:

Original Contract Times
Substantial Completion:

Ready for Final Payment:

Previous Change Orders
Change Order No.
Change Order No.
Change Order No.

Net Changes from Previous Change Orders

Contract Times prior to this Change Order
Substantial Completion:
Ready for Final Payment:

Net Increase/Decrease of this Change Order

06/04/22
06/14/22

06/04/22
06/14/22

10

Contract Times with all approved Change Orders
Contract Price with all approved Change Orders $ 1, 139, 039.37 Substantial Completion:

Ready for Final Payment:

This document will become a supplement to the contract and all provisions will apply hereto.

RECOMMENDED (Engineer)-
B :

APPROVED (Owner):

B :

ACCEPTED (Contractor):
B :

Name/Title: f^^^ Co^^ f ^

Name/Title:

Name/Title:

Date:

Date:

Date:

06/14/22
06/24/22

. = l^ -L.

20220512 41314. 02 Centennial Trail PayReq-ChgOrd CO Cover-1
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$248,325.87

10

NEW PAY ITEMS

Pay Item Description Unit

Original 

Contract 

Qnty

Change 

Order 

Qnty

Resulting 

Contract 

Qnty Unit Price

Total (C.O. 

Qty x Unit 

Price)
CO1-301 Fence Demolition LF 0 2562.05 2562.05 $6.11 $15,654.13
CO1-302 Additional Clear/Grub LS 0 1 1 $25,737.63 $25,737.63
CO1-303 Temp. Construction Orange Fence LF 0 500 500 $6.18 $3,090.00
CO1-304 Temp. Security Fense at Landscape Store LF 0 500 500 $3.66 $1,830.00
CO1-1 Temp. Security Fense Mobe LS 0 1 1 $232.02 $232.02
CO1-305 Remove and Replace Pipe Racks EA 0 2 2 $672.53 $1,345.06
CO1-306 Remove Jersey Barrier and Concrete Pillar EA 0 2 2 $938.96 $1,877.92
CO1-307 Aboe Ground Utility Support EA 0 5 5 $864.01 $4,320.05
CO1-308 New 18-Inch CMP LF 0 143 143 $119.79 $17,129.97
CO1-309 Backfill Swale CY 0 2632 2632 $8.80 $23,161.60
CO1-310 Import Backfill TON 0 2986 2986 $16.50 $49,269.00
CO1-311 Construct New Swale CY 0 1250 1250 $6.86 $8,575.00

DESCRIPTION:

Payment will be made based on actual final quantities using the unit prices listed below. Includes: All equipment, 

materials and labor associated with change described above.

Additional days will be added as a result of this change.

CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER NO.1
TO

TRANSMISSION LINE - CENTENNIAL TRAIL

Item #1 - Alignment Changes

Waterline alignment from STA 100+87.95 through STA 126+50 is being shifted south from original project drawings to accommodate 

future expansion of I-90. In order to accommodate this shift, the work items listed below must be added to the Contractor's scope of 

work.

JUSTIFICATION:

NEGOTIATED PRICE:

CONTRACT TIMES:

The listed pay items cover all Work required to facilitate moving waterline from location shown in original plans to 8' north of the 

existing ITD fence along the centennial trail between STA 100+87.95 and 126+50 as shown in updated construction drawings dated 

5/18/2022 (attached). All costs listed below include all labor, equipment, and materials required to complete work listed in pay item 

description. No consideration will be given for any future requests for unit price increases due to future price escalation of raw 

materials.  

20220512 41314.02 Centennial Trail PayReq-ChgOrd CO  Support-1 

Welch, Comer & Associates, Inc.
Page 2 5/18/2022
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CO1-312 New Fence Standard LF 0 2062.05 2062.05 $27.54 $56,788.86
CO1-313 New Fence Security LF 0 500 500 $51.78 $25,890.00
CO1-314 Survey (Calculate Swale(s) Volume) LS 0 1 1 $3,415.04 $3,415.04
CO1-315 Superintendent HR 0 80 80 $125.12 $10,009.60

Subtotal $248,325.87

TOTAL NET CHANGE $248,325.87

20220512 41314.02 Centennial Trail PayReq-ChgOrd CO  Support-1 

Welch, Comer & Associates, Inc.
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CITY COUNCIL 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: JUNE 7, 2022 
 
FROM: RENATA MCLEOD, MUNICIPAL SERVICES DIRECTOR/CITY CLERK 
 
SUBJECT: CDA TV PRODUCTION SERVICES WITH BUNKHOUSE MEDIA 
 
 
DECISION POINT: 
 
Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement Scope of Services with Jeff Crowe (d/b/a 
Bunkhouse Media) for the City’s television operation/production services and compensation. 
 
HISTORY: 
 
The City’s current contract with Mr. Crowe was entered into on June 18, 2019, for an initial term 
ending September 2020.  The agreement allowed for four additional one-year terms, ending 
September 2024.  Mr. Crowe has been providing CDATV Channel services since 2007.  The City 
has received many accolades for its professional Public Education Government Channel 
programming and has grown its partnerships with North Idaho College, City of Hayden, Panhandle 
Health District, and the School District under the leadership of Mr. Crowe.  Over the years, Mr. 
Crowe has proven to be a leader in the video industry and has assisted several city partners, such 
as the School District and Kootenai County with establishing their production facilities.  
Throughout the past couple years of ebbing and flowing with COVID, we have found several areas 
that were not covered in the original scope of service.  Therefore, staff is requesting an amendment 
to the Agreement to include the new scope of service, which includes a monthly increase in the 
compensation by $400.00, which equals $4,800.00 annually, starting May 1, 2022.  
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:   
 
This is an increase for this fiscal year of $2000, which will be covered by savings from other line 
items within the Municipal Services Department budget.  The Annual cost will be included in next 
year’s budget proposal.  All other parts of the agreement remain the same.  
 
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS: 
 
By continuing to engage the services of Jeff Crowe, the City will continue its production 
professionalism and retains leadership for the future of the City’s television channel.   
 
DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement Scope of Services with Jeff Crowe (d/b/a 
Bunkhouse Media) for the City’s television operation/production services and compensation. 
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EXHIBIT “A” 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

The Consultant shall insure that all services relating to the operation of CDA-TV, are timely, specifically, 
but not limited to:  the live broadcast of City meetings including City Council, Planning Commission, Parks 
and Recreation Commission, General Services and Public Works.  Additional regular programs to include 
the Mayor’s show, Mayor’s State of the City Address, ignite CDA Board Meetings, and public service 
announcements.  Occasionally there may be special events/productions requested by the City related to 
service, Federal codes, and/or Public Safety.  The City Clerk will determine production priorities when/if 
time conflicts arise. 
 
The Consultant shall be responsible for: 

• Organizing, scheduling, and production of City programming on CDA-TV. 
• Coordinate, broadcast and record live/rebroadcast/audio only government meetings, hearings and 

town-hall type meetings. 
• Produce, edit, and rebroadcast government meetings and hearings. 
• Production of public service announcements and informational bulletin board. 
• Provide guidance to educational, civic organizations and city-wide departments to seek education, 

government and other public informative broadcast materials. 
• Make professional technical recommendations for the operations and production quality standards 

of the cable channel, including but not limited to equipment upgrades. 
• Research additional programming with content in keeping with the CDA- TV mission 
• Maintain programming schedule on CDA- TV website. 
• Work with City Departments and City affiliated organizations to develop programming. 
• Live Streaming, to include uploading non-CdA-TV productions to the City’s YouTube Channel 

(not aired on CdA-TV). 
• Editing then uploading to YouTube non-CdA-TV productions (not aired on CdA-TV). 
• Zoom Broadcasting to the City cable channel(s). 
 

Facilities: 
• Re-engineered the audio in the Community room for various set-ups and updates. 
• Assistance/training with public safety personnel regarding equipment acquisition and production 

facilities and media production. 
• Repair of Community Room wiring as damaged occurs. 

 
The City requires the following tangible documents be created and provided the City as they relate to the 
operations and procedures of the government channel: 
 

• Schematics of the equipment in the City cable studio, as upgrades and changes are made. 
• Step-by-step procedures manual in how to operate the studio for the production of live broadcasts, 

for recording live meetings or hearings, for the creation and broadcast of the informational bulletin 
board. 

• Implementations and phasing for future equipment upgrades (as approved and budgeted by the 
City). 

• Complete and accurate inventory of all equipment and supplies in the studio. 
• Provide monthly activity logs and attends  to the Cable- TV Committee. 

 
All services shall be in accordance to the Policies and Procedures adopted by the City of Coeur d’Alene.  
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GENERAL SERVICES/PUBLIC WORKS  
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
 
Date: May 23, 2022 
 
From: Bill Greenwood Park & Recreation Director 
 
Subject: APPROVE FOOD CONCESSION VENDOR FOR ATLAS PARK 

 
 
Decision Point:  Approve the proposal received, through RFP selection, from Paul 
Mason for food concessions at Atlas Park and authorize staff to negotiate with possible 
food vendors for the remaining three locations? 
 
History: Atlas Park is Coeur d’Alene’s newest waterfront park and it already sees a large 
amount of use by visitors. The park was constructed with an area built for up to four food 
trucks to operate from Memorial weekend through Labor Day. This vendor pad has 
electric and water built in for use by food concessionaires. Food concessions will provide 
a needed service for the visiting public. City Council approved the advertisement for this 
RFP on April 19.   
 
Financial Analysis: The fee for each agreement will be a minimum of $5,000.00 per year 
for three years, with the option to renew for an additional three years for each vendor. 
Payments shall be made before April 15 for each subsequent year, with the payment 
being made to the City’s Parks and Recreation Department, and deposited in the Parks 
Capital Improvement Fund. The one vendor proposal (Paul Mason) that we received on 
May 6th is for $6,000.00 per year. 
 
Performance Analysis: Food vendors provide a service to the public that we do not 
provide. It is in a good location in a busy area and visible to daily park visitors and new 
visitors. The lease agreements will require the vendors to keep the area neat and clean, 
and also impose additional requirements on the vendors consistent with other similar City 
contracts. 
 
Decision Point: Approve the proposal received from Paul Mason for food concessions 
at Atlas Park and authorize staff to negotiate with possible food vendors for the remaining 
three locations. 
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 LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE is made and entered into this ______ day of June, 2022, between the CITY 
OF COEUR D'ALENE, Kootenai County, Idaho, a municipal corporation duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of Idaho, hereinafter called “City,” and Paul Mason, with his 
principal place of business at 2030 US Highway 93, Whitefish, MT, hereinafter called “Lessee.” 
 
W I T N E S S E T H: 
 

THAT, WHEREAS, Paul Mason has been awarded the contract for a mobile food 
concession at a location generally described as: no more than a 22' x 8' (L x W) area on concrete 
pad no. four (4) closest to the restroom in Atlas Mill Park as shown on Exhibit “A,” which is 
attached hereto and hereby incorporated herein by reference;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, 
 
IT IS AGREED that, for and in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth 

herein that, the Lessee shall operate and maintain a mobile food concession according to the terms 
set forth herein and under the penalties expressed herein.  
 
Section 1. Definition:  For purposes of this agreement, the parties agree that the term 
“employee” shall include Paul Mason. 
  
Section 2. Community Relations:  The Lessee agrees that he, his managers, and his employees 
will be courteous and informed about the community, and will assist with questions from tourists 
and other users of public recreational facilities. Particularly, the Lessee and his managers and 
employees must become familiar with the immediate area including Atlas Mill Park, Riverstone 
Park, and the Centennial Trail. 
 
Section 3. Appropriate Attire:  The Lessee agrees that he and his managers, and his employees 
must be appropriately dressed in either an approved T-shirt or polo shirt with identifying logo, and 
approved pants or shorts, if shorts are to be worn. Approval must be received from the Parks 
Director. It will not be permissible to operate the food concession without a shirt or in bikini type 
swimwear.  
 
Section 4. Staffing: The Lessee’s food concession must be staffed by at least one employee at 
all times the concession is open. 
 
Section 5. Health Permit: The Lessee agrees to obtain a health permit as required by law for 
the said mobile food concession. The permit must be displayed in a conspicuous place on the 
trailer. The permit number must correspond to the number on the trailer. The health permit is 
required to be provided to the City Clerk by July 5th for the 2022 season, by April 15th, 2023 
for the 2023 season, and by April 15th, 2024 for the 2024 season. Failure to submit the required 
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health permit within the above stated time may result in the City denying or revoking the Lessee’s 
permit or taking any other action allowed by law. 
 
Section 6. Food:  The Lessee may serve all foods within the scope of the health permit.  
 
Section 7. Non-food Items:  Sunscreen will be the only non-food item allowed for sale. Sale 
of any other items must have prior written approval from the Parks & Recreation Director. 
 
Section 8. Refuse:  The Lessee agrees not to dispose of refuse at any public trash receptacle. 
Refuse must be removed from site and disposed of at the Lessee’s expense. The Lessee’s mobile 
food concession and immediately surrounding site must be kept clean at all times. The Lessee is 
responsible for grey water disposal. 
 
Section 9. Hold Harmless:  The Lessee shall hold the City harmless and shall waive all claims 
for any incidental or consequential damages or lost profits during the term of the agreement due 
to construction projects located in the Atlas Mill area.  The Lessee further understands and agrees 
that during the term of this agreement that the City or agents of the City may commence projects 
involving downtown public properties which may result in the City terminating this agreement 
pursuant to the notice provision in Section 23 below entitled “City’s Option to Terminate Lease.” 
Furthermore, the parties recognize that the City is involved in a process of developing a downtown 
public properties plan that may modify, move or eliminate some parking in the present downtown 
public parking lots. The Lessee acknowledges and agrees that this may occur and may affect the 
parking areas presently used by the Lessee’s customers. In the event of said occurrence, the Lessee 
hereby releases, holds harmless, and waives any claim whatsoever the Lessee may have against 
the City, its employees, agents, elected and appointed officials. 
 
Section 10. Not Exclusive:  The Lessee understands and agrees that the City, from time to time 
during the term of this permit, may allow other food and non-food concessions to operate in the 
Atlas Mill Park including, but not necessarily limited to, mobile food concessions permitted by 
bid award. 
 
Section 11. Waiver:  The Lessee understands that during the term of this agreement, the City 
may be undertaking repairs to the Atlas Mill Park, which may interfere with the Lessee’s 
operations or affect persons in the park.  The Lessee specifically waives any claim as to lost profits 
or business as a result of such repairs. 
 
Section 12. Worker’s Compensation:  The Lessee agrees to maintain workers compensation 
coverage on all of its employees during the term of this contract as required by Idaho Code Sections 
72-101 through 72-806. Should the Lessee fail to maintain such insurance during the entire term 
hereof, the Lessee shall indemnify the City against any loss resulting to the City from such failure, 
either by way of compensation or additional premium liability. The Lessee shall furnish to the 
City, prior to the granting of a permit, such evidence as the City may require affirming worker's 
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compensation coverage or, in the alternative, submit an affidavit stating that all employees have 
worker’s compensation coverage as required by Idaho law. 
 
Section 13. Negligent or Wrongful Act: The Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
City from any and all liability, loss or damage which the City may suffer arising out of, or in 
connection with the negligent or wrongful acts, errors and omissions of the Lessee, and his agents 
or employees. The Lessee further agrees, at the Lessee’s sole cost, to defend the City against all 
claims arising out of this agreement, including any claims resulting from the operation of the 
Lessee’s concession or in connection with the negligent or wrongful acts, errors and omissions of 
the Lessee, and his agents or employees. To that end, the Lessee shall maintain a policy of liability 
insurance, naming the City as an additional insured, with limits at least those required by Idaho 
Code § 6-924. 
 
Section 14. Cart Specifications: The Lessee agrees to the following mobile cart specifications, 
in addition to any other requirement set forth herein, which will be adhered to by the Lessee: 
 

A. Length: 22 ft. width: 8 ft. height: 8 ft. 
B. Heat source: propane.   
C. Cooling source: battery, ice, or propane. 
D. The mobile concessions cart must be self-contained. 
E. The mobile concessions cart must be kept clean throughout the season. 
F.  The mobile concessions cart must display both the City logo and business logo. 
 

Section 15. Term:  The City shall grant a mobile food concession permit to the Lessee for the 
season of June 1, 2022 to September 30, 2022, May 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023 and May 1, 
2024 to September 30, 2024. 
  
Section 16. Consideration: The Lessee shall, in consideration for the permit to operate and 
maintain said mobile food concession as set forth in Section 15 at the said location, pay the sum 
of Six Thousand Dollars ($6,000.00) by July 5, 2022, for the first year of the lease upon the signing 
of this agreement. Payments for each subsequent year of the lease shall be made by April 1 of the 
lease year. The annual lease fee shall increase in the second and third years of this agreement. The 
increase shall be based on the Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index (CPI-U) West 
Region annual change. For example, the lease payment for 2022 will change by the percent change 
in the annual average 2021/2022, as shown in the Consumer Price Index Overview Table-West, 
published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics. Payment shall be made to the City of Coeur d’Alene 
Parks & Recreation Department.  
 
Section 17. No Alcohol: The Lessee agrees he shall not possess any alcohol or alcoholic 
beverages in the concession, City Park, or City parking lots, nor shall his employees be allowed to 
possess any alcohol or alcoholic beverages in the concession or while on duty. 
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Section 18. City Ordinances: The Lessee shall abide by all City Ordinances and resolutions, 
included but not limited to Municipal Code Chapters 4.25 and 5.75. 
 
Section 19. Glass Containers: The Lessee agrees not to dispense drinks in glass containers. 
 
Section 20. Violation of Regulations: The Lessees agrees that any violation of regulations, 
contract, ordinance, or any evidence of collusion may result in criminal prosecution and/or in the 
revocation of the permit, and forfeitures of all payments, and the Lessee may not be allowed to 
rebid or resubmit a proposal for a concession on City property for a period of three (3) years. 
 
Section 21. Non-transferable:  The Lessee also agrees and understands concession sites cannot 
be transferred to another vendor without permission of the City. 
 
Section 22. No Truck Parking:  Except for parking in lawfully designated parking spaces, 
neither Lessee nor its agent(s) shall park trucks or other vehicles adjacent to the concession site 
for longer than sixty (60) minutes. Failure to comply with this provision shall be considered a 
material breach of this agreement. 
 
Section 23. City’s Option to Terminate Lease:  The City may, at any time after providing ten 
(10) day's written notice to the Lessee, terminate this lease for cause or for no cause, retake 
possession of the leased space. The City shall provide a refund to the Lessee of the prorated, 
unearned portion of the lease payment, unless termination was for the Lessee’s wrongful conduct 
or violation of a provision of this Lease.  The notice of the exercise by the City of its option to 
terminate the lease for no cause shall be given in the same manner as notice of termination in case 
of default. 
 
Section 24. Forfeiture of Permit:  It is understood that time is of the essence and should the 
Lessee fail to perform all of the covenants herein required of them, the City may declare the permit 
forfeited. Upon forfeit of the permit, the Lessee shall cease operation of the concession at the 
location. However, that before declaring such forfeiture, the City shall notify the Lessee in writing 
of the particulars in which the City deems the Lessee to be in default and the Lessee will have 
three (3) days to remedy the default. 
 
Section 25. Notice:  Any notice, including notice of default resulting from failure to perform, 
shall be made by placing the written particulars in the United States Mail addressed to the Lessee 
at the address above, with proper postage affixed. Any notice required herein to be given to City 
shall be written and deemed received by City when personally delivered to, or received through 
the United States Mail by, the office of the City Clerk, 710 Mullan Avenue, Coeur d'Alene, Idaho 
83814. In lieu of service by mail, a notice of default and/or of termination may be served in the 
manner provided for the service of process under the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 5(b). 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Mayor and City Clerk of the City of Coeur d'Alene have 
executed this contract on behalf of said City, and Paul Mason have caused the same to be signed, 
the day and year first above written. 
 
CITY:       LESSEE: 
CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE    PAUL MASON 
       dba       
 
 
By:        By:       
         James Hammond, Mayor     Paul Mason 
 
        
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renata McLeod, City Clerk                  
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EXHIBIT “A” 
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GENERAL SERVICES/PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
  
 
 
DATE: MAY 18, 2022 
 
FROM: LEE WHITE 
 
SUBJECT: DONATION FROM CITIZEN FOR DRONE PURCHASE 
________________________________________________________________________                
 
DECISION POINT:   
 
The Police Department requests approval to accept a $1000 donation from Robert Blansfield to 
assist with the purchase of the drone that was recently approved by Council.  
 
HISTORY:   
 
On May 17, 2022, Council approved the purchase of a drone during the regular Council meeting.  
On May 18, 2022, the Department received a letter from Rathdrum resident Robert Blansfield who 
wants to donate $1000 towards this purchase.   
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:   
 
The total cost of the drone and related accessories was $14,995.  The Police Department has 
adequate budget capacity due to vacancy savings to cover the cost of this purchase; but this 
generous gift from a community member who wishes to show his support for local law 
enforcement is greatly appreciated. 
 
DECISION POINT:    
 
The Police Department requests approval to accept the generous gift of $1000 from Robert 
Blansfield to go towards the purchase of the drone.   



OTHER BUSINESS 



GENERAL SERVICES/PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE  
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
DATE:   MAY 23, 2022 
 
FROM: RENATA MCLEOD, CITY CLERK/MUNICIPAL SERVICES DIRECTOR 
  RANDY ADAMS, CITY ATTORNEY/LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR 
 
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF A POLICY FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS AND MOTIONS 
 
 
DECISION POINT:  Should Council approve a policy for governing public comment at meetings 
of Council and other City commissions and committees?  Should Council establish a policy of 
procedure that every motion made at City meetings requires a second in order to move it forward 
for further discussion and a vote? 

 
HISTORY:  In December 2020, staff presented a proposed policy for public comment to both 
Council sub-committees (minutes attached). Feedback at that time requested additional clarity in 
the policy that comments be focused on current meeting agenda items or matters of public 
interest, confirmation of a 3-minute maximum, and application to all public meetings where public 
comments are allowed.  At the second sub-committee meeting, requests were made to remove 
the requirement that public comment must be related to the current agenda, and that proposed 
rules relating to back and forth discussions and complaints be further developed.  Concern was 
expressed about preventing relevant public comment. Council took no final action on the 
proposed policy. Mayor Hammond has requested a policy be brought back for discussion. He has 
requested that public comment may only be offered by residents of Coeur d’Alene and that the 
public comment period at each meeting be limited to no more than 30 minutes.  In looking back 
in the City records, no policy regarding public comments has ever been adopted.  In consultation 
with the City Attorney’s office, it is recommended that the City should have a formal policy if the 
City wants to impose any restrictions and/or limitations on public comment. There were no 
examples of such a policy in other communities in north Idaho. However, there are several 
examples throughout the United States. Attached is a draft policy that attempts to encompass the 
Mayor’s request and Council’s comments, and that is legally defensible.   
 
Additionally, the Mayor would like Council to have a formal rule of procedure that a motion requires 
a second to move it forward for further discussion and a vote. Currently, there is no City rule or 
State law which requires a second in order to move a motion forward for discussion and a vote. 
The Council has traditionally followed such procedure, but it currently is not legally required.  
 
The proposed policy was presented at the May 9, 2022 General Services/Public Works 
subcommittee meeting.  Council provided some inputs, which have been reflected as potential 
alternate rules in the proposed policy.    
 
FINANCIAL:  There is no financial impact to these actions. 

 
DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION: Council should approve a policy regulating public 
comments. Council should approve a rule of procedure that a motion requires a second in order 
to move it forward for further discussion and a vote.    
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The Mayor and City Council have determined that public comment during City Council meetings 
and meetings of City commissions, boards, and committees is beneficial to the City and members 
of the public as it facilitates the sharing of information and promotes the transparency of 
government. Therefore, a period for public comment will set aside as indicated on the agenda for 
each meeting, subject to the following rules and conditions. 
 
Rule 1. While, as a general rule, a period of public comment shall be provided during 

meetings of the City Council and City commissions, boards, and committees, such 
period may be canceled for any specific meeting in the discretion of the Mayor or 
the chair. The City will endeavor to inform the public prior to a meeting if there 
will be no public comment period, but lack of notice does not require that public 
comment be accepted. 

 
Rule 2. A Public Comment period shall be no longer than 30 minutes per meeting. The 

Mayor or chair may allow additional time. 
 
Rule 2 alt A. A Public Comment period shall generally be no longer than 30 minutes per 

meeting. The Mayor or chair may allow additional time. 
 
Rule 2 alt B. A Public Comment period shall be no longer than 30 minutes per meeting. The 

Mayor or chair may allow additional time. 
 
Rule 3. Public comment will only be accepted from City of Coeur d’Alene residents.  
 
Rule 3 alt A. Public comment will only be accepted from Kootenai County residents. 
 
Rule 3 alt B. Public comment will only be accepted from Kootenai County residents. 
 
Rule 4. Public comment shall only be accepted on matters of current City business. Public 

comment is not allowed on matters of personal or commercial business. 
 
Rule 4 alt A. Public comment shall only be accepted on matters on the current Agenda for the 

meeting. 
 
Rule 4 alt. B. Public comment shall only be accepted on matters of current City business. Public 

comment is not allowed on matters of personal or commercial business. 
 
Rule 5. Public comment during the period of public comment shall not be accepted on 

matters scheduled for a public hearing before that body. 
 
Rule 6. Individuals in need of interpreters or other special accommodations must contact 

the City Clerk at least three (3) business days in advance of the meeting. Reasonable 
accommodations, if available, will be provided free of charge. 

 
Rule 7. No person shall make public comment until recognized by the Mayor or chair. 
 



Resolution No. 22-025   Page  2 of 2 E X H I B I T  “ A ”  

Rule 8. No person shall make public comment except at the podium and using the 
microphone, or through a telecommunications program made available by the City. 
Public comment shall be addressed to the Mayor or the chair. 

 
Rule 9. Prior to speaking, a member of the public shall state his/her true name and address 

for the record. Refusal to provide the name or address shall be grounds for denying 
an opportunity to address Council. 

 
Rule 10. Each speaker shall have a maximum of three (3) minutes to make public comment. 

The Mayor or chair may grant additional time. 
 
Rule 11. Repetitive comments can be unnecessarily disruptive and unduly time-consuming. 

The Mayor or chair may limit repetitive comments. 
 
Rule 12. Questions from the public should not be addressed by Council or the commission, 

board, or committee members without the permission of the Mayor or the chair. It 
is not the purpose of public comment to engage in a back-and-forth exchange. 
Members of the public with questions should direct their questions to the City 
Administrator or the appropriate department during the City’s regular business 
hours. 

 
Rule 13. No vulgar, profane, obscene, abusive, or slanderous language will be allowed 

during the public comment period. 
 
Rule 13 alt A. No disparaging, vulgar, profane, obscene, abusive, or slanderous language will be 

allowed during the public comment period. 
 
Rule 14. Complaints about staff or others constitute a disruption of the orderly and fair 

conduct of a meeting by virtue of their irrelevance, tone, and/or manner, and will 
not be allowed. Complaints about City staff should be addressed privately, through 
either a written letter, complaint, or phone call to the City Administrator. 

 
Rule 14 alt A. Complaints about staff or others constitute a disruption of the orderly and fair 

conduct of a meeting by virtue of their irrelevance, tone, and/or manner, and will 
not be allowed. Disparaging or slanderous comments will not be allowed. 
Complaints about City staff should be addressed privately, through either a written 
letter, complaint, or phone call to the City Administrator. 

 
Rule 15. If the speaker wishes to offer documents, sufficient copies must be provided to the 

City Clerk for distribution to the Mayor or chair, the Council or members of the 
body, the City Attorney, and for the public record. 

 
Rule 16. No speakers will be accommodated after the Public Comment Session is closed by 

the Mayor or chair.  
 
Rule 17. Persons violating these rules and disrupting the meeting may be ejected from the 

meeting room by the Mayor or chair after being given a warning.  
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RESOLUTION NO. 22-025 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO, 
ESTABLISHING POLICIES FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS AND MOTIONS.   
 

WHEREAS, the need for citywide policies governing Public Comments at meetings of 
Council and other City commissions and committees, and establishing a policy of procedure that 
every motion made at City meetings requires a second in order to move the item forward for further 
discussion and a vote, have been deemed necessary by the City Council; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Municipal Services Department has proposed policies regarding these 
issues, and the same were discussed at the General Services/Public Works Committee meetings on 
May 17th and May 23rd; and  
 

WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d’Alene and the 
citizens thereof that such policies be adopted. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d’Alene that the 

policy attached hereto as Exhibit "A" be and is hereby adopted. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d’Alene 

that hereafter a every motion made at City meetings shall require a second in order to move the 
matter forward for further discussion and a vote. 
 

DATED this 7th day of June, 2022. 
 
 
                                  _____________________________ 
                                  James Hammond, Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
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 Motion by      , Seconded by      , to adopt the foregoing resolution.   
  

ROLL CALL:  
 
 COUNCIL MEMBER EVANS  Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER GOOKIN Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER ENGLISH Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER MCEVERS Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOD Voted        

 
       was absent. Motion      .  

 



GENERAL SERVICES/PUBLIC WORKS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Date: May 23,2022 
From: Bill Greenwood Parks & Recreation Director  
SUBJECT: Approve Commercial Dock Vendors  
 
 
DECISION POINT:  
Approve the selection of vendors, KJ Watersports and Hayden Paddleboard & Jet Ski from the 
RFP selection committee, to build the docks and operate a water-based recreation facility for the 
public at the City owned property along the Spokane River near the Harbor Center. 
  
HISTORY: 
The Third Street Boat Launch is one of the busiest boat launches in Idaho. The launch is extremely 
crowded with members of the public and water sport rental companies. The Parks and Recreation 
Department has a plan to reduce overcrowding on the 3rd Street Dock by entering into an 
agreement with commercial businesses to build a pair of commercial docks and operate two 
separate water-based recreation businesses on the Spokane River. This area has been one of the 
busiest within our community and we always strive to stay ahead of the needs of our citizens. This 
facility will help with several concerns that we identify in the performance analysis.        
          
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS: 
Per the agreement, the businesses that were selected will each build a dock with 26 slips in the 
dock system at their cost. The highest scored business, KJ Watersports, will receive first choice on 
dock location and has agreed to a lease amount of $30,000 per year paid to the City for use of this 
property. The second highest scored business, Hayden Paddleboard & Jet Ski, will receive the 
second dock space and has agreed to a lease amount to the city of $20,000 per year. After the 
initial five-year period, the city would receive a minimum payment of $30,000 per year for the dock 
for the next five-year period. The renewal of this lease is optional every five years.  
    
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS: 
This new location will help take some pressure off of the 3rd Street Launch Docks by having some 
of the boat rental companies launching at this site, and allow the public greater opportunity for this 
type of recreational experience while visiting the park. All funds from this agreement would be 
placed in the Parks Capital Improvement Fund which will help offset maintenance and repair costs 
and possible future construction related to waterfront needs. The approval of the agreement is 
predicated on the approval from Idaho Department of Lands on an encroachment permit.     
 
DECISION POINT / RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend to City Council the approval of the selection of vendors, KJ Watersports, and Hayden 
Paddleboard & Jet Ski from the RFP selection committee, to build the docks and operate a water-
based recreation facility for the public at the City owned property along the Spokane River near the 
Harbor Center. 
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LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this _____ day of June, 2022, by 
and between KING MORTON, LLC, an Idaho limited liability corporation, d/b/a HAYDEN 
LAKE PADDLEBOARD & JET SKI, hereinafter referred to as the “LESSEE,” and the CITY OF 
COEUR D’ALENE, a municipal corporation, organized and existing under and by virtue of the 
laws of the state of Idaho, hereinafter referred to as the “LESSOR.” 
 

DECLARATIONS 
 

1. The LESSEE is a limited liability company organized and existing under and by virtue of 
the laws of the state of Idaho, having its place of business at 3399 E. Sky Harbor Drive, Coeur 
d’Alene, Kootenai County, Idaho. It is engaged in the business of boat and personal watercraft 
rentals in the City of Coeur d’Alene. 
 
2. The LESSOR possesses riparian rights on the Spokane River near Harbor Center and has 
a right to lease said rights for commercial purposes. 
 
3. The parties hereto desire to enter into a Lease Agreement for the LESSOR’s riparian rights 
so that the LESSEE may construct, operate, and maintain a commercial boat dock on the Spokane 
River near Harbor Center under the terms set out herein. 
 

TERMS OF LEASE 
 

1. Construction of Dock: The LESSEE shall build, construct, and/or fabricate, at its sole cost 
and expense, a water-based commercial boat dock on the Spokane River near Harbor Center, 
identified as ‘“A” Docks’ on the attached diagram.  The dock shall include no more than twenty-
six (26) slips in the configuration shown on the attached diagram, with dimensions as set out in 
the Request for Proposals. The dock shall be of steel frame construction with steel floats, unless 
the cost of steel at the time of construction is prohibitive, in which case the floats may be of molded 
polyethylene. The workmanship and quality of the dock and gangway shall be the same or better 
than the 3rd Street boat launch and all materials shall be appropriate for a water environment. The 
existing pilings shall be removed and new steel pilings shall be installed. If the cost of steel is 
prohibitive, new wood pilings may be installed. The decking of the dock shall be of composite 
material. The gangway shall be aluminum with a locking gate at the shore end of the gangway. 
Adequate lighting and signage shall be provided. The LESSEE shall procure any and all permits 
required to perform the work. The LESSEE shall own the dock and gangway.  
 
Each boat dock shall be 214 feet long by 39 feet wide, with the end of any interior slips located no 
closer than 46 feet away from the river bank stabilization wall and connected to the shore by a 
gangway. The outside of the docks shall be a maximum distance of 85 feet from the seawall. This 
dock system may have up to 26 slips. Slips can be configured for boats or jet skis, and side tying 
to the riverside of the dock is allowed. Steel pilings are preferred and wood pilings will only be 
allowed if steel pilings are unavailable or cost prohibitive. Existing wood pilings must be removed. 
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2. Amenities: The LESSEE, in cooperation with KJ Watersports LLC, shall resurface the 
river side of the break wall with materials similar to the materials used by the University of Idaho 
in the same area, at their sole cost and expense. If KJ Watersports LLC is unable or unwilling to 
participate in the resurfacing, the LESSEE shall be solely responsible for the work. The LESSEE 
shall also construct a four foot (4') concrete ADA-compliant sidewalk connected the road to the 
dock entrance. The LESSEE shall remove all old pilings, wood shake shingles, and dilapidated 
wood on the sea wall; repaint and refurbish handrails and garden beds. The LESSEE shall 
landscape/xeriscape a 145' x 80' ground area and install park benches along the Centennial Trail. 
 
3. Operation and Maintenance: The LESSEE shall operate a water-based boat delivery 
system, available to the public, for rental of watercraft, captained surf boats, and pontoon boats. 
Moorage of personal, private, watercraft, and the sale of watercraft is not allowed. The LESSEE 
shall operate seven (7) days per week during the season, which is defined as Memorial Day 
weekend through Labor Day weekend, and shall remove the dock at the end of the season or 
construct a landing pad to prevent racking. 
 
The LESSEE shall be responsible for maintaining the dock, the gangway, and approaches thereto 
in a neat, clean, and orderly fashion, to include necessary repairs, mowing of grass and removing 
weeds in appurtenant areas, planting appropriate vegetation as approved by the CITY, providing 
picnic benches and/or other seating. The LESSEE shall dispose of refuse off-sight and at their own 
expense. 
 
All signs, including A-frame or any other type of removable signage, must receive a permit and 
be removed from site at the end of operations each day. 
 
Only City-approved background music will be allowed. Such music shall be played at or below 
the City’s Noise Ordinance requirements. See Municipal Code § 17.07.120. 
 
4. Rent: The LESSEE shall pay to CITY rent in the amount of Twenty Thousand and no/100 
Dollars ($20,000.00) per season for five (5) seasons. Thereafter, the rent shall be subject to mutual 
agreement of the parties. The seasonal rent shall be due by April 15 of each season.  
 
5. Term: The term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years commencing on the 1st day of 
May 2023, and terminating on the 30th day of September 2027. PROVIDED, the LESSEE may 
commence building or construction within the riparian rights upon execution of this Agreement 
and the dock shall be completed by October 31, 2022. The LESSEE shall have the option to extend 
the Agreement for an additional five (5) years, upon such terms and conditions as the parties may 
agree, providing the LESSEE submits a written letter to CITY requesting an extension at least 
sixty (60) days and no more than one hundred twenty (120) before the end of the term. 
 
6. Staff: The LESSEE’s employees are required to be adequately trained in all operations 
related to this Agreement. Employees shall be courteous and informed about the community so as 
to assist with questions from tourists and other park users, i.e., be familiar with the immediate area 
including the locations of other CITY parks and trails and destination locations, i.e., North Idaho 
College, Coeur d’Alene Resort, City Park, Chamber of Commerce, and the Visitors Center. 
Employees must be appropriately dressed in an approved t-shirt, or polo-shirt, with identifying 
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business logo. If shorts are preferred instead of pants they must be approved by the Parks & 
Recreation Director. It will not be permissible to operate the concessions without a shirt or in 
swimwear. Dress code will be strictly enforced. All clothing shall be clean and without substantial 
defects. The dock must be staffed by at least one employee during all business hours.  
 
7.  Trailer Parking: The LESSEE shall not park trailers, nor shall it allow its sub-lessees to 
do so, on CITY property except when actively loading or unloading boats or jet skis. 

 
8. Principal Contacts: The principal contacts for this Lease Agreement are: 

 
 CITY ASSOCIATION 
KEY CONTACT Parks & Recreation Dept. King Morton, LLC 
STREET ADDRESS: 710 E. Mullan Ave. 3399 E. Sky Harbor Dr. 
CITY/STATE Coeur d’Alene, ID 83814 Coeur d’Alene, ID 83814 
PHONE NUMBER: (208) 769-2252  
AFTER HOURS 
NUMBER: 

  

EMAIL ADDRESS:   
 
9. Insurance: The LESSEE shall indemnify, defend and hold the CITY harmless from all 
claims arising from the LESSEE’s actions or omissions in performance of this Agreement, and to 
that end shall maintain liability insurance naming the CITY as one of the insureds in the amount 
of at least Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) for property damage or bodily or personal 
injury, death or loss as a result of any one occurrence or accident regardless of the number of 
persons injured or the number of claimants, it being the intention that the minimum limits of such 
liability policy shall be those provided for by Idaho Code § 6-924. A certificate of insurance 
providing at least thirty (30) days written notice to the CITY prior to cancellation of the policy 
shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk prior to beginning construction. 
 

The LESSEE agrees to maintain Worker’s Compensation coverage on all employees, 
including employees of subcontractors, during the term of this contract as required by Idaho Code 
§§ 72-101 through 72-806.  Should the LESSEE fail to maintain required insurance during the 
entire term hereof, the LESSEE shall indemnify the CITY against any loss resulting to the CITY 
from such failure, either by way of compensation or additional premium liability. The LESSEE 
shall furnish to the CITY, prior to commencement of construction, such evidence as the CITY may 
require guaranteeing contributions which will come due under the Employment Security Law 
including, at the option of the CITY, a surety bond in an amount sufficient to make such payments. 
 
10. Anti-Discrimination: The LESSEE shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, 
and/or gender identity/expression. The LESSEE shall take affirmative action to ensure that 
applicants are employed and that employees are treated during employment without regard to their 
race, color, religion, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, and/or gender identity/expression. 
Such actions shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotions, 
or transfers; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoffs or terminations; rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation; selection for training, including apprenticeship; and participation in 
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recreational and educational activities. The LESSEE agrees to post in conspicuous places available 
for employees and applicants for employment notices to be provided setting forth the provisions 
of this nondiscrimination clause. The LESSEE will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted 
in all subcontracts for any work covered by this Agreement so that such provisions will be binding 
upon each sub-contractor, provided that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to contracts or 
subcontracts for standard commercial supplies or raw materials. 
 
11. Termination: In the event that the LESSEE breaches this Agreement, the CITY shall afford 
the LESSEE a reasonable time to cure and, upon failure to cure, may terminate this Agreement for 
cause with thirty (30) days’ written notice. 
 
 Either party may terminate this Agreement for convenience with no less than sixty (60) 
days’ written notice. Upon a termination for convenience, the LESSEE shall not be entitled to any 
refund of rent paid and may remove any property it supplied to the site provided that removal does 
not damage or injure the CITY’s property. 
 
 Upon termination, the LESSEE and the CITY may negotiate for the CITY to purchase the 
dock and gangway, taking into consideration the lease payments made, the value of the dock and 
gangway, and all other pertinent information. 

 
12. Assignment: The LESSEE shall not assign its obligation or rights under this lease to a third 
party without written approval from the CITY. 
 
13. Binding Agreement: This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties in accordance with 
and pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof and shall inure to the benefit of the successors and 
assigns of the parties hereto. 
 
14. Severability:  If any court determines that any provision of this Agreement is invalid or 
unenforceable, any invalidity or unenforceability will affect only that provision and will not make 
any other provision of this Agreement invalid or unenforceable. The Agreement shall be modified, 
amended or limited only to the extent necessary to render it valid and enforceable as determined 
by the court. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 
 
LESSOR      LESSEE 
CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE KING MORTON, LLC 
 
             
James Hammond, Mayor Seth J. King, Member 
 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
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LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this _____ day of June, 2022, by 
and between KJ WATERSPORTS LLC, a Washington limited liability corporation, hereinafter 
referred to as the “LESSEE,” and the CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE, a municipal corporation, 
organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the state of Idaho, hereinafter referred to 
as the “LESSOR.” 
 

DECLARATIONS 
 

1. The LESSEE is a limited liability company organized and existing under and by virtue of 
the laws of the state of Washington, having its place of business at 1621 Northwest Blvd., Coeur 
d’Alene, Kootenai County, Idaho. It is engaged in the business of boat rentals in the City of Coeur 
d’Alene. 
 
2. The LESSOR possesses riparian rights on the Spokane River near Harbor Center and has 
a right to lease said rights for commercial purposes. 
 
3. The parties hereto desire to enter into a Lease Agreement for the LESSOR’s riparian rights 
so that the LESSEE may construct, operate, and maintain a commercial boat dock on the Spokane 
River near Harbor Center under the terms set out herein. 
 

TERMS OF LEASE 
 

1. Construction of Dock: The LESSEE shall build, construct, and/or fabricate, at its sole cost 
and expense, a water-based commercial boat dock on the Spokane River near Harbor Center, 
identified as ‘“B” Docks’ on the attached diagram.  The dock shall include no more than twenty-
six (26) slips in the configuration shown on the attached diagram, with dimensions as set out in 
the Request for Proposals. The dock shall be of steel frame construction with steel floats, unless 
the cost of steel at the time of construction is prohibitive, in which case the floats may be of molded 
polyethylene. The workmanship and quality of the dock and gangway shall be the same or better 
than the 3rd Street boat launch and all materials shall be appropriate for a water environment. The 
existing pilings shall be removed and new steel pilings shall be installed. If the cost of steel is 
prohibitive, new wood pilings may be installed. The decking of the dock shall be of composite 
material. The gangway shall be aluminum with a locking gate at the shore end of the gangway. 
Adequate lighting and signage shall be provided. The LESSEE shall procure any and all permits 
required to perform the work. The LESSEE shall own the dock and gangway.  
 
Each boat dock shall be 214 feet long by 39 feet wide, with the end of any interior slips located no 
closer than 46 feet away from the river bank stabilization wall and connected to the shore by a 
gangway. The outside of the docks shall be a maximum distance of 85 feet from the seawall. This 
dock system may have up to 26 slips. Slips can be configured for boats or jet skis, and side tying 
to the riverside of the dock is allowed. Steel pilings are preferred and wood pilings will only be 
allowed if steel pilings are unavailable or cost prohibitive. Existing wood pilings must be removed. 
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2. Amenities: The LESSEE, in cooperation with King Morton, LLC, d/b/a Hayden Lake 
Paddleboard and Jet Ski, shall resurface the river side of the break wall with materials similar to 
the materials used by the University of Idaho in the same area, at their sole cost and expense. If 
Hayden Lake Paddleboard and Jet Ski is unable or unwilling to participate in the resurfacing, the 
LESSEE shall be solely responsible for the work. 
 
3. Operation and Maintenance: The LESSEE shall operate a water-based boat delivery 
system, available to the public, for rental of watercraft, captained surf boats, and pontoon boats. 
Moorage of personal, private, watercraft, and the sale of watercraft is not allowed. The LESSEE 
shall operate seven (7) days per week during the season, which is defined as Memorial Day 
weekend through Labor Day weekend, and shall remove the dock at the end of the season or 
construct a landing pad to prevent racking. 
 
The LESSEE shall be responsible for maintaining the dock, the gangway, and approaches thereto 
in a neat, clean, and orderly fashion, to include necessary repairs, mowing of grass and removing 
weeds in appurtenant areas, planting appropriate vegetation as approved by the CITY, providing 
picnic benches and/or other seating. The LESSEE shall dispose of refuse off-sight and at their own 
expense. 
 
All signs, including A-frame or any other type of removable signage, must receive a permit and 
be removed from site at the end of operations each day. 
 
Only City-approved background music will be allowed. Such music shall be played at or below 
the City’s Noise Ordinance requirements. See Municipal Code § 17.07.120. 
 
4. Rent: The LESSEE shall pay to CITY rent in the amount of Thirty Thousand and no/100 
Dollars ($30,000.00) per season for five (5) seasons. Thereafter, the rent shall be subject to mutual 
agreement of the parties. The seasonal rent shall be due by April 15 of each season.  
 
5. Term: The term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years commencing on the 1st day of 
May 2023, and terminating on the 30th day of September 2027. PROVIDED, the LESSEE may 
commence building or construction within the riparian rights upon execution of this Agreement 
and the dock shall be completed by October 31, 2022. The LESSEE shall have the option to extend 
the Agreement for an additional five (5) years, upon such terms and conditions as the parties may 
agree, providing the LESSEE submits a written letter to CITY requesting an extension at least 
sixty (60) days and no more than one hundred twenty (120) before the end of the term. 
 
6. Staff: The LESSEE’s employees are required to be adequately trained in all operations 
related to this Agreement. Employees shall be courteous and informed about the community so as 
to assist with questions from tourists and other park users, i.e., be familiar with the immediate area 
including the locations of other CITY parks and trails and destination locations, i.e., North Idaho 
College, Coeur d’Alene Resort, City Park, Chamber of Commerce, and the Visitors Center. 
Employees must be appropriately dressed in an approved t-shirt, or polo-shirt, with identifying 
business logo. If shorts are preferred instead of pants they must be approved by the Parks & 
Recreation Director. It will not be permissible to operate the concessions without a shirt or in 



Resolution No. 22-026   Page  3 of 4 E X H I B I T  “ B ”  

swimwear. Dress code will be strictly enforced. All clothing shall be clean and without substantial 
defects. The dock must be staffed by at least one employee during all business hours.  
 
7.  Trailer Parking: The LESSEE shall not park trailers, nor shall it allow its sub-lessees to 
do so, on CITY property except when actively loading or unloading boats or jet skis. 

 
8. Principal Contacts: The principal contacts for this Lease Agreement are: 

 
 CITY ASSOCIATION 
KEY CONTACT Parks & Recreation Dept. KJ Watersports LLC 
STREET ADDRESS: 710 E. Mullan Ave. 1621 Northwest Blvd. 
CITY/STATE Coeur d’Alene, ID 83814 Coeur d’Alene, ID 83814 
PHONE NUMBER: (208) 769-2252  
AFTER HOURS 
NUMBER: 

  

EMAIL ADDRESS:   
 
9. Insurance: The LESSEE shall indemnify, defend and hold the CITY harmless from all 
claims arising from the LESSEE’s actions or omissions in performance of this Agreement, and to 
that end shall maintain liability insurance naming the CITY as one of the insureds in the amount 
of at least Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) for property damage or bodily or personal 
injury, death or loss as a result of any one occurrence or accident regardless of the number of 
persons injured or the number of claimants, it being the intention that the minimum limits of such 
liability policy shall be those provided for by Idaho Code § 6-924. A certificate of insurance 
providing at least thirty (30) days written notice to the CITY prior to cancellation of the policy 
shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk prior to beginning construction. 
 

The LESSEE agrees to maintain Worker’s Compensation coverage on all employees, 
including employees of subcontractors, during the term of this contract as required by Idaho Code 
§§ 72-101 through 72-806.  Should the LESSEE fail to maintain required insurance during the 
entire term hereof, the LESSEE shall indemnify the CITY against any loss resulting to the CITY 
from such failure, either by way of compensation or additional premium liability. The LESSEE 
shall furnish to the CITY, prior to commencement of construction, such evidence as the CITY may 
require guaranteeing contributions which will come due under the Employment Security Law 
including, at the option of the CITY, a surety bond in an amount sufficient to make such payments. 
 
10. Anti-Discrimination: The LESSEE shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, 
and/or gender identity/expression. The LESSEE shall take affirmative action to ensure that 
applicants are employed and that employees are treated during employment without regard to their 
race, color, religion, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, and/or gender identity/expression. 
Such actions shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotions, 
or transfers; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoffs or terminations; rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation; selection for training, including apprenticeship; and participation in 
recreational and educational activities. The LESSEE agrees to post in conspicuous places available 
for employees and applicants for employment notices to be provided setting forth the provisions 
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of this nondiscrimination clause. The LESSEE will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted 
in all subcontracts for any work covered by this Agreement so that such provisions will be binding 
upon each sub-contractor, provided that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to contracts or 
subcontracts for standard commercial supplies or raw materials. 
 
11. Termination: In the event that the LESSEE breaches this Agreement, the CITY shall afford 
the LESSEE a reasonable time to cure and, upon failure to cure, may terminate this Agreement for 
cause with thirty (30) days’ written notice. 
 
 Either party may terminate this Agreement for convenience with no less than sixty (60) 
days’ written notice. Upon a termination for convenience, the LESSEE shall not be entitled to any 
refund of rent paid and may remove any property it supplied to the site provided that removal does 
not damage or injure the CITY’s property. 
 
 Upon termination, the LESSEE and the CITY may negotiate for the CITY to purchase the 
dock and gangway, taking into consideration the lease payments made, the value of the dock and 
gangway, and all other pertinent information. 

 
12. Assignment: The LESSEE shall not assign its obligation or rights under this lease to a third 
party without written approval from the CITY. 
 
13. Binding Agreement: This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties in accordance with 
and pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof and shall inure to the benefit of the successors and 
assigns of the parties hereto. 
 
14. Severability:  If any court determines that any provision of this Agreement is invalid or 
unenforceable, any invalidity or unenforceability will affect only that provision and will not make 
any other provision of this Agreement invalid or unenforceable. The Agreement shall be modified, 
amended or limited only to the extent necessary to render it valid and enforceable as determined 
by the court. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 
 
LESSOR      LESSEE 
CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE KJ WATERSPORTS LLC 
 
 
             
James Hammond, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
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RESOLUTION NO. 22-026 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, 
IDAHO, ACCEPTING THE PROPOSALS OF AND APPROVING LEASE AGREEMENTS 
WITH KING MORTON, LLC, d/b/a HAYDEN LAKE PADDLE BOARD & JET SKI, FOR 
DOCK “A” AND KJ WATERSPORTS LLC FOR HARBOR CENTER DOCK “B” NEAR 
HARBOR CENTER. 
         

WHEREAS, it has been recommended that the City of Coeur d’Alene accept the 
proposals of and enter into the Lease Agreements listed below, pursuant to the terms and 
conditions set forth in the agreements attached hereto as Exhibits “A” and “B” and by reference 
made a part hereof as summarized as follows: 

 
A) Proposal of and approval of a lease agreement with King Morton, LLC, d/b/a 

Hayden Lake Paddle Board & Jet Ski for Dock “A” near Harbor Center; 
 
B) Proposal of and approval of a lease agreement with KJ Watersports LLC for Dock 

“B” near Harbor Center; and  
 
WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d’Alene and the 

citizens thereof to enter into such lease agreements. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, 

 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d’Alene that the 

City enter into lease agreements as set forth in substantially the forms attached hereto as Exhibits 
“A” and “B” and incorporated herein by reference, with the provision that the Mayor, City 
Administrator, and City Attorney are hereby authorized to modify said agreements, so long as 
the substantive provisions of the agreements remain intact. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Clerk be and they are hereby 
authorized to execute such agreements as may be required on behalf of the City. 
 

DATED this 7th day of June, 2022.  
 
                                        
                                   James Hammond, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
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 Motion by      , Seconded by      , to adopt the foregoing resolution.   
  

ROLL CALL:  
 
 COUNCIL MEMBER GOOKIN  Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOD Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER EVANS Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER MCEVERS Voted       

 
 COUNCIL MEMBER ENGLISH Voted        

 
       was absent. Motion      .  

 



CITY COUNCIL 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE:  June 7, 2022 
FROM:  Randy Adams, City Attorney/Legal Services Director 
SUBJECT:  Invocations 
 
 
DECISION POINT:  Should the practice of invocations before Council meetings continue 
and, if so, what guidelines should apply? 
 
HISTORY:  Invocations before daily sessions of Congress have been the custom since 
1789 with the very first Congress under the new Constitution. In addition, according to a 
survey conducted by the National Conference of State Legislatures, only the Massachusetts 
Senate and both houses in New York do not begin sessions with an invocation. The same 
survey reported that 37 state legislative houses have guidelines for delivering invocations, 
while 46 have no guidelines at all, including both houses in Idaho. In 2014, the U.S. 
Supreme Court issued its opinion in Town of Greece v. Galloway, upholding the 
Constitutionality of invocations and prayers before public meetings in the face of a 
challenge that they violate the First Amendment. The Supreme Court also provided general 
guidelines for the delivery of invocations or prayers.  
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS:  There is no cost to the City to continue the invocations. 
 
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS: In Galloway, the Supreme Court held that “[i]n light of 
the unambiguous and unbroken history of more than 200 years, there can be no doubt that 
the practice of opening legislative sessions with a prayer has become part of the fabric of 
our society.” The Court also held that it would not dictate the content of those prayers: 
“Once it invites prayer into the public sphere, government must permit a prayer giver to 
address his or her own God or gods as conscience dictates, unfettered by what an 
administrator or judge considers to be nonsectarian.” Governments must maintain a policy 
of nondiscrimination with regard to prayers or invocations, but they need not search beyond 
their borders for someone to deliver them. Further, unless the prayers demonstrate a pattern 
over time of denigration of other religions, proselytization, or the impermissible 
government purpose of establishing a religion, challenges based on the content of prayers 
“will not likely establish a constitutional violation.” 
 
The City’s current process for inviting person to give a prayer or invocation before City 
Council meetings is nondiscriminatory, and the guidelines developed by staff which 
prohibit the denigration of other religions and proselytization is consistent with Supreme 
Court precedent. 
 
DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION: Council should determine whether to 
continue to current practice of invocations before Council meetings and affirm the policy 
in effect. 
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